# **INFORMATION TO USERS**

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

Bell & Howell Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA



-.

# Apoptosis in Human CNS Neurons: Effect on Immediate Early Gene Expression and Key Neuron-Specific Proteins

by

William Chu

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery McGill University, Montreal May 1997

@ William Chu, 1997



#### National Library of Canada

#### Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre référence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-44085-0

-



# Abstract

The processes underlying the neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease (AD) are unknown. Apoptosis has been proposed as the mechanism of neuronal cell death, while altered levels of amyloid precursor protein (APP) and the amyloid B peptide, a proteolytic cleavage product of APP, are believed to contribute to the neurodegeneration in AD. Thus, defining the molecular mechanisms regulating these events are of interest. The expression of the immediate early genes (IEG), in particular c-jun, has been shown to be a requirement for neuronal apoptosis. Due to the presence of activator protein-1 (AP-1) consensus sequences in the promoter of the APP gene, which has been shown to be responsive to regulation by immediate early genes, we set to out determine whether expression of the immediate early genes resulted in a correlated increase in the expression of APP during neuronal apoptosis. Apoptosis was induced in highly purified human primary neuron cultures by serum deprivation and characterized by propidium iodide and TUNEL (terminal transferase mediated dUTP nick end labeling) staining to detect condensed chromatin and fragmented nuclei, distinct morphological features of apoptotic cells. Immediate early gene, c-fos and c-jun, expression was assessed at the transcriptional level by RT-PCR and immunoblotting at the protein level. We observed a transient induction of *c-fos* and *c-jun* mRNA, and *c-Jun* protein in neurons dving by apoptosis. There was slight increase in APP levels, however, no statistically significant changes were detected. Our results suggest the immediate early genes possibly mediate the underlying molecular mechanisms of apoptosis in human neurons in vitro and in vivo. Furthermore, we speculate the increase in AB peptide production previously observed in serum deprived primary human neuron cultures may not entirely result from an overexpression of APP, but from the altered metabolism of APP in primary human neuron cultures dying by apoptosis.

Alterations and proteolysis of the cytoskeletal protein tau occur during the pathogenesis of AD and result in the formation of neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) found in the AD brain. Additionally, the expression levels of the neuron-specific proteins GAP-43 and synaptophysin are increased and decreased, respectively, and associated with neuritic alterations and loss of synapses in AD. Since apoptosis can lead to cytoskeletal

alterations and protein proteolysis, the proteolytic degradation and expression levels of tau, GAP-43 and synaptophysin were analyzed by immunoblots. We detected the appearance of degradation products and an increase in the expression of tau protein during serum deprivation-induced apoptosis. Furthermore, we observed an increase in the expression of GAP-43 and a decrease in the expression of synaptophysin. Taken together, our results further support the contribution of apoptosis to the neurodegeneration associated with AD, since human neurons in culture induced to undergo apoptosis developed features similar to those found in the AD brain. Overall, our studies substantiate the use of human primary neuron cultures as an *in vitro* model of human central nervous system (CNS) neuronal cell death.

# Résumé

Les processus sous-jacents à la neurodégénération associée à la maladie d'Alzheimer (AD) sont inconnus. L'apoptose a été proposée comme mécanisme de mort des cellules neuronales, tandis qu'on croit que des niveaux anormaux des précurseurs des protéines amyloïdes (PPA) et des peptides ß-amyloïdes, qui sont des produits du clivage protéolytique des PPA contribuent à la neurodégénération associée à l'AD. Ainsi, il est intéressant de définir les mécanismes moléculaires contrôlants ces événements. Il a été démontré que l'expression des gènes précoces immédiats (GPI), en particulier c-jun, sont nécessaire pour l'apoptose neuronale. En raison de la présence de la séquence consensus de la protéine d'activation-1 (AP-1) dans le promoteur du gène PPA, qui est connu pour répondre à la régulation par les gènes précoces immédiats, nous voulions déterminer si l'expression des gènes précoces immédiats entraînait une augmentation correspondante de l'expression de PPA durant l'apoptose neuronale. L'apoptose a été induite sur des cultures de neurones humaines primaires hautement purifiées par privation en sérum et caractérisation par iodure de propidium et coloration TUNEL (terminal transferase mediated dUTP nick end labeling) pour détecter la chromatine condensée et les noyaux fragmentés, qui sont des caractéristiques morphologiques précises des cellules en apoptose. L'expression des gènes précoces immédiats c-fos et c-jun a été déterminée au niveau transcriptionnel par RT-PCR et au niveau des protéines par immuno-hybridation. Nous avons observé une induction transitoire de l'ARNm de c-jun et c-fos et de la protéine c-Jun dans les neurones mourant par apoptose. Il y avait une légère augmentation des niveaux de PPA, cependant, aucun changement statistiquement significatif n'a été détecté. Nos résultats suggèrent que les gènes précoces immédiats sont possiblement impliqués dans les mécanismes moléculaires sous-jacents dans l'apoptose des neurones humaines in vitro et in vivo. De plus, nous pensons que l'augmentation de la production de peptides B-amyloïdes précédemment observée dans les cultures de neurones humaines primaires privées de sérum ne soit pas entièrement reliée à la surexpression de PPA, mais

à un métabolisme anormal de PPA dans les cultures de neurones humaines primaires mourant d'apoptose.

Il y a des modifications et protéolyse de la protéine cytosquelettique tau durant la pathogénèse de l'AD ce qui entraîne la formation d'enchevêtrements neurofibrillaires retrouvés dans les cerveaux de l'AD. En outre, les niveaux d'expression des protéines spécifiques aux neurones GAP-43 et synaptophysine augmentent et diminuent respectivement, et sont associés à des modifications neuronales et à des pertes de synapses dans l'AD. Comme l'apoptose peut provoquer des modifications du cytosquelette et la protéolyse des protéines, nous avons analysé par immuno-hybridation la dégradation protéolytique et les niveaux d'expression de tau, GAP-43 et synaptophysine. Nous avons décelé l'apparition de produits de dégradation et une augmentation de l'expression de la protéine tau durant l'apoptose induite par une privation en sérum. De plus, nous avons observé une augmentation de l'expression de GAP-43 et une diminution de l'expression de synaptophysine. Comme les neurones humaines en culture qui ont été entraînées vers l'apoptose ont développé des caractéristiques similaires à celles retrouvées dans les cerveaux d'AD, nos résultats, considérés conjointement, appuient donc la contribution de l'apoptose à la neurodégénération associée à l'AD. Finalement, nos études justifient l'usage de cultures de neurones humaines primaires en tant que modèle in vitro de la mort de cellules neuronales du système nerveux central (SNC).

# **Acknowledgments**

I would very much like to thank Dr. Andrea LeBlanc for giving me the opportunity to pursue my graduate studies in her laboratory. I would also like to thank Dr. LeBlanc for the financial support and guidance for me to complete my studies. Special thanks to Dr. Cynthia Goodyer who helped us obtain the brain tissue for our studies. Many thanks to Caroline Belair and Maria Papadopoulos for their friendship and the good times over the past few years. I will definitely miss you both. I would also like to thank Maria for her assistance with the sequence analysis for the present study. I would also like to express my gratitude towards Maria Koutramanis, Helene Douillard and Eric Paradis for their technical assistance.

To my colleagues and friends at the Bloomfield Centre for Research in Aging, and at the Lady Davis Institute, thank you for answering my many questions, providing me with valuable advice and your friendship. Special thanks to Nicolas Morin for translating my abstract.

I would like to express my sincere thanks to my dear friends in Toronto who have given me much support during my studies in Montreal. To Nathalie Richard I am indebted. Thank you for your love, encouragement and patience these past few years.

To my parents and brother, thank you for all your patience, support and love through all of my studies.

# Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Resume	iv
Acknowledgments	vi
Table of Contents	vii
List of Figures	xi
Abbreviations	xii
I Introduction	1
1. Apoptosis	1
1.1 Phases of Apoptosis	2
1.2 Regulators of Apoptosis	4
1.3 Effectors of Apoptosis	5
1.3.1 ICE Family of Proteases	5
1.3.1.1 Substrates of Caspases	6
1.3.2 Nucleases	7
2. Cell Death in the Nervous System	9
3. Alzheimer's Disease	10
3.1 The Amyloid Precursor Protein	12
3.2 The Role of A <sub>β</sub> in AD Pathogenesis	14
4. Aβ in Neuronal Apoptosis	15
4.1 Mechanisms of Aβ Toxicity	16
5. The Immediate Early Genes - Fos and Jun	17
5.1 Fos and Jun in the Nervous System	18
5.2 Fos and Jun - Inducible Mediators of Neuronal Cell Death	19
5.3 The Immediate Early Genes and Apoptosis in AD	20

6. Induction of the Immediate Early Genes and APP Overexpression	21
7. The Neuronal Cytoskeleton	23
7.1 The Tau Protein	24
7.1.1 The Neurofibrillary Tangles	26
7.1.2 The Paired Helical Filaments	26
7.1.3 Formation of the Paired Helical Filaments	27
8. Synaptic Pathology in AD	28
8.1 Aberrant Neuritic Sprouting in AD	29
Aims of the Present Thesis	31
II Materials and Methods	33
1. Primary Human Fetal Neuron Cultures	33
1.1 Characterization of the Cultures	33
2. Apoptosis of Neuron Cultures	34
2.1 Analysis of Apoptosis	34
2.1.1 Propidium Iodide Staining and Tau Immunostaining	34
2.1.2 DNA Ladder	34
2.1.3 TUNEL (terminal transferase-mediated dUTP nick end labeling) Staining	35
2.1.4 Quantitating Levels of Apoptosis	35
2.1.5 Cell Death Commitment Experiments	36
3. Assessing c-fos and c-jun Expression	36
3.1 RT-PCR	
3.1.1 RNA Extraction	36
3.1.2 cDNA Synthesis by Reverse Transcription	37
3.1.3 PCR Analysis	37
3.1.3.1 Primer Design and Specificity	37
3.1.3.2 Reaction Conditions	38
3.2 Southern Analysis	38
3.3 Quantitation of mRNA Expression	38

	4. Assessing c-Fos and c-Jun Expression	39
	4.1 Whole Cell Extract Preparation	39
	4.2 Nuclear Extract Preparation	39
	4.3 Western Blot Analysis	40
	4.4 Quantitation of Protein Expression	41
	4.5 Colocalization Studies	41
	5. Assessing APP Expression	42
	6. Assessing Tau, Tubulin, GAP-43 and Synaptophysin Expression	42
ш	Results	44
	1. Primary Human Neuron Cultures	44
	2. Morphological Analysis of Apoptosis in Human Neurons	47
	3. Cell Death Commitment Assays	49
	4. Immediate Early Gene Expression During Neuronal Cell Death	58
	5. Induction of c-Jun Protein During Neuronal Cell Death	66
	6. Expression of Amyloid Precursor Protein During Neuronal Cell Death	70
	7. Cytoskeletal Protein Degradation During Neuronal Cell Death	73
	8. Expression of Neuron-Specific Proteins During Neuronal Cell Death	76
ſV	Discussion	79
	1. Primary Human Neurons as Model of Neuronal Apoptosis	79
	1.1 Apoptosis in Primary Human CNS Neurons	79
	1.2 Immediate Early Gene Expression During Apoptosis	82
	1.3 The Effect of AP-1 on APP Expression During Apoptosis	86

2. Primary Human Neurons as an In Vitro Model of AD	88
2.1 Expression of c-Fos and c-Jun In Vivo	88
2.2 The Effect of Apoptosis on Tau	88
2.3 The Effect of Apoptosis on GAP-43 and Synaptophysin	92
V Conclusions	95
References	96

# List of Figures

Figure 1 Model of Apoptosis Regulation	8
Figure 2 APP Metabolism	13
Figure 3 Hypothetical Model of APP Expression and Metabolism During Neuronal Apoptosis	22
Figure 4 Isoforms of Tau	25
Figure 5 Experimental Outline	32
Figure 6 Characterization of Human Neuron Cultures	45
Figure 7 Characterization of Human Neurons in Serum Deprived Cultures	50
Figure 8 Quantitative Analysis of the Time of Commitment to Apoptosis in Serum Deprived Human Neuron Cultures	56
Figure 9 RT-PCR Analysis of Immediate Early Gene Expression in Serum Deprived Human Neuron Cultures	61
Figure 10 Western Blot Analysis Showing the Induction of c-Jun Protein in Serum Deprived Human Neuron Cultures	67
Figure 11 Western Blot Analysis of APP Expression in Serum Deprived Human Neuron Cultures	71
Figure 12 Western Blot Analysis of Cytoskeletal Proteins in Serum Deprived Human Neuron Cultures	74
Figure 13 Western Blot Analysis of Neuron-Specific Proteins in Serum Deprived Human Neuron Cultures	77
Figure 14 Proposed Model of Neurofibrillary Tangle Development	91
Figure 15 Similar Pathologies Between Apoptotic Neurons and the AD Brain	94

# Abbreviations

A68	Paired helical filament tau
Αβ	Amyloid β protein
AD	Alzheimer's disease
Ala	Alanine
ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
AP-1	Activator protein complex-1
APO E	Apoplipoprotein E
AP buffer	Alkaline phosphatase buffer
APP	Amyloid precursor protein
Arg	Arginine
Asn	Asparagine
Asp	Aspartic acid
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
BCIP	5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl phosphate
BCS	Bovine calf serum
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
BH1	Bcl-2 homology 1 domain
BH2	Bcl-2 homology 2 domain
BH3	Bcl-2 homology 3 domain
ър	Base pairs
CAT	Chloramphenicol acetyl transferase
cDNA	Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CNTF	Ciliary neurotrophic factor
CNS	Central nervous system
dBCS	Decomplemented bovine calf serum
dATP	Deoxyadenosine triphosphate
dCTP	Deoxycytidine triphosphate
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid

DNase I	Deoxyribonuclease I
dNTP	Deoxyribonucleoside triphosphate
EtBr	Ethidium bromide
FAD	Familial Alzheimer's disease
FdU	Fluorodeoxyuridine
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocynate
G3PDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GAGs	Glycosaminoglycans
GDNF	Glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor
GFAP	Glial fibrillary acid protein
Glu	Glutamic acid
Gly	Glycine
h	Hours
HD	Huntington's disease
ICE	Interleukin-1 <sub>β</sub> -converting enzyme
IEG	Immediate early gene
Ile	Isoleucine
IRP	ICE-related protease
kDa	Kilodalton
KPI	Kunitz serine protease inhibitor
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
Lys	Lysine
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
MAP2	Microtubule-associated protein 2
MAPs	Microtubule-associated proteins
Met	Methionine
NBT	Nitro blue tetrazolium chloride
NF-H	High molecular weight neurofilament protein
NF-L	Low molecular weight neurofilament protein
NF-M	Medium molecular weight neurofilament protein

-

NGF	Nerve growth factor
nm	Nanometers
NP-40	Nonidet P-40
PARP	Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PC12	Pheochromocytoma cells
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PHFs	Paired helical filaments
PHF-t	Paired helical filament tau
Ы	Propidium iodide
PMA	Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate
PNS	Peripheral nervous system
prICE	Protein resembling ICE
PS-I	Presenilin I
PS-II	Presenilin II
RNase A	Ribonuclease A
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
SCG	Superior cervical ganglion
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SPs	Senile plaques
TBS-T	Tris-buffered saline with Tween-20
TUNEL	Terminal transferase-mediated dUTP nick end labeling
Тут	Tyrosine
RT	Reverse transcriptase
RT-PCR	Reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction
μg	Micrograms
μl	Microlitres
Val	Valine

# I Introduction

In recent years apoptosis has received much attention in the areas of cellular and molecular biology because of its growing relevance in human disease. Defining the genes and the molecular events controlling the death of neurons, post-mitotic and long lived cells, has become of particular importance in the area of neurodegenerative diseases. The etiology of Alzheimer's disease (AD) is unclear, however, apoptosis is suspected to be the mode of neuronal cell death and degeneration in the development of AD. Studies have characterized some of the molecular events of neuronal apoptosis through the use of neuronal cell lines and primary rodent neuron cultures, however, they may not be entirely reflective of processes occurring in human cells. The present study utilizes a unique *in vitro* system of human primary neuron cultures to investigate the underlying molecular events of apoptosis in human neurons and to evaluate the effect of apoptosis on proteins known to be altered in the pathogenesis of AD.

#### 1. Apoptosis

Apoptosis was first proposed by Kerr, Wyllie and Currie in 1972 to describe the phenomenon of naturally occurring cell death within a multicellular organism and is the normal physiologic process of cell deletion during the development and maintenance of an organism. In contrast, necrosis, another form of cell death, is caused by an acute metabolic or mechanical insult to the cell that is typically characterized by cell swelling, the loss of mitochondrial and plasma membrane integrity, and the release of cellular and lysosomal content that results in pathophysiological inflammatory responses (reviewed by Tomei and Cope, 1991). Apoptosis, on the other hand, is a regulated form of cell death in which the cell activates an intrinsic cell suicide program (reviewed by Tomei and Cope, 1991, 1994; reviewed by Bredesen, 1995) and is characterized by distinct changes in cellular morphology - the cells shrink, the plasma membrane blebs, the chromatin condenses, the nucleus collapses, and fragments of the cell break away to form

apoptotic bodies, while the integrity of the plasma and organelle membranes is preserved (reviewed by Tomei and Cope, 1991, 1994; reviewed by Bredesen, 1995). Neighbouring cells remove the apoptotic cells by phagocytosis in the absence of an inflammatory response (reviewed Bredesen, 1995). Biochemically, apoptosis is characterized by the internucleosomal cleavage of DNA by nucleases into large (100 to 300 kilobases) and subsequently into smaller DNA fragments that are visualized as a DNA ladder following gel electrophoresis (reviewed by Tomei and Cope, 1991, 1994; reviewed by Bredesen, 1995; reviewed by Steller, 1995). However, apoptosis has been found to occur in the absence of DNA fragmentation in some cells (reviewed by Bredesen, 1995). Numerous models have demonstrated that macromolecule synthesis is a requirement for apoptosis to occur (reviewed by Tomei and Cope, 1994), however, other models have illustrated that apoptosis can occur in the absence of a nucleus and macromolecule synthesis (reviewed by Bredesen, 1995). The consensus is that all cells contain the basic cell death machinery necessary to carry out apoptosis, which is constituitively repressed for cell survival (reviewed by Raff, 1992; reviewed by Steller, 1995). This implies that in certain cell types the synthesis of macromolecules represents a need for certain components to activate or derepress the existing cell death machinery. Thus, the means by which the apoptotic process is regulated varies from cell type to cell type and tissue to tissue.

#### **1.1 Phases of Apoptosis**

Essentially all mammalian cells proceed through a series of regulated and temporally conserved phases during apoptosis. These phases are: 1) Receipt of the apoptotic signal and initiation the apoptotic cascade; 2) Commitment to cell death; 3) Execution of the cell death program, and 4) Elimination (reviewed by LeBlanc, 1997).

Diverse signals originating from the extracellular and intracellular milieu have been shown to induce apoptosis in cells. Inducers of apoptosis include growth factor deprivation, glucocorticoids, loss of extracellular matrix and cell to cell interaction, viral infection, ionizing radiation, free radicals, neurotransmitters, hormones and chemotherapeutic drugs (reviewed by Thompson, 1995; reviewed by Stellar, 1995; reviewed by LeBlanc, 1996). The effect of the apoptotic signal is cell-type dependent and also determined by the functional state of the cell. Mitochondrial function is also believed to regulate apoptosis. The integrity of the mitochondrion determines whether a specific signal will trigger a cell to undergo apoptosis or necrosis (Ankarcrona et al., 1995). Additionally, the magnitude of the apoptotic signal plays role in determining whether a cell undergoes apoptosis or necrosis (Bonfoco et al., 1995; reviewed by Dragunow and Preston, 1995).

The initiation phase transduces the death signal and sets into motion the events leading to cell death. In certain cell types, RNA and protein synthesis may be required to synthesize molecules that derepress or activate the existing cell death machinery, while in other types, macromolecule synthesis is not required (Jacobson et al., 1994). A number of signal transduction molecules are activated during apoptosis, most notably are the proto-oncogenes *c-myc*, *c-fos* and *c-jun*. The Fos/Jun family of proteins are inducible transcription factors that function cooperatively during signal transduction processes. Induction and sustained expression of *fos* and *jun* (reviewed by Dragunow and Preston, 1995) during the initiation phase may activate the expression of specific target genes whose products play a primary role in the apoptotic process (reviewed by Soares et al., 1994; reviewed by LeBlanc, 1997).

The commitment phase represents the time in which a cell has become irreversibly committed to cell death, even after removal of the death signal or the introduction of rescuing agents such protein and RNA synthesis inhibitors. The time of commitment is cell type specific, varies with cell age and with the apoptotic stimulus within the same cell type (Deckworth and Johnson, 1993; Edwards and Tolkovsky, 1994; reviewed by White, 1996; reviewed by LeBlanc, 1997). Execution is accomplished by

3

the effectors of the cell death machinery, after which the dead cells are eliminated by phagocytosis.

Each of these phases is tightly regulated and an understanding of the regulatory processes is evolving. Several of the vital regulatory and effector components of the apoptotic cascade have been identified and appear to have been conserved among species and cell types.

#### 1.2 Regulators of Apoptosis

Numerous proteins modulate the process of apoptosis, such as c-myc, transcription factors and cell cycle control proteins, and p53 (reviewed by White, 1996), but none play a more central role than the Bcl-2 family of cell death regulators. The Bcl-2 family consists of death-suppressing homologues, Bcl-2 and Bcl-x<sub>1</sub> (Boise et al., 1993), and death-accelerating homologues, Bax (Oltvai et al., 1993), Bcl-x, (Boise et al., 1993), Bad (Yang et al., 1995), and Bak (Farrow et al., 1995; Chittenden et al., 1995a; Kiefer, 1995). Bcl-2 represses apoptosis through its ability to heterodimerize Bax, thereby preventing the formation of Bax homodimers and cell death (Oltvai et al., 1993). This dimerization is mediated by single amino acids within the Bcl-2 homology 1 (BH1) and Bcl-2 homology 2 (BH2) domains (Yin et al., 1994). Bcl-x<sub>L</sub>, presumably like Bcl-2, represses apoptosis through its ability to heterodimerize with Bax via the BH1 and BH2 domains (Sedlak et al., 1995; Yang et al., 1995). The activity of Bcl-x<sub>L</sub> to repress apoptosis is antagonized by Bcl-x<sub>s</sub> (Boise et al., 1993). Bad interacts with Bcl-2 and more strongly with Bcl-x<sub>L</sub>, and promotes apoptosis by displacing Bax from Bcl-2 and Bcl-x<sub>L</sub> in vivo (Yang et al., 1995). Bak is also capable of inhibiting the ability of Bcl-2 and Bcl-x<sub>L</sub> to block apoptosis (Farrow et al., 1995; Chittenden et al., 1995a; Kiefer et al., 1995). Recently, Han et al. (1996) have shown that a 28 amino acid region of Bax encompassing BH3 is sufficient to interact with Bcl-2 proteins in yeast. Additionally, BH3 of Bak is required for interaction with Bcl-x<sub>1</sub> in yeast and in vitro, and is sufficient

to induce apoptosis in mammalian cells (Chittenden et al., 1995b). These results suggest that Bak and Bax may encode a death effector domain in the BH3 region, or the BH3 domain may serve as a binding site to interact with Bcl-2 and Bcl- $x_L$  and neutralize their anti-apoptotic activity (reviewed by White, 1996). Although the specific biochemical functions of the Bcl-2 family of proteins have not been determined, it is apparent that the complexity of the cell death pathway will increase as new homologues are identified. The set point of susceptibility to apoptosis is determined by the relative ratios and a complex set of protein-protein interactions among the Bcl-2 family of apoptosis regulators.

# 1.3 Effectors of Apoptosis

Regardless of the activation signal, the various apoptotic pathways converge to common executioners of the cell death cascade, which act to kill the cell by dismantling the cytoskeletal and nuclear structures. Presently, the interleukin-1 $\beta$ -converting enzyme (ICE) family of proteases and nucleases, acting in concert, are believed to be the effectors of apoptosis (reviewed by Takahashi and Earnshaw, 1996).

#### 1.3.1 ICE Family of Proteases

The execution of apoptosis involves numerous enzymatic pathways, all of which appear to be triggered by the activation of one or more ICE-related proteases (IRPs). The evidence that proteases may be centrally involved in the cell death process came initially from the studies by Yuan et al. (1993) in which the *Caenorhabditis elegans* cell death gene, *ced-3*, was cloned and found to exhibit 29% homology with ICE. Subsequently, apoptosis was induced in fibroblasts ectopically expressing ICE, suggesting that ICE is structurally and functionally homologous to *ced-3* (Miura et al., 1993). Presently, nine IRPs have been identified and overexpression of each of these proteases in various cell types results in apoptosis. These are: ICE, Ced-3, Nedd-2/Ich-1 (Kumar et al., 1994; Wang et al., 1994), TX/ICErei II/Ich-2 (Kumar et al., 1994; Munday et al., 1995; Kamens et al., 1995), ICEreiIII (Munday et al., 1995), CPP32/YAMA (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 1994; Tewari et al., 1995), Mch 2 (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 1995a), Mch 3/ICE-LAP 3 (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 1995b; Duan et al., 1996), Mch 4 (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 1996), and FLICE (Muzio et al., 1996). Collectively, IRPs are now classified as the caspases (Alnemri et al., 1996).

#### 1.3.1.1 Substrates of Caspases

The caspases play a central role in the apoptotic cascade, however, the identities of the critical substrates, whose cleavage result in the dramatic morphological changes during apoptosis, remain to be elucidated. Several substrates, whose proteolytic cleavage is suspected to contribute towards the apoptotic cascade, have been identified. Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) was the first substrate identified (Lazebnik et al., 1994) and its cleavage inhibits most of its DNA repair activity (Kaufmann et al., 1993), which may contribute to the chromosomal degradation during apoptosis.

Some of the most characteristic changes during apoptosis affect the nucleus. Cleavage of the nuclear lamins A, B1/B2, and C; intermediate filament proteins which form the meshwork that provide the structural support of the inner nuclear membrane, by a caspase results in the disassembly of the nuclear lamina and the collapse of the chromatin into discrete blobs (Lazebnik et al., 1995).

The morphological changes in the plasma membrane during apoptosis are due to cytoskeletal rearrangements in the cell. Actin, a ubiquitous cytoskeletal protein of eukaryotic cells, is believed to be a substrate of caspases (reviewed by Bredesen, 1995). Actin is also indirectly modified by the cleavage of Gas2; a regulator of actin structure in the cell (Brancolini et al., 1995). The cleavage of Gas2 by a caspase has provided the first link to the mechanism of cytoskeletal alterations in the cell during the activation of the apoptotic cascade.

Apoptosis is recognized as a mode of cell death in numerous diseases (reviewed by Thompson, 1995). Recently, Goldberg et al. (1996) have identified the product of the Huntington's disease gene, huntingtin, as a substrate of apopain, a caspase. This finding provides insight into the mechanism of apoptosis associated with Huntington's disease. Identification of other key caspase substrates associated with a disease, in which apoptosis is suspected to be the mode of cell death, would provide a better understanding into the pathogenesis of the disease and indicate potential therapeutic targets. Presently, other constituents of the cytoskeleton or other disease-specific proteins have not been identified as substrates of caspases in apoptosis associated disorders.

#### 1.3.2 Nucleases

It is postulated that the activity of caspases may also contribute to the demise of the cell by activating other death effectors, processing these proteins from the inactive to active state by proteolytic cleavage (reviewed by Martin and Green, 1995). Caspases may also activate the nucleases that cause the DNA fragmentation during apoptosis. Mannherz et al. (1995) propose that the cleavage of actin during the apoptotic cascade releases DNase I from its inhibition by actin, allowing DNase I to cleave the chromatin into oligosomal fragments. This mechanism, in conjunction with the observation that the activities of caspases and nucleases are both required to breakdown the chromatin and nuclear structure during apoptosis (Lazebnik et al., 1995), supports the notion that caspases and nucleases act in concert to execute the demise of the cell.

The apoptotic cascade is a complex pathway that involves many different and diverse cellular factors. Presently, the list of participating and regulatory factors of the apoptotic cascade is growing as the identity and functions of new and known proteins are discovered. Figure 1 summarizes the apoptotic cascade and the known regulatory proteins involved to date.

7



Figure 1. - Model of Apoptosis Regulation

#### 2. Cell Death in the Nervous System

Cell death is a prominent feature in the normal development of the nervous system. During this period there is an overabundance of neurons in comparison to the number of targets that require innervation. Neuronal cell death is a normal process which prunes the initial neuronal population to match the size of the target tissues by removing supernumerary and incorrectly connected cells (Oppenheim, 1991). Approximately half of the initial population of neurons remains once the organism reaches maturity. The death of the neurons during development results from the limited availability of neurotrophic factors (Purves, 1986; Barde, 1989). Numerous studies involving nerve growth factor (Edwards et al., 1994; Deckworth et al., 1993; Silos-Santiago et al., 1995), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (Silos-Santiago et al., 1995), ciliary neurotrophic factor (Silos-Santiago et al., 1995; Johnson, 1994; Lindsay, 1995) and glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor (Henderson et al., 1994; Beck et al., 1995; Oppenheim et al., 1995; Yan et al., 1995) confirm that neuronal survival is dependent on an adequate supply of neurotrophic factors and a lack of these essential factors results in apoptotic cell death. Thus, apoptosis is the physiological mechanism of cell death in the developing nervous system.

In the mature organism programmed cell death occurs naturally to maintain the balance between cell production and loss in the proliferating tissues (Wyllie, 1980; reviewed by Thompson, 1995). The death of long-lived, terminally differentiated, post-mitotic cells, such as neurons, may result from the dysregulation of apoptosis as a homeostatic process and is believed to be associated with the pathological conditions in neurodegenerative disorders like amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), cerebral ischemia, spinal muscular atrophy, prion diseases, Huntington's disease (HD), Parkinson's disease and Alzheimer's disease (reviewed by Bredesen, 1995). Recent studies provide evidence of apoptotic cell death in models of ischemia (MacManus et al., 1993, 1994; Linnik et al., 1993), *in vitro* models of ALS (Rabizadeh et al., 1995; Greenlund et al., 1995),

Parkinson's disease (Hartley et al., 1994) and HD (Portera-Cailliau et al., 1995), and post-mortem analyses of prion (Fairbairn, et al., 1994), HD (Portera-Cailliau et al., 1995) and AD (Su et al., 1994; Smale et al., 1995; Lassman et al., 1995; Anderson et al., 1996) affected brains. The aberrant neuronal cell death seen in these diseases may be attributed to: 1) the loss of neurotrophic support that activates an innate death program in the neurons (reviewed by Raff, 1992; reviewed by Raff et al., 1993; reviewed by Barr and Tomei, 1994); 2) a signal that triggers the neurons to undergo "abortive mitosis"; the avoidance of reentry into the cell cycle (Heintz, 1993; Rubin et al., 1993; reviewed by Tomei and Barr, 1994) or 3) excitatory toxicity (Choi and Rothman, 1990; reviewed by Lipton, 1994) and oxidative stress (reviewed by Bredesen, 1995). Delineating the mechanism(s) by which apoptosis occurs in the mature nervous system would provide a clearer understanding into the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases.

### 3. Alzheimer's Disease

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a common and devastating neurodegenerative disease that primarily affects the aging and elderly population. Clinically, AD is characterized by the progressive loss of memory and cognitive functions resulting in dementia, and presently accounts for about 70% of the observed dementias in the aged. AD is only confirmed by the post-mortem, histological identification of: 1) a profound loss of neurons, especially the cholinergic neurons in the nucleus basalis of Meynert, hippocampus and neocortex (Davies and Maloney, 1976; Whitehouse et al., 1982; reviewed by Kandel and Schwartz, 1991) 2) extracellular senile plaques (SPs), composed of a water insoluble core of amyloid  $\beta$  protein (A $\beta$ ) surrounded by a diffuse ring of dystrophic neurites, activated astrocytes and microglia (Glenner and Wong, 1984), which are found in the amygdala, hippocampus, cerebral cortex and other areas important for cognitive functions (Katzman, 1986); 3) neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) composed of paired helical filaments (PHFs) (Katzman, 1986) along the perforant pathway and the CA1 region of the hippocampus; 4) synpase loss and synaptic pathology (reviewed by Terry, 1994) and 5) amyloid deposits in the cerebral vasculature (Glenner, 1988), in the AD brain.

Alzheimer's disease is typically classified by two criteria: 1) the age of onset, with early onset cases occurring before the age of 65 and late onset occurring after the age of 65 and 2) the genetic inheritance of disease termed familial AD (FAD) and sporadic cases of the disease. Only about 10% of all AD cases are classified as early or late onset FAD, while 90% of AD cases are sporadic. AD is a genetically heterogeneous disease. At present four genes have been linked to early and late onset FAD, chromosomes 1, 14, 19 and 21. Linkage of early onset FAD to chromosome 21 was established in FAD pedigrees (<3%) that possessed mutations in the amyloid precursor protein (APP) gene (St. George-Hyslop et al., 1990), which had been previously been localized to chromosome 21 (Kang et al., 1987). The  $\varepsilon$ 4 allele of the apopliprotein E (ApoE) gene on chromosome 19 was linked to late onset FAD and has been deemed as a risk factor in developing AD (Corder et al., 1993; Strittmatter et al., 1993).

Recently two new genes linked with an aggressive form of early onset FAD were identified, SI82 or presenilin-I (PS-I) mapped on chromosome 14 (Sherrington et al., 1995) and STM2 or presenilin-II (PS-II) located on chromosome 1 (Levy-Lehad et al., 1995; Rogaev et al., 1995). PS-I and PS-II encode homologous integral membrane proteins with seven transmembrane domains and a large exposed loop between the sixth and seventh transmembrane domains. To date thirty different missense mutations in PS-I cosegregate with early onset FAD (Cruts et al., 1996). These mutations result in amino acid substitutions that are hypothesized to disrupt the insertion of the protein into the membrane and its function. Only two missense mutations in PS-II have been identified in affected Volga German AD kindreds. These mutations result in amino acid substitutions Asn141Ile and Met239Val (Levy-Lehad et al., 1995b; Rogaev et al., 1995). The mutation at codon 141 occurs in an amino acid that is conserved in the human and mouse S182

homolog. Since these missense mutations occur in two highly similar genes in AD subjects, it has been proposed that mutations in both genes may be pathogenic.

#### 3.1 The Amyloid Precursor Protein

The A $\beta$  deposited in the senile plaques and in the cerebral vasculature ranges in length from 39-43 amino acids and is a proteolytic cleavage product of the amyloid precursor protein (APP) that is encoded on chromosome 21 (Kang et al., 1987). Alternative splicing produces five APP transcripts and results in three major isoforms of APP (reviewed by LeBlanc, 1994). The most abundant isoform of 695 amino acids (APP<sub>695</sub>) is expressed highly in neurons (Koo et al., 1990) and lacks a Kunitz-protease inhibitor (KPI) domain present in the 751 and 770 amino acid isoforms (Kitaguchi et al., 1988; Ponte et al., 1988; Tanzi et al., 1988). There are three pathways in the proteolytic processing of APP: 1) the non-amyloidogenic or secretory pathway produces a soluble form of APP (sAPP) and a 10kDa C-terminal peptide that can be further processed to yield a 3 kDa non-amyloidogenic Aß fragment (Haas et al., 1993); 2) the endosomallysosomal pathway generates a series of C-terminal fragments of various sizes, the largest containing the entire A $\beta$  domain which further processing may yield the 4kDa form of A $\beta$  (Golde et al. 1992; Estus et al., 1992) and 3) the amyloidogenic pathway produces the 4kDa A $\beta$  (Haas et al., 1992; Shoji et al., 1992; Seubert et al., 1992). The metabolism of APP is outlined in Figure 2.

Normally the secreted 4 kDa A $\beta$  is composed primarily (~90%) of A $\beta_{1-40}$  and a small proportion of A $\beta_{1-42/43}$  (Cai et al., 1993b). The predominant form of A $\beta$  found in senile plaques is A $\beta_{1-42/43}$  (Roher et al., 1993). Biochemical and immunocytochemical studies show that A $\beta_{1-42/43}$  is deposited early and selectively in the AD brain (Iwatsubo et al., 1994; Gravina et al., 1995). Studies indicating that A $\beta_{1-42/43}$  nucleates more rapidly and is more fibrillogenic (Burdick et al., 1992; Jarrett et al., 1993; Jarrett and Landsbury, 1993), and neurotoxic (Lorenzo and Yankner, 1994; Busciglio et al., 1995; Howlett et al.,



Figure 2. - APP Metabolism

1995) in comparison to  $A\beta_{1-40}$  has lead to the view that  $A\beta_{1-42/43}$  may play a significant role in the pathogenesis of AD.

#### 3.2 The Role of $A\beta$ in AD Pathogenesis

The invariant formation of the senile plaques and deposition of  $A\beta$  in the cerebral blood vessels in the pathology of AD suggests that A $\beta$  plays a central role in the development of AD (reviewed by Haas and Selkoe, 1993). According to the "amyloid theory" (Hardy and Higgins, 1992), the production of AB that results from an overexpression and/or altered processing of APP (reviewed by LeBlanc, 1994), may be the seminal event in the disease process of AD. Evidence to support this hypothesis stems from the following observations: 1) patients with Trisomy 21 (Down's syndrome), who carry three copies of chromosome 21, overexpress APP mRNA (Patterson et al., 1988) and invariably develop characteristic AD pathology (Wisniewski et al., 1985) with an early and selective deposition of  $A\beta_{1-42/43}$  (Iwatsubo et al., 1995; Lemere et al., 1996); 2) mutations of the APP gene are genetically linked to FAD and include: i) the "NL" mutation (Mullan et al., 1992) that results in the overproduction of the 4 kDa AB; ii) the APP<sub>717</sub> mutation (Goate et al., 1991) which alters the metabolism of APP and increases the production of the amyloidogenic A $\beta_{1-42/43}$  (Cai et al., 1993a; Citron et al., 1992; Suzuki et al., 1994) and two additional mutations at codon 717 (Murrell et al., 1991; Chartier-Harlin, 1991) and iii) the APP<sub>692/693</sub> mutation of Hereditary Cerebral Hemorrhage with Amyloidosis of the Dutch Type (HCHWAD) (Levy et al. 1990) which generates abundant A $\beta$  deposits in the cerebrovascular tissues; 3) transgenic mice overexpressing the APP717 mutations (Games et al., 1995), APP670/671 mutations (Hsiao et al., 1996) and the mouse A $\beta_{1.42}$  (LaFerla et al., 1996) progressively develop many of the pathogenic hallmarks and neurodegeneration characteristic of AD, and is accompanied with a significant increase in  $A\beta_{1-42/43}$  (Hsiao et al., 1996); 4) mutations in PS-I and PS-*Il* alter the intracellular trafficking and processing of APP in fibroblasts of FAD patients,

resulting in an increase of APP mRNA (Querfurth et al., 1995) and the ratio of  $A\beta_{1-42/43}/A\beta_{1-40}$  relative to fibroblasts from unaffected family members (Scheuner et al., 1996); **5**) stable, double-transfected mouse and human cells expressing wild-type  $APP_{695}$  and mutant *PS-I* or *PS-II* genes show a significant increase in the production of  $A\beta_{1-42/43}$  versus PS-I and PS-II wild-type double-transfected cells (Borchelt et al., 1996; Citron et al., 1997) and **6**) mutant *PS-I* transgenic mice (Duff et al., 1996) and double-transgenic mice expressing wild-type  $APP_{695}$  and mutant *PS-I* or *PS-II* genes (Borchelt et al., 1996; Citron et al., 1997) and **6**) mutant *PS-I* transgenic mice (Duff et al., 1996) and double-transgenic mice expressing wild-type  $APP_{695}$  and mutant *PS-I* or *PS-II* genes (Borchelt et al., 1996; Citron et al., 1997) show a significant increase in the production of  $A\beta_{1-42/43}$  versus PS-I and PS-II wild-type mice. Together these studies illustrate that mutations in APP and PS-*I*/PS-II affect the metabolism of APP and provide strong support that the abnormal production of  $A\beta_{1-42/43}$  may be a critical step in the pathogenesis of AD.

### 4. Aβ in Neuronal Apoptosis

There is a growing body of *in vitro* and *in vivo* evidence that suggests  $A\beta$  directly contributes to the neurodegeneration in AD through apoptosis. Yankner et al. (1990) first demonstrated that the  $A\beta$  peptide, through a region between amino acids 25-35, is neurotoxic to neurons in culture. The neurotoxicity of  $A\beta$  is dependent on its aggregation state (Pike et al., 1991, 1993). Intracerebral injections of synthetic  $A\beta$  plaque cores and  $A\beta$  aggregates into the brain of adult rats and aged primates results in neurodegeneration (Kowall et al., 1991,1992; Frautschy et al., 1991), Congo-red positive deposits of aggregated material and a loss of cholinergic neurons in the nucleus basalis (Giovannelli et al., 1995). Chronic treatment with synthetic  $A\beta_{25-35}$  peptide and synthetic  $A\beta_{1-42}$ peptide induces cell death in rat and mouse, primary cortical and hippocampal neuron cultures characteristic of apoptosis (Forloni et al., 1993; Loo et al., 1993; Watt et al. 1994). Recent in vivo studies show that the overexpression of  $A\beta$  induces neurodegeneration characterized by apoptosis in the hippocampal, amygdala, and neocortical regions of the brain in  $A\beta$  transgenic mice (LaFerla et al., 1995; LaFerla et al., 1996). Indirect evidence that A $\beta$  may effect apoptotic cell death in AD is derived from transient transfection experiments of three mutant FAD-APPs; dominantly inherited point mutations V642I/F/G in APP<sub>695</sub> that increase the secretion of A $\beta_{1-42/43}$  (Suzuki et al., 1994), into COS and neuronal cells which result in apoptosis (Yamatsuji et al., 1996a; Yamatsuji et al., 1996b). These studies suggest that the induction of apoptosis is a phenotypic trait of FAD associated with the mutant APPs.

In addition to increasing the levels of  $A\beta_{1-42/43}$ , the presenilins have been linked to apoptosis as a mechanism of neuronal cell death in AD. A partial cDNA clone of *ALG-3*, a murine homolog of *PS-II* (*STM2*), was found to rescue a T cell hybridoma from T cell receptor and Fas induced apoptosis (Vito et al., 1996). Additionally, overexpression of a FAD PS-II mutant in PC-12 cell increased apoptosis induced by trophic factor withdrawal and A $\beta$  (Wolozin et al., 1996). The ability of antisense PS-II to reduce the level of apoptosis induced by the FAD-APP<sub>PHE717</sub> suggests that PS-II and APP share the same pathway of apoptosis (Wolozin et al., 1996). These studies indicate that PS-II may not only modulate the levels, but also mediate the apoptotic potential of A $\beta$ , and confer susceptibility of neurons to apoptosis.

#### 4.1 Mechanisms of Aβ Toxicity

Several mechanisms have been proposed for A $\beta$  toxicity including the production of reactive peptide free-radicals (Butterfield et al., 1994), the potentiation of excitatory amino acid neurotoxicity (Koh et al., 1990) and oxidative stress (Lockhart et al., 1994; Behl et al., 1994; reviewed by LeBlanc, 1997), the activation of the low-affinity NGF receptor (Rabizadeh et al., 1994) and the loss of Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis that renders neurons more susceptible to excitotoxicity (Mattson et al., 1992). Recent studies have shown that A $\beta$  may affect Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis by: 1) enhancing the binding of Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilizing second messengers inositol (1,4,5) triphosphate and inositol (1,3,4,5) tetraphosphate to their receptor sites in rat cerebral cortical membranes (Cowburn et al., 1995) and 2) impairing the activity of the Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup> ATPase activity that results in the elevation of the intracellular concentration of  $Ca^{2+}$  and subsequent neuronal degeneration characteristic of apoptosis (Mark et al., 1995).

The most intriguing link of AB-mediated apoptosis in relation to neurodegeneration associated with AD comes from the following observations: 1) Bcl-2 is decreased in the AD brain; specifically in neurons bearing tangles and overall lower levels in neurons in comparison to astrocytes (Satou et al., 1995; O'Barr et al., 1996), which suggests certain population of neurons are more vulnerable to apoptotic mechanisms whereas astrocytes are resistant to degeneration in AD, and 2) AB treatment of primary human neuron cultures has been shown to modulate the levels of Bax and Bcl-2; key regulators of the apoptotic pathway, and render neurons more vulnerable to oxidative stress (LeBlanc, 1996). These neuron cultures treated with aggregated  $A\beta_{1,42/43}$ show a 50% reduction in the levels of Bcl-2 and a 3-4-fold increase in the levels of Bax, and an increase in apoptotic cells following a secondary oxidative insult (LeBlanc, 1996). The study by LeBlanc (1996) illustrates that AB directly affects the apoptotic pathway of neuronal cell death. Taken together, the studies outlined above provide strong evidence that A $\beta$  may mediate neurodegeneration and neuronal cell death by rendering certain populations of neurons in the brain more susceptible to apoptotsis during the development of AD.

## 5. The Immediate Early Genes - Fos and Jun

The proto-oncogenes *c-fos*, *fos-b*, *fra-1*, *fra-2*, *jun-b*, *jun-d* and *c-jun* are part of the immediate early gene (IEG) family that play an important role in the regulation of growth and differentiation (reviewed by Morgan and Curran, 1991; reviewed by Angel and Karin, 1991). These proto-oncogenes encode general transcription factors that are induced and regulated by environmental signals (reviewed by Morgan and Curran, 1991; reviewed by Angel and Karin, 1991). They function as transducers by coupling short

term extracellular signals at the cell surface, whether they be positive growth signals or negative stimuli, to long term changes in cellular phenotype by regulating the expression of selected target genes (reviewed by Soares et al., 1994). Structurally the Fos and Jun proteins contain a leucine zipper domain and a DNA binding domain which bind as Fos/Jun or Jun/Jun dimers to the AP-1 binding site or the TPA response element (reviewed by Angel and Karin, 1991). Together the Fos and Jun dimers form what is known as the AP-1 complex, and serve to regulate the transcription of target genes containing the AP-1 consensus sequence (reviewed by Morgan and Curran, 1991). C-Fos and c-Jun work in concert to activate transcription efficiently and can transform cells in culture (reviewed by Angel and Karin, 1991), while Jun-B inhibits the trans-activating and transforming activity of c-Jun (Schutte et al., 1989). Fra-1 and Fra-2 are suggested to be negative regulators of transcription (Wisdom and Verma, 1993).

### 5.1 Fos and Jun in the Nervous System

The IEGs have been proposed to couple transient, extracellular signals to long term changes in structure and function in the nervous system (reviewed by Morgan and Curran, 1991; Shen and Greenberg, 1990). The expression of *fos* and *jun* correlates closely with neuronal activity. IEG expression has been observed in the developing nervous system (Muller et al., 1990; Mellstrom et al., 1991) and in the hippocampus and cerebral cortex of the adult brain (Morgan et al., 1987; Sagar et al., 1988). The induction of *fos* and *jun* expression can be stimulated by growth factors and membrane depolarization (Bartel et al., 1989). Sheng et al. (1995) demonstrate that individual dorsal root ganglion neurons express several IEGs following KCl depolarization. The expression of *c-fos* is generally linked to neuronal excitation and activity (Zhang et al., 1992). Typically *c-fos* expression is relatively low at basal cellular levels in neurons, but the level of expression can be rapidly and transiently induced by numerous stimuli such as pharmacological agents (Miller, 1990) and noxious stimulation (Hunt et al., 1987). In

models of brain tissue injury (Ruppert et al., 1987; Dragunow et al., 1988), chemically and electrically induced seizure activity (reviewed by Morgan and Curran, 1991b), and excitatory amino acid induced cytotoxicity (Gorman et al., 1995) there is an induction of *c-fos* expression. Other studies show that axonal damage is associated with the expression of the IEGs (Jenkins and Hunt, 1991; Jenkins et al., 1993; Dragunow et al., 1993; reviewed by Dragunow and Preston, 1995). Thus, IEG expression is responsive to neuronal stimuli (positive or negative) and reflective of neuronal activity.

### 5.2 Fos and Jun - Inducible Mediators of Neuronal Cell Death

In recent years neurobiologists have exploited the inducible and transient expression pattern of the immediate early genes as markers for the induction of apoptosis. Smeyne et al. (1993) have shown that c-Fos is continuously expressed in cells preceding apoptosis. Additionally, c-Jun has been co-localized with apoptotic neurons in the developing rat brain (Messina et al., 1996). These studies implicate the IEGs in the apoptotic mechanisms of cellular deletion during nervous system development. In mature cells, there is a temporal induction in the expression of *c-fos* and *c-jun* preceding neuronal apoptosis in sympathetic neurons deprived of NGF (Estus et al., 1994). Specifically, *c-jun* must be expressed in order for apoptosis to occur (Estus et al., 1994). The level of the c-Jun protein significantly increases and expression of *c-Jun* itself is sufficient to induce apoptosis in NGF deprived sympathetic neurons (Ham et al., 1995). Expression of a c-Jun dominant negative mutant protects these neurons from NGF induced apoptosis, which illustrates that AP-1 activity is required for neuronal apoptosis in this model (Ham et al., 1995).

As previously discussed,  $A\beta$  induces neuronal cell death characteristic of apoptosis *in vitro*. Gillardon et al. (1996) have recently shown that  $A\beta_{25-35}$  treatment of hippocampal neuron cultures results in an increase in c-Fos immunoreactivity, and that anti-sense *c-fos* can protect against  $A\beta$  toxicity. Additionally, Anderson et al. (1995)

19
have shown that there is a selective induction of c-Jun in hippocampal neuron cultures treated with  $A\beta$ , and a co-localization of c-Jun immunoreactivity with apoptotic cells. Collectively, these studies strongly suggest that the immediate early genes, *c-fos* and *c-jun*, may act as mediators in a pathway for activating cell death commitment genes or they may transcriptionally control the expression of target genes that act directly to elicit apoptosis in neurons (reviewed by Soares et al., 1994).

#### 5.3 The Immediate Early Genes and Apoptosis in AD

It has previously been suggested in this discussion that the neurodegeneration and neuronal cell loss associated with AD may be the result of apoptosis, and the expression of *c-fos* and *c-jun* may be indicative of neurons activated to undergo apoptosis. Recent immunohistochemical analysis in the hippocampal and entorhinal cortices of the AD brain has revealed: 1) DNA fragmentation by the in situ labeling technique TUNEL (terminal transferase-mediated dUTP-biotin nick end labeling) in apoptotic neuronal nuclei associated and unassociated with neurofibrillary tangles in the absence of apoptotic morphology in aged matched control brain samples (Su et al., 1994; Smale et al., 1995; Lassman et al., 1995); 2) C-Fos immunoreactivity and overexpression versus aged matched control brain samples (Zhang et al., 1991), and 3) a co-localization of c-Jun with apoptotic cells in the AD brain (Anderson et al., 1995) Since the observation in 1) supports the hypothesis that neuronal cell death may occur via apoptotic mechanisms in AD, and the expression of c-Fos and c-Jun localized in the same regions of the AD brain that have undergone apoptosis as described in 2) and 3), then it is reasonable to infer that the immediate early genes may be actively expressed in neurons undergoing apoptosis during the pathogenesis of AD.

#### 6. Induction of the Immediate Early Genes and APP Overexpression

The preceding discussion has established that the overproduction of A $\beta$  from the aberrant metabolism and/or overexpression of APP may be relevant to the pathogenesis of AD. Previous studies by LeBlanc (1995) have shown primary human neuron cultures induced to undergo apoptosis by serum withdrawal increase production of the 4 kDa AB by 3- to 4-fold. The central aim of this study is to elucidate the underlying molecular mechanisms of neuronal apoptosis and to determine the cause of the increased production of AB in dying primary human neuron cultures. Specifically, we set out to determine if there is a temporal induction in the expression of the immediate early genes during apoptosis in human neurons, and whether this induction is correlated with a subsequent increase the expression of APP. The basis of this study stems from the fact that the APP promoter contains three AP consensus sequences (Yoshikai et al., 1990), which regulate the transcription of APP through the AP-1 complex (Trejo et al., 1994). Furthermore, activation of a glial cell line with PMA induces the synthesis of the AP-1, increases the protein-DNA binding activity to the AP-1 sequences in the APP promoter and increases APP mRNA levels (Trejo et al., 1994). We hypothesize that serum deprivation induced apoptosis in primary human neuron cultures causes an induction in the expression of the immediate early genes, potentially resulting in the formation of AP-1 complexes that may bind to the AP-1 consensus sequences in the APP promoter, and subsequently, activate and increase the expression of APP. The increase in APP expression may lead to the increased formation of A $\beta$ . Our hypothetical model is presented in Figure 3. Information garnished from these in vitro studies will provide insight into apoptosis as the mechanism of neuronal cell death and its relevance to the disease process of AD in vivo.



#### 7. The Neuronal Cytoskeleton

Neurons possess extraordinarily complex and diverse shapes that determine their signaling properties, pattern of synaptic connections and their function. The dimensions of neurons are unparalleled, with some extending for meters and others with extensive axonal and dendritic branching patterns. The cytoskeleton is responsible for developing and maintaining the specialized cellular structure of neurons, and modifying the shape of neurons in response to age, experience, electrical activity, denervation and injury. The dynamics of stabilization and destabilization of various cytoskeleton polymers within neurons governs the ability the cytoskeleton to adapt and change according the functional requirements of the neurons (reviewed by Kandel and Schwartz, 1991).

The components of the neuronal cytoskeleton include the: 1) microfilaments (8nm in diameter) formed from actin, a self-assembling 43 kDa globular protein; 2) neurofilaments (10nm in diameter), composed three polypeptide subunits: NF-H (high, 112 kDa), NF-M (middle, 102 kDa) and NF-L (low, 68 kDa), which are only found in neurons and belong to a family of related intermediate filament proteins that includes the keratins, desmin, glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), nuclear lamins and vimentin, and 3) microtubules (25nm in diameter) formed from tubulin monomers, which are heterodimers of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  tubulin (50 kDa each). The actin microfilaments form a cortical meshwork just under the membrane of axons and are found primarily at the periphery of axons, especially in the growth cones where they undergo rapid turnover to promote neurite extension and movement. The neurofilaments and microtubules are cross-linked to each other and other filaments of the same type, and are found throughout the cytoplasm. The neurofilaments give bulk and strength to the neuronal processes, and undergo little turnover. The microtubules are responsible for neurite extension and like the actin microfilaments, undergo rapid cycles of polymerization and depolymerization in the growth cones. Furthermore, the microtubules serve as tracks for anterograde and retrograde transport with the neurons. There are proteins known as microtubuleassociated proteins (MAPs) that play important roles in the assembly of microtubules, in transport functions and cross-linking. They include the high molecular weight MAPs (200-300 kDa) and the low molecular weight proteins that include MAP2 and tau (~60 kDa). MAPs are believed to control microtubule growth by maintaining a balance between the dynamic and stable forms of tubulin.

#### 7.1 The Tau Protein

Tau is a MAP that is abundantly expressed in the PNS and CNS. It is primarily localized to the axons in healthy neurons. In the adult human brain, multiple isoforms of tau are produced from a single gene through alternative mRNA splicing (Goedert et al., 1989; reviewed by Goedert, 1993; reviewed by Goedert et al., 1995). Six isoforms of tau exist, which range from 352 to 441 amino acids and differ from each other by the presence or absence of three inserts. In the carboxy terminus half of tau there are three or four tandem repeats of 31 or 32 amino acids that constitute the microtubule-binding domains (Butner et al., 1991; Goode et al., 1994), while in the amino terminus some tau isoforms contain 29 or 58 amino acid inserts and is regarded as the projection domain (Refer to Figure 3) (reviewed by Goedert, 1993; reviewed by Goedert, 1993).

The expression of tau is developmentally regulated in that only the smallest isoform of the protein with three repeats, known as fetal tau, is present in the immature brain, while all six isoforms are found in the adult brain (Goedert et al., 1989). All six normal isoforms of tau are phosphoproteins (Butler et al., 1986) and the phosphorylation of tau is regulated by the balance between protein kinase and protein phosphatase activity (reviewed by Trojanowski et al., 1995). The phosphorylation of tau is developmentally regulated such that tau becomes phosphorylated at fewer sites during brain maturation, thus, tau is less phosphorylated in the adult brain in comparison to the fetal brain (reviewed by Goedert, 1993; Goedert et al., 1995). The ability of tau to bind and stabilize the microtubules is negatively regulated by phosphorylation.



Figure 4. - Isoforms of Tau (Goedert, 1993)

## 7.1.1 The Neurofibrillary Tangles

NFTs are another prominent, pathological feature of AD. The number of NFTs and their regional distribution correlates with the degree of dementia in AD (reviewed by Goedert, 1993). These neurofibrillary lesions are found in neurons of the cerebral cortex and hippocampal formations that degenerate in AD. NFTs are localized in the nerve cell bodies and apical dendrites, in distal dendrites as neuropil threads and in the dystrophic neurites associated with the senile plaques (reviewed by Goedert, 1993). After the death of the neuron, NFTs appear as extracellular tangles, also known as ghost tangles, because of their insolubility. The major component of NFTs are the abnormal paired helical filaments (PHFs), while the stratight filaments (SFs) constitute a minor component (Kidd, 1963).

#### 7.1.2 The Paired Helical Filaments

The major protein subunit of the PHFs is tau in an abnormally hyperphosphorylated form known as PHF- $\tau$  or A68 (Lee et al., 1991; reviewed by Goedert et al., 1995; reviewed by Trojanowski et al., 1995). All six isoforms of tau are components of the PHFs. The PHFs isolated from tangle fragments show cleavage of the amino and carboxy terminal of PHF- $\tau$  (Bondareff et al., 1990) and ubiquitination (Mori et al., 1987; Morishima-Kawashima et al., 1993), leaving a pronase-resistant core comprised of the three or four tandem repeats that constitute the microtubule-binding regions of tau. On the other hand, PHF- $\tau$  isolated from dispersed filaments is intact.

The ability of PHF- $\tau$  to bind microtubules is significantly reduced and is the direct result of hyperphosporylation, since dephosphoylated PHF- $\tau$  bind microtubules as well as normal tau does (Bramblett et al., 1993). It has recently been shown that hyperphosphorylated tau from the AD brain can disassemble microtubules and act as a nucleation center to assemble normal tau into filaments (Alonso et al., 1996). Since the ability of tau to bind and stabilize the microtubules is dependent on the degree of

phosphorylation, then the compromised binding of PHF-t to the microtubules likely destabilizes the microtubule structures of neurons and leads to the degeneration of affected nerve cells in AD.

## 7.1.3 Formation of the Paired Helical Filaments

For years it has been hypothesized that excessive or abnormal phosphorylation of tau owing to the hyperactivation of protein kinase(s) or the hypoactivation of protein phosphatases was the pivotal event in the transformation of tau to PHF- $\tau$  and the formation of NFTs in AD (reviewed by Trojanowski et al., 1995). However, Wang et al. (1996) show that the formation of NFTs not only involves the hyperphosphorylation of tau, but also the glycosylation of PHF- $\tau$ . The authors report that abnormally phosphorylated tau from the AD brain is glycosylated and that this post-translational modification maintains the helicity of PHFs. Glycosylation of tau apparently does not have an effect on the ability of tau to promote the assembly of microtubules, thus, it is proposed that the abnormal phosphorylation of tau initially causes the polymerization of tau into straight filaments which are then crosslinked by a glycan "pin" into PHFs (Alonso et al., 1996). These findings suggest that the hyperphosphorylation and glycosylation of tau may act in tandem during the formation of NFTs.

Recently, Goedert et al. (1996) have shown that sulphated glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) may be a key factor in the development of NFTs in AD. They have shown that recombinant tau isoforms with three and four microtubule binding repeats can form PHF-like filaments and SFs, respectively, similar to those found in the AD, when incubated with GAGs such as heparin and heparin sulphate under physiological conditions in vitro. Heparin was shown to inhibit tau from binding microtubules and promote microtubule disassembly independent of the phosphorylation state of tau. Furthermore, heparin sulphate and tau immunoreactivities were found to co-localize in nerve cells of the AD brain before the formation of NFTs. The authors propose that the accumulation of

GAGs within neurons may induce the hyperphosphorylation of tau, destabilization of the microtubules and the formation of NFTs during the pathogenesis of AD (Goedert et al., 1996).

As previously described in this discussion, apoptosis results in distinct morphological changes in the cytoskeleton and the development of AD alters the neuronal cytoskeleton such that NFTs form in the degenerating regions of the brain. Since the literature presented strongly suggests that apoptosis is the mode of cell death and degeneration in AD, we set out to investigate the expression levels and intactness of tau, tubulin and vimentin in human neuron cultures during apoptosis.

#### 8. Synaptic Pathology in AD

In addition to the hallmark neuropathological lesions, SPs and NFTs, there is also extensive synaptic loss associated with AD. It has been hypothesized that the loss of synapses is a relatively early event in the development of AD, occurring in the neocortex and hippocampal regions of the brain (Masliah et al., 1994a; Heinonen et al., 1995). The major components of small synaptic vesicles and peptides stored in large dense cored vesicles are lost in the synaptic pathology (reviewed by Lassmann et al., 1993). Synaptophysin is a 38 kDa calcium binding glycoprotein located in the membrane of presynaptic vesicles of all neocortical axonal endings that is responsible for synaptic transmission. Quantification of synaptophysin immunoreactivity by microdensitometry, confocal and electron microscopy are the current methods employed to investigate synaptic loss (reviewed by Terry, 1994; Heinonen et al., 1995). Masliah et al. (1991a) reported a 45% loss in synaptophysin immunoreactivity in the frontal and parietal cortex, and to a lesser extent in the hippocampus and entorhinal cortex in the AD brain. Another study reported a 77% reduction in synaptophysin-like immunoreactivity in the hippocampus and a 54% reduction in the temporal cortex in AD patients (Honer et al., 1992). Heinonen et al. (1995) report up to a 53% loss of synaptophysin immunoreactivity primarily in the region of the entorhinal cortex.

The classic lesions of AD, the SPS and NFTs, do not satisfactorily account for the clinical symptoms of AD. NFTs are a better correlate of cognitive deficiency than SPs in AD. A problem arises in the fact that 20-30% of the cases of AD above the age of 70 have very rare or no tangles in the neocortex associated with dementia (Terry et al., 1987). By far the strongest correlation exists with the severity of dementia in AD is the loss of synapses (Terry et al., 1991). Taken together, the results of quantitative studies of synapse density and the correlation of dementia to the degree of synaptic loss strongly suggest that the loss of synapses is centrally involved in the pathogenesis of AD.

#### 8.1 Aberrant Neuritic Sprouting in AD

In addition to the extensive loss of synapses in the neocortex of the AD brain, there is also the presence of abundant dystrophic neurites scattered in the neuropil and others associated with the SPs (reviewed by Masliah and Terry, 1993). Some believe they represent degenerating processes, while others suggest that at least a subpopulation of them may be aberrant sprouting neurites arising from neurons attempting a regenerative response (Geddes, et al., 1986; Masliah et al., 1991b; reviewed by Masliah et al., 1993). The latter proposal stems from the fact that GAP-43, a phosphoprotein ranging between 43-57 kDa that is highly localized in the axonal growth cones during axonogenesis and regeneration (Meiri et al., 1986; Meiri et al., 1988), has been detected in the abnormal neuritic elements in the SPs of the AD cortex (Masliah et al., 1991b; Masliah et al., 1992a; Zhan et al., 1995)) and the aged monkey (Cork et al., 1990).

Additionally, other synaptic and axon specific proteins, such as synaptophysin, synapsin, chromogranin, phosphorylated neurofilaments, tau and APP (Shoji et al., 1990; Masliah et al., 1992a; reviewed by Masliah et al., 1993; Masliah et al., 1994; Zhan et al., 1995), have been detected in abnormal neurites of SPs. Studies have revealed that APP is

transported to the presynaptic site (Koo et al., 1990), localized in the presynaptic terminal (Schubert et al., 1991; Masliah et al., 1992a; reviewed by Masliah and Terry, 1993) and found to co-localize with GAP-43 in 57% of the sprouting neurites (Masliah et al., 1992a). APP is present in the growth cone during development (Masliah et al., 1992c; Hung et al., 1992) and may be involved with synaptic plasticity (Loffler et al., 1992; Masliah et al., 1992a). In vitro studies suggest that APP and its fragments, depending on the concentration, could be neurotoxic or neurotrophic (Yankner et al., 1990). Thus, these studies suggest that altered APP processing could cause abnormal neuritic outgrowth and synaptic degeneration, and supports the hypothesis that plaque formation results from synaptic and axonal injury followed by amyloid deposition (Cork et al., 1990; Masliah et al., 1992b; Masliah et al., 1994). Cycles of aberrant sprouting and degeneration of the neurites localized in the presynaptic regions could alter the microcircuitry and cause the cognitive impairments observed in AD. Therefore, we set out to assess the protein levels of synaptophysin, GAP-43 and APP in human neurons in an in vitro paradigm of neurodegeneration to determine whether these proteins undergo similar changes in expression levels to those observed in the AD brain.

## Aims of the Present Thesis

The aims of the present thesis are:

- 1) To induce apoptosis in primary human CNS neurons and quantify the level of cell death following different periods of serum withdrawal.
- 2) To define the time frame in which primary human neurons become committed to apoptosis following serum deprivation.
- 3) To determine the temporal expression of *c-fos* and *c-jun*, and to correlate the effect on APP expression during apoptosis.
- 4) To analyze the effect of apoptosis on the cytoskeletal proteins tau, tubulin and vimentin.
- 5) To evaluate the effect of apoptosis on GAP-43 and synaptophysin.

The experimental outline of the present thesis is shown in Figure 5.



Figure 5. - Experimental Outline

## **II** Materials and Methods

## 1. Primary Human Fetal Neuron Cultures

Primary human fetal neuron cultures were prepared from cerebral cortical tissue obtained from elective abortions (10-18 weeks of gestation) in accordance with guidelines established by the Medical Research Council of Canada and the National Institutes of Health, and approved by the Jewish General Hospital and McGill University Institutional Review Board ethical committees. Brain tissue was separated from the meninges and blood vessels, and minced in sterile PBS. The tissue was treated with 0.25% trypsin (Life Technologies, ON, Canada) and 1 mg/ml DNase for 15 minutes at 37°C. The action of the enzymes was neutralized with 5% decomplemented bovine calf serum (dBCS; BCS treated at 56°C for 30 minutes) (Hyclone, UT, USA). The tissue was then filtered through 132 µm and 70 µm sterile nylon mesh to separate the cells. The cells were centrifuged, washed, and resuspended in MEM media containing Earle's salts, 5% dBCS, 0.225% sodium bicarbonate, 1mM sodium pyruvate, 2mM L-glutamine, 1X penicillin/streptomycin, 0.1% glucose (all from Life Technologies, ON, Canada). Cells were plated at a density of 3 x  $10^6$  cells/ml in flasks, multiwell plates, and on ACLAR coverslips coated with 10 µg/ml of poly-L-lysine (Sigma, MO, USA). After 3 days, cultures were treated with MEM media containing 1mM fluorodeoxyuridine (FdU) for 1 week to inhibit the proliferation of contaminating astrocytes and other dividing cells. The cells were fed every third day and 11 days after initial plating the cells were ready for experimental manipulations.

## 1.1 Characterization of the Cultures

After 11 days, coverslips with neurons  $(1.5 \times 10^4 \text{ cells})$  were immunostained with antibodies for tau, which normally stains the axons of neurons, and glial fibrillary acid (GFAP), which is specific for astrocytes to determine the purity of the cultures. Cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (Sigma, MO,USA) and permeablized with 0.1% Triton X-100. After washing with PBS, coverslips were incubated with 10% goat serum (Life Technologies, ON, Canada) for 1 hour at room temperature. Coverslips were incubated with polyclonal anti-bovine tau (1:200 in 1% goat serum; a kind gift from Dr. Hernant Paudel, Lady Davis Institute, McGill University) and monoclonal anti-GFAP (1:200 in 1% goat serum; Sigma, MO, USA) antibodies overnight at 4°C. After washing with PBS, the coverslips were incubated with goat anti-rabbit IgG (H+L) linked with FITC (fluorescein isothiocynate) and goat anti-rabbit IgG linked with rhodamine secondary antibodies (1:200 in 1% goat serum; Jackson Labs, PA, USA) for 1 hour at room temperature. Following three washes with PBS, the coverslips were mounted onto glass slides with glycerol:PBS (1:1), and the cells were analyzed by phase contrast and fluorescence microscopy at low magnification (20X).

## 2. Apoptosis of Neuron Cultures

Apoptosis was induced in the cultures by complete serum withdrawal, removal of all essential growth factors, for various periods of time.

#### 2.1 Analysis of Apoptosis

## 2.1.1 Propidium Iodide Staining and Tau Immunostaining

Neurons plated on coverslips were treated in the presence and absence of serum containing media for 0, 6, 12, 18, 24 and 48 hours. Cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde, washed with PBS and permeablized with 0.1% Triton X-100. Cells were incubated with the polyclonal anti-bovine tau antibody as described above. After washing with PBS, coverslips were incubated with goat anti-rabbit-FITC in propidium iodide solution (0.1  $\mu$ g/ml in PBS; Sigma, MO, USA) for 30 minutes at room temperature. The coverslips were washed 6 times with PBS and mounted on glass slides with glycerol:PBS (1:1). Cells were analyzed by phase contrast and fluorescence microscopy at low and high magnification (20X and 40X), and stained nuclei were analyzed by fluorescence microscopy at high magnification (40X and 100X).

#### 2.1.2 DNA Ladder

Cultures were treated in the presence and absence of serum containing media for 0, 6, 12, 18, 24, 36, 48 and 72 hours. The cells (3 x  $10^6$  cells) were harvested in PBS and briefly centrifuged. The pellet was resuspended in 50 µl of proteinase K (200 µg/ml)/

0.5% sarkosyl solution (both from Sigma, MO, USA) and incubated at 50°C for 2 hours. Subsequently, 2.5  $\mu$ l of RNase A (10  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ l) was added and the mixture was incubated for 2 hours at 50°C. Ten  $\mu$ l of 6X DNA loading buffer (0.25% bromophenol blue, 0.25% xylene cyanol, 30% glycerol) was added to the samples after which the samples were separated in parallel with a 100 bp ladder (Pharmacia, QC, Canada) on a 1.8% agarose gel at 15 volts overnight. The gels were stained with ethidium bromide (EtBr) to visualize the DNA.

#### 2.1.3 TUNEL (terminal transferase-mediated dUTP nick end labeling) Staining

Neurons plated on coverslips were treated in the presence and absence of serum containing media for 0, 12, 24 and 48 hours. Cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde, permeablized with 0.1% Triton X-100 and washed with PBS. DNA fragmentation was detected with the In Situ Cell Death Detection Kit (Boehringer-Mannheim, QC, Canada) according to the manufacturer's standard protocols. Coverslips were washed 6 times with PBS and mounted with glycerol:PBS (1:1) on glass slides. The presence of DNA fragmentation was analyzed at low magnification (20X) fluorescence microscopy.

## 2.1.4 Quantitating Levels of Apoptosis

After cells were stained with TUNEL as described in the previous section, approximately 500 neurons per coverslip for each time point were analyzed for positive TUNEL staining by high magnification (40X) fluorescence microscopy. The 0h time point was used as an indication of the basal level of apoptosis each culture. The ratio of apoptotic cells to the total number of cells analyzed for each time point was standardized to the ratio of apoptotic cells to the total number of cells determined at the 0h time point, and expressed as a fold increase in the number of apoptotic cells relative to the 0h time point. The data presented represents the mean and standard error of three independent cultures. A two-tailed, unpaired Student's t-test with a confidence level of 90% was used to determine the statistical significance of the changes in the levels of apoptosis between the serum deprived and untreated cultures at the corresponding time points.

## 2.1.5 Cell Death Commitment Experiments

Neurons cultured on coverslips were deprived of serum for 0, 6, 12, 18, 24 and 48 hours, after which serum was reintroduced in the media for another 12 hours to rescue to the cells. Subsequently, the cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde, permeablized with 0.1% Triton X-100 and washed with PBS. The cells were stained with propidium iodide (0.1 µg/ml) at room temperature for 20 minutes. The coverslips were washed 6 times with PBS and mounted on glass slides with glycerol:PBS (1:1). Control cultures, neurons treated in the presence of serum for 0, 6, 12, 18, 24 and 48 hours and neurons treated in the presence of serum for 0, 6, 12, 18, 24 and 48 hours, after which fresh serum containing media was fed to the cells for another 12 hours, were also treated with the same procedures. Approximately 500 neurons per coverslip were analyzed for apoptotic morphology by high magnification (40X) fluorescence microscopy. The ratio of apoptotic cells to the total number of cells analyzed for each time point was standardized to the level of apoptosis at the 0h time point, and expressed as a fold increase in the number of apoptotic cells relative to the 0h time point. The data presented represents the mean and standard error of at least three independent cultures. A two-tailed, unpaired Student's t-test with a confidence level of 90% was used to determine the statistical significance of the changes in the levels of apoptosis between the serum deprived cultures and the control cultures at the corresponding time points.

#### 3. Assessing *c-fos* and *c-jun* Expression

## **3.1 RT-PCR**

#### 3.1.1 RNA Extraction

Total RNA was extracted from cultures (~4.5 x  $10^7$  cells) treated in the presence and absence of serum containing media for 0, 6, 12, 18 and 24 hours by standard phenol/chloroform methods (Chomczynski et al., 1987). RNA samples were treated with 1U of RQ1 RNase-free DNase (Promega, WI, USA) in DNase buffer (40 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.9, 6 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 10 mM NaCl and 10 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>) for 30 minutes at 37°C to eliminate genomic DNA contamination in the samples. The samples were extracted with phenol/chloroform and precipitated with 10 µg of tRNA to increase the efficiency of RNA recovery. RNA concentration and purity was determined by spectrophotometry at 260nm and 280 nm.

## 3.1.2 cDNA Synthesis by Reverse Transcription

The RNA samples  $(1 \ \mu g)$  were reverse transcribed into cDNA with the Superscript II Reverse Transcriptase System (Life Technologies, ON, Canada) according to the manufacturer's standard protocols. One  $\mu g$  of RNA from the 12h serum deprived sample was subjected to the cDNA synthesis reaction in the absence of reverse transcriptase and served as negative control for genomic DNA contamination in the PCR reactions.

#### **3.1.3 PCR Analysis**

#### 3.1.3.1 Primer Design and Specificity

Primers were designed to amplify regions of *c-fos* (2088-2721; 633 bp region), *c-jun* (2036-2445; 409 bp region) and *G3PDH* (28-598; 570 bp region) with the aid of the PC-Gene software (Intelligenetics, CA, USA). The primer sequences were: *c-fos*-forward 5'-GAGACAGACCAACTAG-3', reverse 5'-CCAGCAGCGTGGGTG-3'; *c-jun*-forward 5'-GCATGAGGAACCGC-3', reverse 5'-GCGACCAAGTCCTTC-3' and *G3PDH*-forward 5'-CGGATTTGGTCGTATTGGGC-3', reverse

5'-CCATCACGCCACAGTTCC-3'. We used G3PDH as an internal standard because of its constitutive expression as a housekeeping gene.

Each primer pair was tested for its ability to amplify the target sequence from plasmid containing the gene of interest, human *c-fos* plasmid, mouse *c-jun* plasmid (both kind gifts from Dr. Lorraine Chalifour, Lady Davis Institute, McGill University), and rat *G3PDH* plasmid (a kind gift from Dr. Hyman Schipper, Lady Davis Institute, McGill University). Restriction digests (5  $\mu$ l of the PCR reaction digested with 1U of Xcm I (New England Biolabs, MA, USA) in 1X NEB Buffer 2 for 1 hour at 37°C, separated on a 1% agaorse gel by electrophoresis and DNA fragments visualized by EtBr staining) and direct PCR sequencing of the PCR fragments with the CircumVent Thermal Cycle Sequencing Kit according to the manufacturer's standard protocols (New England Biolabs, MA, USA) were performed to confirm the primers correctly amplified the target sequences.

#### 3.1.3.2 Reaction Conditions

One  $\mu$ l of the cDNA reaction was amplified in a 25  $\mu$ l volume containing 1X PCR reaction buffer with 1 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>(Promega, WI, USA), 200  $\mu$ M dNTP, 0.6 pmol of the forward and reverse primers and 0.625 U of Taq polymerase (Promega, WI, USA) in a Perkin-Elmer Thermal Cycler at 94°C for 1 minute, 50°C for 1 minutes and 72°C for 2 minutes for 20 and 30 cycles. Each cDNA sample was amplified in triplicate, and simultaneously with a positive control (human *c-fos* plasmid, mouse *c-jun* plasmid and rat *G3PDH* plasmid) and three negative controls (1  $\mu$ l of cDNA mixture from the 12h serum deprived sample treated without reverse transcriptase, 1  $\mu$ g of tRNA, and 1  $\mu$ l of water). After amplification, the cDNAs were separated by electrophoresis on 1% agarose gels, visualized by EtBr staining and photographed.

## 3.2 Southern Analysis

Subsequently, the PCR products were transferred onto Nytran membrane (Schleicher and Schuell, NH, USA) and detected by hybridization with <sup>32</sup>P-dATP labeled DNA probes specific for *c-fos*, *c-jun* and *G3PDH* according to the manufacturer's standard protocols. DNA probes were obtained from PCR amplification of human *c-fos* plasmid, mouse *c-jun* plasmid and rat *G3PDH* plasmid, and labeled with <sup>32</sup>P-dATP according to the manufacturer's standard protocols supplied with the Oligolabeling Kit (Pharmacia, QC, Canada).

## 3.3 Quantitation of mRNA Expression

The membranes were exposed on phosphorimaging screens and the PCR products were quantitated by phosphorimaging software (Molecular Dynamics, CA, USA). The c-fos and c-jun expression levels were corrected to G3PDH levels at each of the corresponding time points and subsequently standardized to the expression level at the 0h time point to control for the amount of cDNA in each reaction and to establish the

baseline level of expression in each experiment. The level of *c-fos* and *c-jun* expression was expressed as a fold increase in the level of expression relative to the 0h time point, and was determined from two trials with a given experiment. Expression of *c-fos* and *c-jun* was analyzed in four independent cultures.

#### 4. Assessing c-Fos and c-Jun Expression

## 4.1 Whole Cell Extract Preparation

After treatment in the absence of serum containing media for 0, 6, 12, 18, 24, 36 and 48 hours, 3 x  $10^6$  cells were washed in PBS (phosphate-buffered saline; 100 mM sodium phosphate, 100 mM NaCl, pH 7.5) and harvested in 100 µl of cold NP-40 lysis buffer ((50 mM Tris, pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl, 1% Nonidet P-40, 5 mM EDTA, pH 8.0) containing 0.05% phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, 0.1 µg/ml pepstatin A, 1 µg/ml N $\alpha$ -ptosyl-L-lysine chloromethyl ketone, and 0.5 µg/ml leupeptin (all protease inhibitors from ICN, QC, Canada). The lysate was centrifuged at 14 000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C and the supernatant was used for analysis. Whole cell extracts were prepared from 1 x  $10^6$ Jurkat cells, treated with 32 nM PMA (phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate) for 2 hours, according to the methods by Sambrook et al. (1989) and were used as a positive control.

#### 4.2 Nuclear Extract Preparation

Nuclear extracts were prepared as described by Pinol-Roma et al. (1988). After treatment in the presence and absence of serum containing media for 0, 6, 12, 18 and 24 hours, 4.5 x  $10^6$  cells were washed in PBS and harvested in 5 ml of cold lysis buffer (10mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 100 mM NaCl, 2.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>) containing 0.5% aprotinin, 2 µg/ml pepstatin A, 2µg/ml leupeptin (all protease inhibitors from ICN, QC, Canada) and 0.5% Triton X-100. The lysate was passed through a 25-gauge needle four times and centrifuged briefly at 3000g. The nuclei were resuspended in 100 µl of lysis buffer without Triton X-100 and sonicated briefly. Protein concentration was determined with BCA Protein Assay Reagents (Pierce, IL, USA).

#### 4.3 Western Blot Analysis

Samples, containing 17  $\mu$ l of whole cell extract (representative of 5.1 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells) and 3 µl of 6X SDS/Sample loading buffer (300mM Tris-HCl, pH 6.8, 600 mM DTT, 12% SDS, 0.6% bromophenol blue, 60% glycerol), were separated in parallel with Jurkat cell extracts and prestained low molecular weight markers (BioRad, ON, Canada) on 10% SDS-polyacrylamide gels by electrophoresis. Separated proteins were transferred onto Immobilon-P membranes (Millipore, MA, USA) by electroblotting. Membranes were blocked in Blotto A (5% (w/v) low fat milk in TBS-T (Tris-buffered saline; 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl, 0.05% Tween-20)) for I hour and 30 minutes and incubated at 4°C overnight with primary antibodies-polyclonal anti-c-Jun (1:250 in Blotto A; sc-45, Santa Cruz Biotech, CA, USA), monoclonal anti-c-Fos (1:250 in Blotto A; sc-413, Santa Cruz Biotech, CA, USA) or polyclonal anti-c-Fos (1:200 in Blotto A; a kind gift from Dr. Eugenia Wang, Lady Davis Institute, McGill University). Blots were then washed 3 times for 10 minutes with TBS-T and incubated with the appropriate secondary antibody conjugated to alkaline phosphatase (AP)-goat anti-rabbit-AP (1:5000 in TBS-T; Jackson Labs, PA, USA) or goat anti-mouse-AP (1:1000 in TBS-T; Jackson Labs, PA, USA), for 1 hour at room temperature. Following 3 washes for 10 minutes with TBS-T and a 10 minute wash with alkaline phosphatase buffer (100 mM Tris-HCl, pH 9.5, 100 mM NaCl, 5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>), the blots were developed with 10 ml of alkaline phosphatase buffer containing 64 µl of NBT (nitro blue tetrazolium chloride; Fisher Biotech, QC, Canada; 50 µg/ml dissolved in 70% diethylformamide) and 32 µl of BCIP (5-bromo-4chloro-3-indoyl phosphate; Fisher Biotech, QC, Canada; 50 µg/ml dissolved in 100% diethylformamide) to detect the immunoreactive proteins.

Nuclear extracts (50  $\mu$ g) were separated in parallel with 10  $\mu$ g of PMA-induced HeLa nuclear extract (Santa Cruz, CA, USA), transferred to membranes and the membranes treated with the methods described above. Following incubation with the primary antibodies, the blots were washed three times with TBS-T and incubated with the appropriate secondary antibody conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-goat anti-rabbit-HRP (1:5000 in Blotto A) or goat anti-mouse-HRP (1:10000 in Blotto A) (both a kind gift from Dr. Eugenia Wang, Lady Davis Institute, McGill University), for 1 hour at

room temperature. Immunoreactive proteins were detected with ECL Western Blot Detection Reagents (Amersham, ON, Canada) according to the manufacturer's standard protocols.

## 4.4 Quantitation of Protein Expression

Following detection of the proteins, the films were scanned and the protein levels quantitated by densitometric software (Molecular Dynamics, CA, USA). The 0h time point was used as the control for the basal level of expression in the culture. The expression level at each time point was standardized to the 0h time point. and expressed as a fold increase relative to the 0h time point.

#### 4.5 Colocalization Studies

Immunocyotchemistry was performed simultaneously with PI or TUNEL staining. Neurons on coverslips, deprived of serum for 0, 6, 12, 18, 24 and 48 hours, were permeablized with 0.1% Triton-X 100, blocked with 10% goat serum and incubated with primary antibodies-polyclonal anti-c-Jun (1:100 in 1% goat serum; sc-45, Santa Cruz Biotech, CA, USA), monoclonal anti-c-Fos (1:100 in 1% goat serum; sc-413 from two different lots, Santa Cruz Biotech, CA, USA) or polyclonal anti-c-Fos (1:10000 in 1% goat serum; a kind gift from Dr. Heather Durham, Montreal Neurological Institute, McGill University) overnight at 4°C. The coverslips were washed 5 time with PBS and incubated with the appropriate secondary antibody conjugated with FITC when propidium iodide staining was performed-goat anti-rabbit-FITC (1:200 in 0.1 µg/ml of PI solution) or goat anti-mouse-FITC (1:100 in 0.1 µg/ml of PI solution). When TUNEL staining was performed, secondary antibodies conjugated to rhodamine (Rho)-goat antirabbit-Rho (1:200 in Converter-AP; Boerhinger-Mannheim, OC, Canada) or goat antimouse-Rho (1:200 in Converter-AP), were used in conjuction with the Santa Cruz antibodies. Neurons were incubated with biotinylated anti-sheep (1:100 in PBS; a kind gift from Dr. Durham) for 1 hour at room temperature when the c-Fos antibody from Dr. Durham was used. This was followed by an incubation with Texas Red-streptavidin

conjugate (1:1000 in Converter-AP). Neurons were analyzed with a fluorescence microscope at high magnification (40X).

### 5. Assessing APP Expression

Whole cell extracts were prepared from cultures deprived of serum for 0, 6, 12, 18, 24, 36 and 48 hours according to the method described above. Extracts were not prepared from cultures treated in the presence of serum containing media because serum did not affect c-fos and c-jun, and c-Jun expression. Twelve µl (representative of 3.6 x  $10^5$  cells) of each sample with 2 µl of 6X SDS/Sample loading buffer were separated by SDS-PAGE according to the methods described above. Separated proteins were transferred to Immobilon-P membrane, and the membrane treated according to the methods previously described. Separate blots were incubated with polyclonal anti-APP (anti-A1, 4) (1:100 in 1% goat serum) and monoclonal anti-A $\beta_{1-16}$  (6E10) (1:1000 in 1% goat serum) overnight at 4°C. Membranes were washed and incubated with the appropriate secondary antibody conjugated to alkaline phosphatase. The membranes were washed and developed according to the alkaline phosphatase method described above. The membranes were scanned and the protein levels quantitated with densitometric software (Molecular Dynamics, CA, USA). The 0h time point was used as the control for the basal level of expression in each culture. The level of APP expression at each time point was standardized and expressed relative to the level of expression at the 0h time point. The data shown represents the mean and standard error from three independent cultures. A two-tailed, unpaired Student's t-test with a confidence level of 90% was used to determine the statistical significance of changes in APP expression at each time point relative to the 0h time point.

## 6. Assessing Tau, Tubulin, Vimentin, GAP-43 and Synaptophysin Expression

Six  $\mu$ l (representative of 1.8 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells) samples; whole cell extracts that were prepared from the same cultures described in section 5, and 1  $\mu$ l of 6X SDS/Sample loading buffer were separated by SDS-PAGE and stained with Coomassie Blue solution (1 g/L Coomassie Brilliant Blue R<sub>250</sub>, 50% methanol, 10% glacial acetic acid) to show

equal loading and consistent protein levels over the time course of serum deprivation. Samples of whole cell extracts (6  $\mu$ l) with 1  $\mu$ l of 6X SDS/Sample loading buffer were separated by SDS-PAGE, transferred to Immobilon-P membrane and the membrane treated according to the methods described above. Separate blots were incubated with polyclonal anti-bovine tau (1:1000 in TBS-T; a kind gift from Dr. Hemant Paudel, Lady Davis Institute, McGill University), polyclonal anti-tubulin (1:100 in TBS-T: a kind gift from Dr. Eugenia Wang, Lady Davis Institute, McGill University), monoclonal antivimentin (1:1000 in TBS-T; Sigma, MO, USA), monoclonal anti-GAP-43 (1:1000 in TBS-T; Sigma, MO, USA) and monoclonal anti-synaptophysin (1:500 in TBS-T; Sigma, MO, USA) overnight at 4°C. The membranes were washed and incubated with the appropriate secondary antibody conjugated to alkaline phosphatase. The membranes were washed and developed according to the alkaline phosphatase method previously described. The blots were then scanned by a phosphoimaging/densitometric system (Molecular Dynamics, CA, USA) and the level of protein expression at each time point was quantitated. The 0h time point was used as an indication of the basal level of protein expression in each culture. The expression levels at each time point were standardized and expressed as a fold increase relative to the 0h time point. The data presented represents the mean and standard error of three independent cultures. A two-tailed, unpaired Student's t-test with a 90% confidence level was used to determine the statistical significance of changes in protein expression at each time point relative to the 0h time point.

## **III Results**

## 1. Primary Human Neuron Cultures

To investigate the molecular mechanisms of apoptosis and its effect on amyloid precursor protein expression in human neurons, highly purified primary neuron cultures were established from fetal brain tissue. Cells isolated from the fetal brain tissue were cultured for 11 days before any experimental procedures were undertaken. During this period, the mixed cultures were treated with 1mM FdU to inhibit the proliferation of contaminating, mitotic cells- astrocytes, microglia, and oligodendrocytes. By the end of this period, cultures consisting primarily of neurons were established. The cultures consisted of a uniform layer of well differentiated neurons that established dense and intricate networks of neurites. This is clearly evident by phase contrast and immunofluorescence microscopy of cultures stained with anti-tau antibody (Figure 6. - a, c). As previously shown (LeBlanc, 1995), the composition of these cultures was approximately 90% neurons and 10% astrocytes. The low percentage of microglia, oligodendrocytes and fibroblasts was previously confirmed by the lack of positive LDL-Dil incorporation and immunostaining by anti-galactocerebroside and anti-fibronectin antibodies, respectively (LeBlanc, 1995). In the human brain there are approximately ten to fifty times more glial cells than neurons, of which the astrocytes are a significant proportion of the glial cells (reviewed by Kandel et al., 1991). Thus, a small population of astrocytes was beneficial to the maintenance of the cultures because neurons naturally use astrocyte factors to survive. The nominal presence of astrocytes and their close association with neurons in the cultures is shown by phase contrast and immunofluorescence microscopy of cultures stained with anti-GFAP antibody (Figure 6. b, d).

## Figure 6. - Characterization of Human Neuron Cultures

Phase contrast micrographs (a, b) and immunofluorescent pictures at low magnification (20X) of human neurons cultured for 11 days on coverslips, fixed, permeablized and stained with polyclonal anti-human tau antibody (a, c) and monoclonal anti-human GFAP antibody (b, d).



GFAP



PHASE CONTRAST

ueT

## 2. Morphological Analysis of Apoptosis in Human Neurons

Serum deprivation was used to induce apoptotic cell death in the primary human neuron cultures. In the normal human brain there are numerous neurotrophic factors, for example, NGF, BDNF, CNTF and GDNF, that support the survival of the brain cells (reviewed by Lindsay, 1995; reviewed by Silo-Santiago, 1995). The withdrawal of a specific neurotrophic factor may not have been enough to induce apoptosis in these cultures because various neuron types could have utilized other neurotrophic factors as a compensatory response for survival. Thus, completely removing the serum from the cultures ensured that the neurons were deprived of all neurotrophic factors. To confirm that serum deprivation induced apoptosis in these cultures, neurons cultured on coverslips for 11 days in the presence of serum were deprived of serum containing media for 48 hours, fixed and stained with propidium iodide. Typically, apoptotic cells possess fragmented nuclei with condensed chromatin (reviewed by Bredesen, 1995). The cells highlighted by arrowheads in Figure 7A. clearly show the morphological characteristics of apoptotic cells. These cells have obvious pyknotic and fragmented nuclei with condensed chromatin that stain intensely. In contrast, the normal cells (Figure 7A., arrows) have intact and diffusely stained nuclei that appear larger than the apoptotic cells.

Changes in cell morphology were analyzed in neuron cultures deprived of serum for different periods of time. By propidium iodide staining it is evident that neurons deprived of serum for 48h underwent apoptotic cell death (Figure 7B. - c), whereas untreated (cells immediately fixed after 11 days of culture, shown as 0h in Figure 7B. - a) and neurons treated in the presence of serum for 48h (Figure 7B. - e) do not exhibit apoptotic morphology. This was confirmed by the *in situ* labeling technique TUNEL (terminal transferase-mediated dUTP-biotin nick end labeling) (Gavrieli et al., 1992). TUNEL specifically detects apoptotic cells by utilizing terminal transferase to incorporate biotinylated nucleotides on the 3'-OH groups of fragmented DNA, which can then be visualized by a reaction with alkaline phosphatase and a suitable substrate. Numerous apoptotic cells were detected in cultures deprived of serum containing media for 48h (Figure 7B. - d), whereas untreated (Figure 7B. - b) and cultures treated with serum containing media for 48h (Figure 7B. - f) did not exhibit positive TUNEL staining.

Typically, changes in the cellular organization accompany the characteristic changes associated with apoptosis. Apoptotic cells undergo membrane blebbing and in addition, apoptotic neurons undergo degeneration of the neurites and retract (LeBlanc, 1995). Neurons deprived of serum for 48h following 11 days of culture in the presence of serum show marked changes in their cellular organization. By phase contrast and immunofluorescence microscopy of tau immunostaining, it is evident the neurons retracted, which decreased the density of the neurite networks. Furthermore, these dystrophic neurites show beading and degeneration (Figure 7C. - c, arrows), and the cell bodies and neurites have diffuse, non-uniform staining of tau (Figure 7C. - d, arrows). In contrast, untreated and neurons treated in the presence of serum for 48h maintained a consistent density and an intricate network of healthy neurites as shown by phase contrast microscopy (Figure 7C. - a, e). Additionally, immunofluorescence analysis of tau immunostaining shows cell bodies and neurites have a uniform, polar staining pattern characteristic of healthy cells (Figure 7C. - b, f, arrows). In addition, propidium iodide and tau double staining showed that only neurons and not astrocytes undergo apoptosis following serum withdrawal. Previous studies have shown that serum deprivation does not induce human neurons to die by necrosis (LeBlanc, 1995). Clearly, serum deprivation induced morphological changes in primary human neuron cultures characteristic of apoptosis.

To quantify the level of apoptosis associated with the time of serum deprivation, neurons on coverslips were treated in the absence of serum containing media for various periods of time (0h, 12h, 24h and 48h) following 11 days of culture in the presence of serum and subsequently the number of apoptotic cells was scored by positive TUNEL staining. To demonstrate that the length of time in culture did not induce apoptosis, neurons on coverslips were treated in the presence of serum for 0h, 12h, 24h, and 48h, and also scored for positive TUNEL staining. The number of apoptotic cells was expressed as a percent of apoptotic cells to the total number of cells scored, and then expressed as a fold increase relative to the percent of apoptotic cells at 0h. Standardization to the control (0h) was used to establish a baseline level of apoptosis in each independent culture. The results from three independent cultures show that there

was a statistically significant increase in the number of apoptotic cells by 12 hours of serum deprivation, a 5-fold increase in the number of apoptotic cells by 24 hours and a 15-fold increase in the number of apoptotic cells by 48 hours of serum deprivation (Figure 7D.; p < 0.1). Few cells were found floating in the media. Neurons treated in the presence of serum did not show an increase in the number of apoptotic cells, thus the length of time in culture did not have an effect on the level of apoptosis.

#### 3. Cell Death Commitment Assays

In order to understand the temporal events associated with apoptosis in serum deprived human neuron cultures, the time in which these cultures became irreversibly committed to cell death was determined. Neurons cultured on coverslips for 11 days in the presence of serum were treated in the absence of serum containing media for 0h, 6h, 12h, 18h, 24h and 48h, after which serum containing media was reintroduced into the cultures for another 12 hours. The cells were stained by propidium iodide and the coverslips were scored for apoptotic cells following the criteria established previously. To show that the length of time in culture did not affect the level of cell death, coverslips treated in the presence of serum containing media for 0h, 6h, 12h, 18h, 24h, and 48h were also stained and scored in this manner. To control for the effect of the addition of fresh serum and the disturbance of feeding the cultures, neurons cultured on coverslips for 11 days in the presence of serum were treated in the presence of serum containing media for 0h, 6h, 12h, 18h, 24h and 48h, after which serum was reintroduced to the cultures for another 12 hours. These coverslips were stained and scored in the same manner as described. Based on data from at least three independent cultures (Figure 8.), it is evident that the length of time in culture and the process of reintroducing serum back to the neurons had no effect on the level of apoptosis, while neurons deprived of serum for greater than 6 hours could not be rescued from undergoing apoptotic cell death with the return of serum to the media. Statistically, the difference between the serum deprived culture and the control cultures became significant after 18 hours of serum deprivation. Thus, the time in which human neurons in culture become irreversibly committed to apoptosis following serum withdrawal is 18 hours.

#### Figure 7. - Characterization of Human Neurons in Serum Deprived Cultures

- A) Morphological characterization of apoptotic cells in human neuron cultures by propidium iodide staining after 48 hours of serum deprivation. Shown at high magnification (100X, of a small field in 2B. - c), normal cells have diffusely stained, intact nuclei illustrated by the arrows, while apoptotic cells possess brightly stained, pyknotic and fragmented nuclei with condensed chromatin highlighted by the arrowheads.
- B) Immunofluorescence analysis showing apoptosis in serum deprived human neuron cultures by propidium iodide and TUNEL staining. Cultured neurons on coverslips at 0 hour (0h) (a, b), deprived of serum containing media for 48 hours (48h) (c, d) and not deprived of serum containing media for 48h (e, f) were fixed and stained by propidium iodide (a, c, e high magnification, 40X) or TUNEL (b, d, f low magnification, 20X). Apoptotic cells with fragmented nuclei and condensed chromatin are highlighted by the arrowheads. Notice that there is only positive TUNEL staining present in (d). Coverslips in a, c, e are not the same as those shown in b, d, f.
- C) Morphological characterization of serum deprived human neuron cultures by phase contrast and immunofluorescence analysis of tau staining. Cultured neurons on coverslips at 0h (a, b), deprived of serum containing media for 48h (c, d) and treated with serum containing media for 48h (e, f) were fixed, stained with rabbit polyclonal anti-tau antibody and analyzed by phase contrast (a, c, e) and immunofluorescence (b, d, e) microscopy. Contrast the uniform, polarized staining of the cell body and neurites in the neurons shown in (b, f arrows) to the non-uniform, diffuse staining of the cell body and beading of the dystrophic neurites in the neurons shown in (d arrows). The fields outlined by the dashed boxes in (a, c, e) correspond to (b, d, f) at high magnification (40X), respectively.
- D) Quantitative analysis of apoptosis in serum deprived human neuron cultures by TUNEL. Neurons cultured on coverslips were deprived and not deprived of serum containing media for 0, 12, 24 and 48h, fixed, labeled by TUNEL and scored for apoptotic cells by high magnification (40X) fluorescence microscopy. The data

represents the fold increase in the number of apoptotic cells at 12h, 24h and 48h relative to the control (0h). Time points in which the fold increase in apoptotic cells in the serum deprived cultures (closed diamonds, - Serum) is statistically significant from the corresponding cultures treated in the presence of serum (open circles, + Serum) are marked by asterisks (p < 0.10). The data shown is the mean and standard error of three independent cultures.

. . . .



- SERUM 48h

A





# Figure 8. - Quantitative Analysis of the Time of Commitment to Apoptosis in Serum Deprived Human Neuron Cultures

Neurons cultured on coverslips were deprived of serum containing media for 0h, 6h, 12h, 18h, 24h and 48, after which serum containing media was reintroduced for an additional 12h (represented as closed triangles, - Serum; Serum reintroduced for 12h). Sister cultures were treated in the presence of serum containing media for 0h, 6h, 12h, 18h, 24h and 48h, after which serum containing media was reintroduced for an additional 12h (represented as open triangles, + Serum; Serum reintroduced for 12h). The cells were fixed after this 12h period (the total time of treatment is shown in brackets on the bottom of the graph), stained with propidium iodide and scored for the number of apoptotic cells by high magnification (40X) fluorescence microscopy. Additionally, neurons on coverslips were treated with serum containing media at 0h, 6h, 12h, 18h, 24h and 48h, fixed, stained and scored in the same manner as described ( shown as open circles, + Serum). The data shown represents the fold increase in the number of apoptotic cells at each time point relative to 0h. The commitment time point represents the time of serum deprivation after which the replacement of serum cannot prevent the cells from undergoing apoptosis. The commitment time point is shown to be 6h in human neuron cultures deprived of serum containing media, after which there is an increase in the number of apoptotic cells in comparison to the cultures treated with serum containing media. Each point represents the mean and standard error of at least three independent cultures. Asterisks mark the time points in which the fold increase in apoptotic cells in the serum deprived coverslips is statistically significant in comparison to the coverslips cultured in serum containing media (p < 0.1).


## 4. Immediate Early Gene Expression During Neuronal Cell Death

The expression of the immediate early genes, fos and jun, has been reported as a necessary event for apoptosis to occur in rodent neuron cultures (Estus et al., 1994; Ham et al., 1995). To determine immediate early gene expression in human neuron cultures, immediate early gene expression was analyzed in serum deprived neuron cultures by RT-PCR. Total RNA was extracted from cultures treated in the absence of serum containing media for 0h, 6h, 12h, 18h and 24h. One µg of total RNA from each sample was reverse transcribed into cDNA and lul of the resultant cDNA mixture was amplified by PCR with primers specific for c-fos, c-jun and G3PDH for 20 and 30 cycles in parallel with a positive control (human c-fos plasmid, mouse c-jun plasmid and rat G3PDH plasmid) and three negative controls (1 µl of cDNA mixture from the 12h serum deprived sample treated in the absence of reverse transcriptase, lug of tRNA, and l µl of water). To demonstrate that the effect of the addition of fresh serum and the disturbance associated with feeding did not induce the expression of *c-fos*, *c-jun* and *G3PDH*, total RNA was also extracted from sister neuron cultures whose serum containing media was changed at the same time as the serum deprived cultures. Following separation by electrophoresis on 1% agarose gels, the PCR products indicating the levels of expression of c-fos, c-jun and G3PDH were visualized by EtBr staining (Figure 9A.). PCR products were only detected by ethidium bromide staining after 30 cycles of amplification and verification these PCR products were amplified from the genes of interest was obtained by restriction enzyme mapping (Figure 9B.) and sequence analysis (data not shown).

The identity of the *c-fos*, *c-jun* and *G3PDH* products was confirmed by Southern blotting. After transfer to nylon membranes, *c-fos*, *c-jun* and *G3PDH* specific products were detected by hybridization with <sup>32</sup>P-dATP labeled DNA probes specific for each PCR product, while non-specific amplification products were not. Thus, the use of nested primers was not required to enhance the sensitivity or specificity of the PCR reaction. Blots were exposed on phosporimaging screens and the PCR products were quantitated by phosphorimaging software. The level of expression of *c-fos* and *c-jun* in the absence and presence of serum was expressed as a ratio relative to *G3PDH* because the expression level of this gene is constant, typical of a 'housekeeping' gene and serves as a control for the amount of cDNA obtained from each sample. The expression levels of cfos and c-jun for the various times of treatment was also standardized to the expression levels at 0h to establish a baseline level of expression for each culture. The level of c-fos and c-jun expression from four independent experiments are presented as individual graphs in Figure 9C and Figure 9D because the time of induction and maximal level of expression varied in each experiment, which did not permit an overall average of the of the data and a generalization for the time of induction of c-fos and c-jun in human neuron cultures following serum deprivation. The data presented in the graphs represents the mean of two trials within a given experiment.

In each of the four experiments there was an induction of c-fos expression following serum deprivation (Figure 9C.). The maximal increase of c-fos expression occurred after 6 hours of serum deprivation in experiments 1 and 3. Despite the coincident time of induction of c-fos expression in experiments 1 and 3, there was a 10-fold increase of c-fos in experiment 1 and a 2.5-fold increase in experiment 3. In experiment 2, the peak level of c-fos expression, a 4.5-fold increase, occurred after 12 hours of serum deprivation, while in experiment 4 a 10-fold increase occurred after 18 hours of serum deprivation.

In each of the four experiments there was also an induction of c-jun expression (Figure 9D.). In experiment 1 the level of c-jun expression appeared cyclic. The peak level of c-jun expression occurred after 6 hours of serum deprivation, which was followed by a decline at the 12h time point and a subsequent increase in expression at the 24h time point. The maximal level of c-jun expression was an 8-fold increase in experiment 1. Experiment 3 showed a 5-fold maximal increase in c-jun after 6 hours of serum deprivation, while experiment 2 showed a 12-fold increase after 12 hours of serum deprivation. In experiment 4 there was a steady increase in the level of c-jun expression following 6 hours of serum deprivation that peaked to a 5-fold increase by 24 hours of serum deprivation.

Within each experiment there was a coincident peak in the level of expression of c-fos and c-jun, but the maximal level of expression differed. In experiment 1 the peak level of c-fos and c-jun expression occurred after 6 hours of serum deprivation with a 10-

fold increase for *c-fos* and a 8-fold increase for *c-jun*. Additionally, the expression pattern for *c-fos* was not cyclic. After 12 hours of serum deprivation, the levels of *c-fos* and *c-jun* peaked in experiment 2, with a 4.5-fold increase in *c-fos* and a12-fold increase in *c-jun*. In experiment 3 the level of expression for *c-fos* and *c-jun* peaked after 6 hours of serum deprivation, with a 2.5-fold increase in *c-fos* and a 5-fold increase in *c-jun*. The expression *c-fos* and *c-jun* in experiment 4 did not peak at the same time following serum withdrawal, however, the expression patterns showed a similar trend, with *c-fos* reaching a maximum level (10-fold increase) by 18 hours and *c-jun* reaching a 5-fold increase by 24 hours after serum deprivation.

Based on the data, there appears to be no trend as to whether neurons in culture are induced to express higher amounts of *c-fos* or *c-jun* transcripts following serum deprivation, given that in two of four experiments (Experiments 1 and 4) the maximum level of *c-fos* expression is greater than the maximum level of *c-jun* expression, while in the other two experiments (Experiments 2 and 3) the level of *c-jun* expression is greater than the level of *c-fos*. Furthermore, there is no consistent time of induction of the immediate early genes in neuron cultures, given that in two of four experiments the peak levels of expression occurred after 6 hours, while the other experiments the peak levels occurred at 12 and 18 hours after serum deprivation. The differences in the time and the level of expression of *c-fos* and *c-jun* can be attributed to the genetic differences between the cultures for each experiment, possibly the age of the fetal brain when it was cultured or differences in the cellular components of the neuronal subtypes in the cultures. However, it is clear that the expression of *c-fos* and *c-jun* was induced in neuron cultures deprived of serum, and it is important to note that neither the time in culture, the addition of fresh serum or the disturbance of feeding induced the expression of *c*-fos or *c*-jun in each of the four experiments (Figure 9C and 9D).

# Figure 9. - RT-PCR Analysis of Immediate Early Gene Expression in Serum Deprived Human Neuron Cultures

- A) Expression of *c-fos*, *c-jun* and *G3PDH* in human neuron cultures. Total RNA was extracted from neuron cultures deprived of serum containing media (- Serum) and cultures treated with serum containing media (+ Serum) for 0h, 6h, 12h, 18h and 24h. Following reverse transcription into cDNA, 1µl of cDNA from each sample was amplified by *c-fos*, *c-jun* and *G3PDH* specific primers by PCR for 20 and 30 cycles. The PCR products were separated by electrophoresis on a 1% agarose gel and visualized by ethidium bromide staining. The pattern of expression after 30 cycles of amplification is shown.. The arrowhead highlights the *c-jun* PCR product, while the asterisk marks a non-specific amplification product. No amplification was detectable after 20 cycles with EtBr.
- B) Restriction enzyme mapping to verify the identity of the PCR products. Lane 1- 633 bp PCR product of *c-fos*; Lane 2- 382 bp and 251 bp Xcm I restriction digest products of the 633 bp *c-fos* PCR product shown in lane 1; Lane 3- 409 bp PCR product of *c-jun*; Lane 4- 236 bp and 173 bp Xcm I restriction digest products of the 409 bp *c-jun* PCR product shown in lane 3; Lane 5- 570 bp PCR product of G3PDH; Lane 6- 366 bp, 106 bp and 98 bp Hind III restriction digest products of the G3PDH PCR product shown in lane 5. The arrowheads highlight the restriction digest products and the asterisk marks a non-specific PCR product.
- C) Quantitative analysis of c-fos expression in serum deprived human neuron cultures from four independent experiments. PCR products were transferred to nylon membrane and probed with c-fos and G3PDH specific <sup>32</sup>P-labeled DNA probes. Blots were exposed on phosphorimaging screens and the PCR products quantitated. A ratio of the level of c-fos expressed to the level of G3PDH expressed was calculated for each sample (- Serum and + Serum) at the corresponding time points to determine the level of c-fos expression relative to the level of G3PDH expression. The graphs show the ratio of the level of c-fos expression to the level of G3PDH expression normalized to the ratio of c-fos/G3PDH level of expression at the 0h time point and is expressed as a fold increase, and represents the mean of two trials in a given experiment.

D) Quantitative analysis of c-jun expression in serum deprived human neuron cultures from four independent experiments. PCR products were treated as described above. The graphs show the ratio of the level of c-jun expression to the level of G3PDH expression normalized to the ratio of c-jun/G3PDH level of expression at the 0h time point and is expressed as a fold increase, and represents the mean of two trials in a given experiment.



С



. |}



#### 5. Induction of c-Jun Protein During Neuronal Cell Death

To investigate the expression pattern of c-Fos and c-Jun during apoptosis in human neurons, nuclear extracts were prepared from cultures treated in the absence of serum containing media for various periods of time (0h, 6h, 12h, 18h, 24h) following 11 days of culture in the presence of serum. Nuclear extracts were also prepared from neurons cultured for 11 days and treated in the presence of serum for 0h, 6h, 12h, 18h, and 24h. The concentration of protein in each of the samples was quantitated by a BCA colourmetric assay and spectrophotometry. Fifty  $\mu$ g of protein extract from each sample was separated in parallel with 10  $\mu$ g of nuclear extract prepared from phorbol ester induced HeLa cells by SDS-PAGE. Following transfer, blots were probed with polyclonal anti-c-Jun antibodies and monoclonal anti-c -Fos antibodies.

C-Jun was clearly detected as a 39 kDa protein in the phorbol ester induced HeLa nuclear extract, but not in normal neuron cultures (Figure 10A.). The level of c-Jun increased significantly in neuron cultures deprived of serum (Figure 10A., - SERUM) compared to those treated in the presence of serum (Figure 10A., + SERUM) to a maximum 3.5-fold after 18 hours of serum deprivation, and decreasing to normal levels by 24 hours. The increase in c-Jun began 6h following serum withdrawal and peaked at 18h, decreasing thereafter to initial levels by 24h (Figure 10C.). This increase was accompanied with an apparent change in the mobility of c-Jun (Figure 10A., - SERUM, arrow) as previously observed for activated and phosphorylated c-Jun (Ham et al., 1995). There was another strong lower molecular weight cross-reacting species detected by the c-Jun antibody in each of the neuronal samples, but not in the HeLa nuclear extracts. The identity of this band is not clear at this time (Figure 10A., - SERUM, asterisk). Induction of c-Jun and a change in its mobility did not occur in neurons treated in the presence of serum (Figure 10B., + SERUM).

The expected 62 kDa protein for c-Fos was not detected in any of the samples treated in the absence or presence of serum, while only a weak signal was detected in the phorbol ester induced HeLa nuclear extract (Figure 10B.). Two additional antibodies specific for c-Fos, a monoclonal and a polyclonal, were utilized and failed to show c-Fos induction following serum deprivation.

# Figure 10. - Western Blot Analysis Showing the Induction of c-Jun Protein in Serum Deprived Human Neuron Cultures

Nuclear extracts were prepared from neuron cultures deprived of serum and control (serum fed) cultures for 0h, 6h, 12h, 18h and 24h. Fifty  $\mu$ g of nuclear extract was separated by SDS-PAGE in parallel with 10  $\mu$ g of nuclear extract prepared from phorbol ester induced HeLa cells. After transfer, the blots were probed with a polyclonal anti-c-Jun antibody and a monoclonal anti-c-Fos antibody.

A) A 39 kDa band corresponding to c-Jun was detected in the phorbol ester induced HeLa nuclear extract lane. Notice the appearance of a band corresponding to c-Jun by 6h of serum deprivation, followed by an increase in intensity and shift in mobility of the band by 18h of serum deprivation. No appearance of c-Jun is apparent in the control (serum fed) cultures. The asterisk marks a nonspecific band detected by the anti-c-Jun antibody.

**B)** A 62 kDa band corresponding to c-Fos was faintly detected in the phorbol ester induced HeLa nuclear extract lane. The presence of c-Fos protein was not detected in the serum deprived and serum fed cultures.

C) Quantitative analysis of c-Jun expression in serum deprived neuron cultures. The bands corresponding to c-Jun and phospho-c-Jun (arrow) were quantitated as a whole by densitometer. The data shows the fold increase in the level of c-Jun expression at the respective times of serum deprivation relative to 0h in a single experiment.





#### 6. Expression of Amyloid Precursor Protein During Neuronal Cell Death

The APP promoter contains AP-1 binding sites which are under the control of c-Fos and c-Jun (Trejo et al., 1994). To determine if the induction of the c-fos and c-jun influenced the expression of APP, whole cell extracts were prepared from neurons cultured for 11 days in the presence of serum and treated in the absence of serum for 0h, 6h, 12h, 18h, 24h, 36h and 48h. Extracts were not prepared from cultures treated in the presence of serum because the addition of fresh serum and the disturbance of changing the media did not have an effect on the expression of *c-fos* and *c-jun* as previously shown. Equal amounts of protein were not separated because sample sizes were small and the extract was harvested in a small volume such that conventional protein assays could not accurately determine the protein content in the samples. Instead, equal volumes of each extract was separated by SDS-PAGE since cells are prevented from lifting and floating away by the network of neurites and neuronal loss in cultures is not significant until 72 hours of serum deprivation (LeBlanc, 1995). After the proteins were transferred to nylon membranes, separate blots were probed with polyclonal anti-APP (anti-A1,4) and monoclonal anti-A $\beta_{1-16}$  (6E10) antibody for APP. APP appears as a condensed group of bands at 97 kDa representing the APP<sub>695</sub> isoform (Figure 11A.). The level of APP expression at each time point for all the APP isoforms was guantitated by densitometer and expressed as a fold increase relative to the level of expression at 0h (Figure 11B.). Based on three independent cultures tested with the 6E10 and anti-A1,4 antibodies, there was a slight 1.5-fold increase in APP levels after 18 hours of serum deprivation that decreased slightly by 48 hours. However, no statistically significant changes in the level of APP expression were determined.

# Figure 11. - Western Blot Analysis of APP Expression in Serum Deprived Human Neuron Cultures

A) Whole cell extracts were prepared from neuron cultures deprived of serum for 0h, 6h, 12h, 18h, 24h, 36h and 48h and equal volumes (12  $\mu$ l, representative of 3.6 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells) of the extracts were separated by SDS-PAGE. After transfer, blots from three independent cultures were separately probed for APP with polyclonal anti-APP (anti-A1,4) antibody and monoclonal anti-A $\beta_{1-16}$  (6E10) antibody. APP appears as dense group of bands, representing the different isoforms of APP, at 97 kDa (arrowhead).

B) Quantitative analysis of APP expression in serum deprived neuron cultures. The entire group of bands at 97 kDa on the blots were quantitated by densitometer. The data shows the fold increase in the level of APP expression at the respective times of serum deprivation relative to 0h. The data represents the mean and standard error of three independent cultures. No statistically significant changes in the level of APP expression were detected.







## 7. Cytoskeletal Protein Degradation During Neuronal Cell Death

Serum deprivation induces apoptosis in human neurons and results in the formation of dystrophic neurites and alterations in the neuronal cell body, which is evident from tau immunostaining shown in Figure 7C. To determine if neuronal cytoskeletal proteins undergo changes in expression levels and/or proteolytic degradation during apoptosis, the level of expression and the presence of degradation products of tau, tubulin and vimentin was assessed by Western blots. Whole cell extracts were prepared from neurons cultured for 11 days in the presence of serum and subsequently deprived of serum containing media for 0h, 6h, 12h, 18h, 24h, 36h and 48h. Extracts were not prepared from cultures treated in the presence of serum because as previously shown. cultures treated in the presence of serum for 48h do not undergo apoptosis. Equal volumes of protein extracts were separated by SDS-PAGE and transferred to nylon membranes. Blots were probed with polyclonal anti-tau antibody, polyclonal anti-tubulin antibody and monoclonal anti-vimentin antibody. The level of expression of each protein at each time point was quantitated by densitometer and expressed as a fold increase relative to the level of expression at 0h. As expected, fetal tau is detected as one band at 54 kDa (Figure 12A., arrowhead). The additional band at approximately 80 kDa may represent the known cross-reactivity of this polyclonal anti-tau antibody to MAP2 (Dr. H. Paudel, personal communication). We observed additional bands of 48-50 kDa at 36 and 48 hours of serum deprivation, possibly the result of proteolytic degradation of tau (Figure 12A., arrow). In three of four independent cultures, degradation products of tau were detected, however, the time following serum withdrawal in which these degradation products appeared varied, some appearing as early as 12h in two experiments. In contrast, no degradation products of tubulin (56 kDa) and vimentin (58 kDa) were detected (Figure 7B. and 7C.).

In addition, the expression level of tau increased following serum deprivation. By 18h of serum deprivation there was a statistically significant increase in the level of tau, which continued to a maximal two-fold increase by 48h (Figure 7A.; p < 0.1). There was a slight 1.5-fold, but not a statistically significant increase in the levels of tubulin and vimentin expression (Figure 12B. and 12C.).

# Figure 12. - Western Blot Analysis of Cytoskeletal Proteins in Serum Deprived Human Neuron Cultures

Whole cell extracts were prepared from neuron cultures deprived of serum for 0h, 6h, 12h, 18h, 24h, 36h and 48h and equal volumes (6  $\mu$ l, representative of 1.8 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells) of the extracts were separated by SDS-PAGE. After transfer, blots were probed with polyclonal anti-tau antibody, polyclonal anti-Tubulin antibody and monoclonal anti-vimentin antibody. A) Fetal tau is detected as a 54 kDa band (arrowhead). The arrow marks the appearance of degradation products. B) Tubulin is detected as a 53 kDa band, while vimentin (C) is detected as a 55kDa band. The graphs represent the level of protein expression at the respective times of serum deprivation relative to the protein level at 0h in (A, B, C) as determined by densitometer. The data represents the mean and standard error of four independent cultures. Statistically significant changes in the level of protein expression are marked by asterisks (p < 0.1).



### 8. Expression of Neuron-Specific Proteins During Neuronal Cell Death

The neuron-specific proteins Gap-43 and synaptophysin undergo changes in expression during the pathogenesis of AD (Masliah and Terry, 1993), in which apoptosis is suspected to be the mode cell death (reviewed by Cotman, 1994; reviewed by Johnson, 1994). The expression levels of Gap-43 and synaptophysin neuron cultures during apoptosis were analyzed by Western blots. Whole cell extracts were prepared as described in the section assessing cytoskeletal proteins. Equal volumes of the extracts were separated by SDS-PAGE and gels were stained by Coomassie blue to show equal loading and consistency in the protein content in the cultures over the time course of treatment. Following transfer, blots were probed with monoclonal anti-Gap-43 antibody and monoclonal anti-synaptophysin protein. As shown in Figure 13A., there was equal loading of the amount of protein for each time point and the total protein content remained consistent throughout the time course of serum deprivation. There was a significant decrease in the expression level of Gap-43 by 6h of serum deprivation which was followed by a continuous and statistically significant increase in the expression level that reached a maximal 3-fold increase by 36h (Figure 13B., p < 0.1). The expression of synaptophysin showed a statistically significant decrease by 12h of serum deprivation, and continued to decline to 90% of starting levels by 48h of serum deprivation (Figure 13C., p < 0.1).

# Figure 13. - Western Blot Analysis of Neuron-Specific Proteins in Serum Deprived Human Neuron Cultures

Whole cell extracts were prepared from neuron cultures deprived of serum for 0h, 6h, 12h, 18h, 24h, 36h and 48h and equal volumes ( $6\mu$ l, representative of 1.8 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells) of the extracts were separated by SDS-PAGE. Total protein content is shown by Coomassie blue staining (A). After transfer, blots were probed with monoclonal anti-Gap-43 antibody to detect a 53kDa protein (B) and monoclonal anti-synaptophysin antibody to detect a 38kDa protein (C, arrowhead). Graphs represent the protein levels at each time of serum deprivation as quantitated by densitometer, and is expressed relative to the protein level at 0h. Statistically significant changes in protein levels are marked by asterisks. The data represents the mean and standard error of four independent cultures.





### **IV Discussion**

#### 1. Primary Human Neurons as a Model of Neuronal Apoptosis

Presently, the majority of systems used to define the molecular mechanisms of neuronal apoptosis utilize neuronal cell lines or primary rodent neuron cultures. While these systems offer the advantages of unlimited cell numbers, synchronicity and a uniform genetic background, the information gained from these models may not be entirely relevant to the pathogenesis of human neurodegenerative diseases. However, it appears that key players of the apoptotic pathway have been conserved, thus, these models serve as a basis of comparison and provide a good starting point to identify the proteins involved in human models of apoptosis. The following study, based on a unique system of primary human neuron cultures, provides novel information regarding the molecular processes of apoptotic cell death in human neurons.

### 1.1 Apoptosis in Primary Human CNS Neurons

For the purposes of the present study it was necessary for us to establish primary human neuron cultures and successfully induce apoptosis by serum withdrawal. Phase contrast and immunofluorescence analysis show we successfully established healthy and viable primary human neuron cultures from fetal brain tissue, consisting primarily of neurons (~90%) and a small population of astrocytes (~10%). Propidium iodide staining of nuclei and fluorescence microscopy allowed us to clearly identify and differentiate between apoptotic and normal neurons following serum deprivation based on morphological changes, such as chromatin condensation and nuclear fragmentation, that are typical of apoptotic cells (reviewed by Bredesen, 1995). Furthermore, we identified, by phase contrast analysis of the neurons and immunofluorescence of tau immunostaining, that changes in the neurites and the cytoskeleton occurred in the dving neurons. Clearly, the neurites became dystrophic, showed beading and degeneration, and the distribution of tau became irregular and non-uniform in the cell bodies and neurites of the neurons. Although the gross identification of DNA fragmentation, determined by the visualization of a DNA ladder, was negative in the present study (data not shown), a previous study by LeBlanc (1995) has shown that primary human neuron cultures exhibit

DNA laddering following 12 hours of serum withdrawal. The difference in the observations between the two studies may have been due to the techniques used. Following DNA extraction, the DNA was separated by agarose gel electrophoresis and stained with ethidium bromide in the present study, whereas the study by LeBlanc (1995) employed a more sensitive method of end-labeling the fragmented DNA with <sup>32</sup>P-dCTP to visualize the DNA ladder by autoradiography. However, TUNEL staining revealed DNA fragmentation at the single cell level in the present study. Therefore, the two methods employed in the present study, PI and TUNEL staining, confirmed that neurons underwent apoptotic cell death following serum deprivation.

We quantitated the level of apoptosis in our cultures following various periods of serum withdrawal. In conjunction with TUNEL staining, we observed a statistically significant increase in the number of apoptotic cells by 12 hours of serum deprivation, a 5-fold increase by 24 hours and a 15-fold increase in the number of apoptotic cells by 48 hours of serum deprivation, whereas serum-fed, sister neuron cultures did not exhibit an increase in the number of apoptotic cells. These results are in agreement with other studies in which increasing periods of NGF deprivation results in an increase in the level of apoptosis in rodent sympathetic cervical ganglion (SCG) neuron cultures (Deckwerth and Johnson, 1993; Edwards and Tolkovsky, 1994; LeBlanc, 1995).

After determining that increasing periods of serum withdrawal induced quantifiable levels of apoptosis in our cultures, we proceeded to determine the time frame in which our neurons lost the ability to respond to the readdition of serum with long term survival and became committed to die by apoptosis. Completing this aspect of our study allowed us to correlate gene and protein expression associated with the time course of apoptosis in our system, and will be discussed in the following sections. We observed that, beyond 6 hours of serum deprivation, neurons could not be rescued from undergoing apoptosis by the reintroduction of serum, since the quantitative levels of apoptotic cells in the serum starved cultures began to diverge from the sister, serum fed control cultures. However, the difference was not statistically significant. The difference was appreciable by 12 hours, but did not reach statistically significant levels until 18

hours of serum deprivation (Figure 3.). Based on these results, we believe that primary human neuron cultures become committed to apoptosis by 18 hours of serum deprivation.

The commitment time point to apoptosis in primary human neuron cultures is similar to the commitment time point determined in other neuronal systems. Studies of SCG neurons has revealed that these neurons become committed to apoptotic cell death by 17-18 hours of NGF withdrawal (Deckwerth and Johnson, 1993; Edwards and Tolkovsky, 1994). Neuron-like PC12 cells commit to apoptotic cell death following 14 hours of NGF withdrawal. Neurons in these systems display the classic morphological features of apoptotic neurons, condensed chromatin, fragmented nuclei and degenerating neuritic processes, obtained with continued NGF deprivation beyond the commitment time point (Deckwerth and Johnson, 1993; Edwards and Tolkovsky, 1994; Pittman et al., 1993). The similarities in the commitment time points among the different studies suggests that human neurons and other mammalian neurons may share a common pathway of apoptosis activation, and that the underlying molecular mechanisms acting in the apoptotic pathway may have been conserved among different species.

In the commitment experiment, we observed an average decline in the number of apoptotic cells at the 24h (36h total time of treatment) in comparison to the 18h (30h total time of treatment) time point of serum withdrawal. On average, we expected the level of apoptosis to increase with longer periods of serum withdrawal once the neurons had become committed to die, such that the curve (- Serum; Serum reintroduced for 12h) shown in Figure 3 would be linear. It is unlikely the lower average level of apoptosis at the 24h (36h total time of treatment) was due to an under estimation of the number of apoptotic cells; a result of an absolute decrease in the number of cells on the coverslips in different experiments, since dying cells are prevented from lifting and floating away by the network of neurites and neuronal loss does not become significant until 72 hours of serum deprivation (LeBlanc, 1995). Also, the quantitative analysis of apoptosis by TUNEL (Figure 2D) showed that the level of apoptosis did linearly increase with longer periods of serum deprivation. Most importantly, the difference in the levels of apoptosis between the 24h (36h total time of treatment) and the 18h (30h total time of treatment) was not statistically significant. Therefore, our results are still valid.

#### 1.2 Immediate Early Gene Expression During Apoptosis

We have used RT-PCR to study the pattern of transcriptional expression of c-jun and *c-fos* in human neurons undergoing apoptosis. In four independent experiments, we have clearly shown there was an induction in the expression of *c-fos* and *c-jun* during apoptosis. Although there was largely a coincident time for the peak level of induction of c-fos and c-jun within a given experiment following serum withdrawal, the time of induction between different experiments varied. The peak levels of c-fos and c-jun induction occurred after 6h in experiments 1 and 3, 12h in experiment 2, and 18h for cfos and 12h for c-jun in experiment 4. Also, the pattern of c-jun expression in experiment 1 appeared cyclic. Additionally, the magnitude (fold-increase in mRNA) levels) of *c-fos* and *c-jun* induction varied within and between different experiments. These variations did not allow us to average the data and provide an overall summation for the time of *c*-fos and *c*-jun induction in primary human neurons undergoing apoptosis. Variations were unlikely to have arisen from differences in cell numbers in each culture, the RT-PCR reaction or the quantitative analysis since the number of cells harvested, the amount of input RNA into the cDNA synthesis reaction, the amount of input cDNA into the PCR reaction were carefully controlled and fixed for each experiment, while the quantitation of *c*-fos and *c*-jun expression was corrected to an internal control (G3PDH). However, a major limitation in the use of primary human neurons is the lack of experimental control over the genetic differences between each culture. Control of the genetic differences cannot be achieved because every individual fetal brain, from which the cells were cultured, had a different genetic background. Thus, the variability in our data has to be considered as a reflection of the inherent genetic heterogeneity between cultures. Nonetheless, our findings are significant and we may compare them to those of Estus et al. (1994), who examined IEG expression in SCG neurons undergoing NGF deprivation-induced apoptosis.

Similar to our study, Estus et al. (1994) reported an induction of *c-fos* and *c-jun* in SCG neurons undergoing apoptosis. However, with the exception of experiment 4, *c-fos* expression was induced and reached peak levels earlier (by as much as 9h in

experiments 1 and 3) in our primary human neuron cultures in comparison to SCG neurons undergoing apoptosis. Estus et al. (1994) observed an induction of c-fos beginning after 10h, reaching a maximal level of expression by 15h, and subsequently returning to normal levels by 25h of NGF withdrawal. In comparison to the pattern of cfos expression in SCG neurons, the induction and peak level of c-fos expression occurred later and did not decline in experiment 4 of our studies. The pattern of *c-jun* expression in each of the four experiments of our study was distinctly different to the pattern of expression for *c-jun* in SCG neurons. Estus et al. (1994) observed *c-jun* induction beginning after 5h, reaching the same maximal level as c-fos by 15h, and decreasing to above normal levels by 25h of NGF deprivation. In experiments 1 and 3 of our studies, cjun induction and the maximal level of expression occurred much earlier in comparison to c-jun expression in SCG neurons. In experiment 2, c-jun expression was induced later. but reached a peak level of expression earlier, while the pattern of *c-jun* expression in experiment 4 was entirely different in comparison to SCG neurons. It is difficult to ascertain whether the differences in the patterns of *c-fos* and *c-jun* expression in primary human neurons in comparison to SCG neurons undergoing apoptosis are truly different when one considers that the data presented by Estus et al. (1994) is based only on a single preparation of neuronal cultures. Even though the researchers state each gene induction was confirmed in a least two experiments, this does not exclude the possibility that these researchers observed the same variations in *c-fos* and *c-jun* expression as we did in our studies, since their graphical representation of c-fos and c-jun expression is not based on the mean from several independent experiments (Estus et al., 1994). Even so, Estus et al. (1994) have shown that the induction of *c-fos* and *c-jun* preceded the commitment time point, and through the injection of c-Jun neutralizing antibodies, demonstrated that the expression of *c-jun* was required for apoptosis to occur in SCG neuron cultures deprived of NGF. Since *c-fos* and *c-jun* expression was activated and preceded the commitment time point in our primary human neuron cultures similar to SCG neurons, then it is reasonable to infer that the expression of *c*-fos and *c*-jun may play a role in the apoptotic pathway of human neurons.

We proceeded to determine if the increase in transcription of *c-fos* and *c-jun* resulted in an increase in c-Fos and c-Jun protein levels. Through immunoblotting we were anticipating to find a correlated increase in the protein levels of c-Fos and c-Jun following the transcription of the mRNA. Using an immunocytochemical approach we hoped to identify a colocalization of c-Fos and c-Jun with apoptotic cells. Positive results from these experiments would support the involvement of the IEG in apoptosis in human neurons.

We did not detect an induction of c-Fos protein levels or a colocalization of c-Fos immunoreactivity with apoptotic cells. Numerous immunoblotting experiments carried out with whole cell extracts from four neuron cultures and nuclear extracts from three neuron cultures, utilizing two different lots of the same monoclonal antibody and one polyclonal antibody specific for c-Fos, failed to yield a c-Fos specific signal, and only weak signals in two different positive controls (phorbol ester induced Jurkat cell extracts and HeLa nuclear extracts). There was also an absence of c-Fos immunoreactivity from immunocytochemistry experiments. Although an increase in c-fos mRNA was detected in SCG neurons undergoing apoptosis (Estus et al., 1994), it was not translated into protein, since Ham et al. (1995) did not detect c-Fos by immunoblotting in dving SCG neurons. Furthermore, Ham et al. (1995) observed c-Fos immunoreactivity only in a subpopulation (<1%) of dying cells. Similarly, Messina et al. (1996) reported only a minor proportion of sympathetic neurons undergoing developmental apoptosis were positive for c-Fos immunoreactivity. Based on these studies and our findings, we believe that poor antibody quality contributed to the complete lack of c-Fos detection and the increase in c-fos mRNA may not have been translated into c-Fos protein in dying human neurons.

We were unable to detect a colocalization of c-Jun immunoreactivity with apoptotic cells in several attempts with samples from three neuron cultures. However, were able to detect a c-Jun specific signal in nuclear extract preparations from one neuron culture. Protein levels of c-Jun began to increase by 6h and reached maximal levels by 18h of serum deprivation, coincident with the commitment time point. Also, an apparent change in the mobility of c-Jun occurred, beginning at about 6h of serum

deprivation. This change in mobility has previously been correlated with phosphorylation of the c-Jun transactivation domain by Jun kinases (Pulverer et al., 1991; Kyriakis et al., 1994) that are activated by various stimuli including cellular stress (Davis, 1994). Since phosphorylated c-Jun autoregulates its own expression by activating transcription of the *c-iun* gene itself (Angel et al., 1988; Pulverer et al., 1991; Smeal et al., 1991: Karin et al., 1994), it is plausible that serum deprivation, a form of cellular stress, activated Jun kinases that phosphorylated c-Jun, which increased the transcription of cjun and c-Jun protein levels in our human neuron cultures during apoptosis. Our findings are consistent with those of Ham et al. (1995), who confirmed and extended the results of Estus et al. (1994) in SCG neurons. Harn et al. (1995) observed changes in the protein level and phosphorylation state of c-Jun that preceded the commitment time point, and showed that changes in the mRNA level of *c-jun* observed by Estus et al. (1994) actually resulted in changes in c-Jun protein levels in SCG neurons undergoing apoptosis. Furthermore, Ham et al. (1995) demonstrated by the overexpression of c-Jun and through a transactivation-defective c-Jun dominant negative mutant that c-Jun was essential for apoptosis to occur in SCG neurons. Due to the similarities between our studies and to those of Ham et al. (1995), and the possibility that mechanisms of neuronal apoptosis may have been conserved among mammals, we suggest that c-Jun likely plays a role in the activation of apoptosis in human neurons.

The findings of our study only correlate the involvement of c-Jun in the apoptotic process of human neurons. Several studies are required to confirm a direct relationship between c-Jun and apoptosis in human neurons, but were unfortunately beyond the scope of the present study: 1) performing peptide competition assays to confirm the specificity of the c-Jun antibody and continue studies to identify a colocalization of c-Jun and apoptotic cells; 2) metabolically labeling neurons with <sup>35</sup>S-methionine and immunoprecipitating with c-Jun antibodies to show that c-Jun is phosphorylated during apoptosis induction; 3) injecting neutralizing antibodies specific for c-Jun or transfecting anti-sense oligonucleotides to *c-jun* mRNA or injecting a dominant negative c-Jun mutant and determining whether these methods prevents serum deprivation-induced apoptosis in primary human neuron cultures.

The formation and activity of the AP-1 complex is not inhibited by the absence of c-Fos expression since the AP-1 complex can consist of Fos/Jun heterodimers or Jun/Jun homodimers (reviewed by Angel and Karin, 1991). Thus, there several possible functions of c-Jun in dying human neurons. For example, we postulate the expression of c-Jun could possibly: 1) activate the transcription of target genes whose protein products are triggers or effectors of the cell death program, such as the Bcl-2 or ICE family of proteins; 2) activate genes involved with cell proliferation, like cyclin D1, and cause post-mitotic neurons to undergo 'abortive mitosis' (Freeman et al., 1994); 3) activate a regenerative mechanism or 4) activate the transcription of a target gene whose protein product could potentiate neuronal cell death and degeneration.

### 1.3 The Effect of AP-1 on APP Expression During Apoptosis

Previous studies by LeBlanc (1995) showed that serum deprived primary human neuron cultures increased production of AB. We set out to determine whether APP would be a target gene for AP-1 during apoptosis. We observed an increase in the level of APP beginning after 12h and reaching a maximum 1.5-fold increase by 18h of serum deprivation. The increase in APP occurred shortly after the increase in c-Jun and expression of both proteins reached maximal levels by 18h of serum deprivation. Thus, it appears that the expression of APP was regulated by the expression of c-Jun. However, the increase in APP was not statistically significant due to variations between different cultures, and therefore, we cannot conclusively state that the increase in c-Jun resulted in a correlated increase in APP. Several studies could determine if c-Jun has a causal effect on the expression of APP. For example, gel-shift assays, utilizing a nucleotide construct that contains the APP promoter region and nuclear extracts of apoptotic neurons from various times of serum deprivation, would verify if AP-1 from human neurons binds to the AP-1 consensus sequences in the APP promoter. Secondly, functional assays, such as chloramphenicol acetyl transferase (CAT) or luciferase assays, would determine if the nuclear extracts from apoptotic neurons could activate the transcription of a reporter gene under the control of the APP promoter.

The findings from the present study extend those of LeBlanc (1995), who observed a two-fold decrease in the metabolism of APP through the non-amyloidogenic pathway. The study by LeBlanc (1995) was only conducted after 12 hours of serum deprivation and did not assess the possibility of AP-1 action on the expression of APP and consequent effect on the increase in A $\beta$  production. The present study has shown over a time course of serum deprivation-induced apoptosis that the level of APP does not decrease below initial levels or significantly increases in dying neurons. Thus, we speculate that an increase in A $\beta$  production would not result from the normal metabolism of a larger pool of APP, but from a decrease in the metabolism of consistent levels of APP through the non-amyloidogenic pathway in neurons during apoptosis. Future studies analyzing the metabolism of APP through the different pathways over time course of serum deprivation will further define the mechanism(s) responsible for increased A $\beta$  production during apoptosis in human neurons.

In summary, we have been able to induce and characterize apoptosis in primary human neuron cultures. Contrary to our hypothesis, it does not appear that the expression of c-Jun induces the expression of APP in dying neurons, but further studies are required to confirm this finding. Nonetheless, we have determined that the expression of *c-fos* and *c-jun*, and *c-Jun* occurs in primary human neurons preceding the commitment to apoptosis. Because of the similarities in the molecular events during the induction of apoptosis between rodent neuron cultures, in which the expression *c-Jun* has been shown to be essential apoptosis to occur, and our human neuron cultures, we believe the expression of *c-Jun* is likely involved in the activation of apoptosis in human neurons. Based on the present study we have established that primary human neurons cultures are a good model of neuronal apoptosis. Moreover, because they involve human cells, primary human neurons are more relevant to address the role of apoptosis in AD than other mammalian neuron culture models.

#### 2. Primary Human Neurons as an In Vitro Model of AD

#### 2.1 Expression of c-Fos and c-Jun In Vivo

The expression of c-Fos and c-Jun has been observed to be associated with apoptotic cell death in vivo (Smeyne et al., 1993; reviewed by Dragunow and Preston, 1995; Messina et al., 1996). The localization of c-Fos and c-Jun immunoreactivity (Zhang et al., 1991; Anderson et al., 1994) to the same regions of the AD brain where DNA fragmentation has been detected (Su et al., 1994; Smale et al., 1995; Lassman et al., 1995) has led to speculation of a relationship between IEG expression and neuronal cell death in AD. However, in vitro (Estus et al., 1994; Ham et al., 1995) and in vivo evidence; c-Jun is colocalized with apoptotic cells in the AD brain (Anderson et al., 1996), suggest it is c-Jun that mediates neuronal cell death during the pathogenesis of AD. Therefore, it is postulated that the expression of c-Fos in vivo may have no causal relationship to neuronal apoptosis, but merely a reflection of altered signal transduction mechanisms or a coincidental response to cellular stress (Smeyne et al., 1993). The lack of c-Fos expression and the induction of c-Jun in our neuron cultures dying by apoptosis is consistent with this hypothesis. Altered signal transduction mechanisms during the induction of apoptosis and the possible hyperactivation of signal transduction systems in AD relating to protein kinase C (PKC) (Masliah et al., 1991c), known to regulate the activity of c-Jun (reviewed by Angel and Karin, 1991), are important points of consideration in the following sections.

#### 2.2 The Effect of Apoptosis on Tau

Since apoptosis causes alterations in the cytoskeleton and alterations in the neuronal cytoskeleton result in the neurofibrillary lesions in AD, we proceeded to assess the expression levels and intactness of tau, tubulin and vimentin in our neuron cultures undergoing apoptosis. By phase contrast and immunofluorescence microscopy of tau immunostaining we found that untreated neurons maintained their neurite integrity and a strong localization of tau in the axons, similar to the localization of tau in the normal brain. In contrast, the neurites of the serum deprived neurons became dystrophic, displayed beading, and tau became diffusely localized in the cell bodies of the

degenerating neurons. Similarly, tau is found in the cell bodies and the dendrites of affected neurons in the AD brain (Kosik et al., 1989). Thus, it appears that primary human neurons dying by apoptosis undergo changes in the localization of tau like the neurons in AD.

During the time course of serum deprivation-induced apoptosis the expression levels of tau increased almost two-fold by 48h. A recent study by Sadot et al. (1996) has isolated tau promoter sequences and characterized the regulation of tau expression in NGF stimulated PC12 cells. NGF stimulation has been shown to activate the IEGs in PC12 cells (Bartel et al., 1989). Sadot et al. (1996) propose the IEGs may have an effect on the tau promoter activity. With this in mind, we propose that the increase in tau protein levels was the result of transcriptional activation of the tau gene by c-Jun in our A hypothesized consequence of the elevated expression of tau is the cultures. accumulation of tau inside the axons, possibly resulting in the abnormal phosphorylation of tau and PHF formation (Gotz et al., 1995) that would destabilize the microtubule structures and cause the degeneration of the nerve cell. Similar to overexpression of tau in our cultures is the observation that the level of abnormally phosphorylated tau is elevated by eight-fold in the AD brain (Khatoon et al., 1992). Thus, the overexpression of tau in our degenerating neurons parallel the changes in the neurons of the AD brain. Identifying an increase in the phosphorylation state of the overexpressed tau in serum deprived neuron cultures would lend further support to the notion that tau undergoes changes during apoptosis which are similar to those during AD pathogenesis.

In addition, we observed the appearance of degradation products of tau over the time course of apoptosis. Although the time of appearance varied, degradation products were detected in three of four independent cultures undergoing apoptosis. Recently, Bossy-Wetzel et al. (1997) have shown that the expression and activation of c-Jun induces apoptosis and activates a caspase that cleaves of  $\alpha$ -fodrin, a substrate of the caspase family. Additionally, Goldberg et al. (1996) identified the protein huntingtin as a substrate of apopain, a caspase, and provided further support to the role apoptosis plays in the development of Huntington's disease. Moreover, based on the amino acid sequence of human tau (Goedert et al., 1989), we have identified two potential caspase

cleavage sites in the N-terminal region of tau. A possible CPP32/apopain cleavage site is located between amino acids 22-25, Asp-Arg-Lys-Asp; the consensus cleavage site for apopain is Asp-X-X-Asp (Nicholson et al., 1995), and a possible cleavage site for a caspase similar to ICE is located between amino acids 146-148, Gly-Ala-Asp-Gly, and is very similar to one of the two ICE cleavage sites (Glu-Val-Asp-Gly) in pro-interleukin-1- $\beta$  (Lazebnik et al., 1994). Cleavage at either or both of these sites would produce a tau protein between 45-50 kDa, similar in size to the degradation products we observed in our studies. In light of these findings, we speculate that an unidentified caspase is activated through c-Jun mediated pathways and cleaves tau during apoptosis in human neurons. Because cleavage products have been identified as a component of NFTs (Bondareff et al., 1990), we propose that a similar mechanism occurs during the development of neurofibrillary lesions in AD. It is known some cell death processes are cell type specific, thus, activation of the proposed mechanism of NFT development could occur in the hippocampal neurons of the CA1 region of the brain, where neurofibrillary pathology commonly occurs. Based on the similar changes in tau that we observed in primary human neurons dying by apoptosis to changes in tau observed in the AD brain, we believe that apoptosis is likely a mechanism of neurodegeneration, which alters the cellular organization of tau and causes the development of the neurofibrillary pathology, in AD. Our model of neurofibrillary tangle development is summarized in Figure 14.

Several studies could be pursued to test our model. Immunoblot analysis of nuclear extracts for the cleavage of PARP, a death signature molecule which undergoes specific cleavage during apoptosis (Nicholson et al., 1995), could confirm the activation of a caspase during serum deprivation induced apoptosis in human neurons and determine whether this activation is coincident with the proteolysis of tau. We could also evaluate the effect of a cell permeable caspase inhibitor, like z-Val-Ala-Asp-fluoromethylketone for example, on serum deprived neuron cultures by determining whether the morphological changes characteristic of apoptosis, and the proteolysis of tau and PARP are inhibited. If activation of a caspase is confirmed, then cleavage inhibition studies utilizing extracts of chicken hepatoma cells committed to apoptosis (S/M extracts) (Lazebnik et al., 1994), *in vitro* translated [<sup>35</sup>S] labelled human tau and



Figure 14. - Proposed Model of Neurofibrillary Tangle Development

tetrapeptide aldehyde inhibitors, Ac-Asp-Glu-Val-Asp-CHO (a potent inhibitor of apopain) and Ac-Tyr-Val-Ala-Asp-CHO or CrmA (both potent inhibitors of ICE), would determine whether tau cleavage during serum deprivation induced apoptosis was due to a caspase with apopain-like or ICE-like activity in human neurons.

## 2.3 The Effect of Apoptosis on GAP-43 and Synaptophysin

We analyzed the expression levels of GAP-43 and synaptophysin in our dying neuron cultures because the expression of these two proteins is dramatically altered in the AD. We found the expression of GAP-43 increased three-fold in our cultures, indicating that not only were the neurons dying by apoptosis, but also attempting a regenerative response. Although the expression of the IEGs (reviewed by Dragunow and Preston, 1995) has been previously suggested to be associated with nerve regeneration, it does not appear that the expression of GAP-43 is regulated by this family of transcription factors. Numerous studies in the literature have characterized the GAP-43 promoter and its regulatory sequences, and at the present time, AP-1 consensus sequences have not been reported. Thus, it appears that the regenerative response is part of an uncharacterized pathway that leads to the expression of GAP-43 in apoptotic neurons.

A possible pathway involves PKC. We speculate that PKC activity is stimulated during apoptosis in neurons, which could increase GAP-43 protein levels, since PKC activity has been shown to increase GAP-43 mRNA levels by increasing the stability of the mRNA (Perrone-Bizzozero et al., 1993). Furthermore, PKC activation leads to the phosphorylation of GAP-43 (Chan et al., 1986), which stimulates GAP-43 activity (Strittmatter et al., 1991). Activation of a PKC-related pathway could also account for the c-Jun expression that we observed, since PKC activity can mediate c-Jun phosphorylation and is transactivation potential (reviewed by Angel and Karin, 1991); an event that we have discussed previously that could stimulate *c-jun* expression itself. Thus, we propose that a PKC-mediated pathway is activated during apoptosis in human neurons and via independent pathways, affects the activities of c-Jun and GAP-43. Therefore, determining the molecular events affecting PKC activation during apoptosis in human neurons is warranted.
We observed the expression levels of synaptophysin decreased to 90% of original levels by 48h of serum deprivation, indicating that the microcircuitry and synaptic transmission was likely to have been dramatically altered in neurons dying by apoptosis. The pathways regulating the expression of synaptophysin are unknown at the present time, but it is clear that the process of apoptosis affects the expression of synaptophysin, and likely, the function of synapses. Taken together, our results show that the synaptic pathology found in the AD is mimicked in primary human neuron cultures induced to undergo apoptosis.

In summary, given the changes in A $\beta$ , tau, GAP-43, and synaptophysin that occurred in primary human neurons undergoing apoptosis parallel changes for the same proteins in the AD brain, we believe, in light of the *PS-I/PS-II* and FAD-APP mutations capable of inducing apoptosis (Vito et al., 1996; Wolozin et al., 1996; Yamatsuji et al., 1996a; Yamatsuji et al., 1996b), our study substantiates the contention that apoptosis is likely the mechanism of neuronal cell death and degeneration in AD. Our findings are summarized in Figure 15.



- decreased levels of synaptophysin

- decreased synaptophysin immunoreactivity

Figure 15. - Similar Pathologies Between Apoptotic Neurons and the AD Brain

## **V** Conclusions

In conclusion, we have studied some of the molecular events that occur in primary human fetal neuron cultures undergoing apoptosis by serum deprivation. During apoptosis, the expression of c-fos and c-jun is induced at the mRNA level, and c-Jun at the protein level. Whether the expression of these immediate early genes is a necessary requirement for apoptosis to occur in human neurons in vitro and in vivo remains to be further elucidated. The expression of these immediate early genes does not apparently increase the level of APP expression. Thus, the increased production of AB previously observed in these cultures may not result from an overexpression of APP, but possibly from the aberrant metabolism of APP. Immunohistological analysis of tau clearly showed alterations in the neuronal cytoskeleton during apoptosis. Furthermore. degradation products and an increase in the expression of tau were observed. These results indicate that tau is a target of cytoskeletal alterations during apoptosis in human neurons, and suggest that the degeneration of the cytoskeleton during the pathogenesis of AD may be caused by apoptosis. The increase in the levels of GAP-43 and the decrease in the levels of synaptophysin during apoptosis in primary human neuron cultures parallels the synaptic pathology observed in the AD brain. Taken together, the observations from this study demonstrate that cultured human neurons induced to undergo apoptosis can develop features similar to those found in the AD brain, and substantiate the validity of human primary neuron cultures as an in vitro model of human CNS neuronal cell death.

## References

Alnemri, E. S., Livingston, D. J., Nicholson, D. W., Salvesen, G., Thornberry, N. A., Wong, W. W., and Yuan, J. (1996) Human ICE/CED-3 protease nomenclature. Cell 87:171.

Alonso, A. D. C., Grundke-Iqbal, I., and Iqbal, K. (1996) Alzheimer's disease hyperphosphorylated tau sequesters normal tau into tangles of filaments and disassembles microtubules. Nature Med. 2(7):783-787.

Anderson, A. J., Cummings, B. J., and Cotman, C. W. (1994) Increased immunoreactivity for Jun- and Fos-related proteins in Alzheimer's disease: association with pathology. Exp. Neurol. 125:286-295.

Anderson, A. J., Pike, C. J., and Cotman, C. W. (1995) Differential induction of IEGs in response to A $\beta$  peptides in cultured neurons: association between c-Jun immunoreactivity A $\beta$  mediated apoptosis. J. Neurochem. 65:1487-1498.

Anderson, A. J., Su, J. H., and Cotman, C. W. (1996) DNA damage and apoptosis in Alzheimer's disease: colocalization with c-Jun immunoreactivity, relationship to brain area, and effect of postmortem delay. J. Neurosci. 16(5):1710-1719.

Angel, P., Hattori, K., Smeal, T., and Karin, M. (1988) The *jun* protooncogene is positively autoregulated by its product, Jun/AP-1. Cell 55:875-885.

Angel, P., and Karin, M. (1991) The role of Jun, Fos, and the AP-1 complex in cell proliferation and transformation. Biochim. et Biophys. Acta 1072:129-157.

Ankarcrona, M., Dypbukt, J. M., Bonfocco, E., Orrenius, S., Lipton, S. A., and Nicoreta, P. (1995) Glutamate-induced neuronal death: a succession of necrosis and apoptosis depending on mitochondrial function. Neuron 15:961-973.

Barde, Y. A., (1989) Trophic factors and neuronal survival. Neuron 2:1525-1534.

Barr, P. J., & Tomei, L. D. (1994) Apoptosis and Its Role in Human Disease. Bio/Technology 12: 487-493.

Bartel, D. P., Sheng, M., Lau, L. F., and Greenberg, M. E. (1989) Growth factors and membrane depolarization activate distinct programs of early response gene expression: dissociation of *fos* and *jun* induction. Genes Dev. 3: 304-313.

Batistatou, A., & Greene, L. A. (1993) Internucleosomal DNA cleavage and neuronal cell survival/death. J. Cell Biol. 122:523-532.

Beck, KD et al. (1995) Mesencephalic dompaminergic neurons protected by GDNF from axotomy-induced degeneration in the adult rat brain. Nature **373**:339-341.

Boise, L. H., Gonzalez-Garcia, M., Postema, C. E., Ding, L., Lindsten, T., Truka, L. A., Mao, X., Nunex, G., and Thompson, C. B. (1993) *bcl-x*, a bcl-2-related gene that functions as a dominant regulator of apoptotic cell death. Cell 74:597-608.

Bondareff, W., Wischik, C. M., Novak, M., Amos, W. B., Klug, A., and Roth, M. (1990) Molecular analysis of neurofibrillary degeneration in Alzheimer's disease. Am. J. Pathol. 137:711-723.

Bonfoco, E., Krainc, D., Ankarcrona, M., Nicotera, P., and Lipton S. A. (1995) Apoptosis and necrosis: two distinct events induced, respectively, by mild and intense insults with N-methyl-D-aspartate or nitric oxide/superoxide in cortical cell cultures. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92:7162-7166.

Borchelt, D. R., Thinakaran, G., Eckman, C. B., Lee, M. K., et al. (1996) Familial Alzheimer's disease-linked presenilin 1 variants elevate  $A\beta 1-42/1-40$  ratio *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Neuron 17:1005-1013.

Bossy-Wetzel, E., Bakiri, L., and Yaniv, M. (1997) Induction of apoptosis by the transcription factor c-Jun. EMBO 16(7):1695-1709.

Bramblett, G. T., Goedert, M., Jakes, R., Merrick, S. E., Trojanowski, J. Q., and Lee, V. M.-Y. (1993) Abnormal tau phosphorylation at Ser 396 in Alzheimer's disease recapitulates development and contributes to reduced microtubule binding. Neuron 10:1089-1099.

Brancolini, C., Benedetti, M., and Schneider, C. (1995) Microfilament reorganization during apoptosis: the role of Gas2, a possible substrate for ICE-like proteases. EMBO J. 14(21):5179-5190.

Bredesen, DE. (1995) Neural Apoptosis. Ann. Neurol. 38(6):839-851.

Burdick, D., Soreghan, B., Kwon, M., Kosmoski, J., Knoauer, M., Henschen, A., Yates, J., Cotman, C., and Glabe, C. (1992) Assembly and aggregation properties of synthetic Alzheimer's A4/ $\beta$  peptide changes. J. Biol. Chem. **267**:546-554.

Busciglio, J., Lorenzo, A., Yeh, J., and Yankner, B. A. (1995)  $\beta$ -amyloid fibril induce tau phosphorylation and loss of microtubule binding, Neuron 14:879-888.

Butler, M., and Shelanski, M. L. (1986) Microheterogeneity of microtubule-associated tau protein is due to differences in phosphorylation. J Neuorchem. 47:1517-1522.

Butner, K. A., and Kirschner, M. W. (1991) Tau protein binds to microtubules through a flexible array of distributed weak sites. J. Cell Biol. 115:717-730.

Cai, X., Cheung, T., and Younkin, S. (1993a) Comparison of the A $\beta$ -released from normal amyloid b precursor protein ( $\beta$ -APP) and from mutant  $\beta$ -APP linked to familial Alzheimer's disease. Soc. Neurosci. Abstr. 19:430.

Cai, X., Golde, T., and Younkin, S. (1993b) Release of excess amyloid ß-protein from a mutant amyloid ß-protein precursor. Science 259: 514-516.

Chan, S. Y., Murkami, K., and Routtenberg, A. (1986) Phosphoprotein F1, purification and characterization of a brain kinase C substrate related to plasticity. J. Neurosci. 6:3618-3627.

Chartier-Harlin, M. -C., Crawford, F., Houlden, H., Warren, A. et al. (1991) Early-onset Alzheimer's disease caused by mutations at 717 of the  $\beta$ -amyloid precursor protein gene. Nature **353**:844-846.

Chittenden, T., Harrington, E. A., O'Connor, R., Flemington, C., Lutz, R. J., Evan, G. I., and Guild, B. C. (1995a) Induction of apoptosis by the Bcl-2 homologue Bak. Nature 374:733-736.

Chittenden, T., Flemmington, C., Houghton, A. B., Ebb, R. G., Gallo, G. J., Elangovan, G., Chinnadurai, G., and Lutz, R. J. (1995b) A conserved domain in Bak, distinct from BH1 and BH2, mediates cell death and proteins binding functions. EMBO 14(22):5589-5596.

Choi, DW and Rothman SM (1990) The role of glutamate neurotoxicity in hypoxicischemic neuronal death. Ann. Rev Neurosci. 13:171-182.

Chomczynski, P., and Sacchi, N. (1987) Single-step method of RNA isolation by acid guanidium thiocyanate-phenol-chloroform extraction. Anal. Biochem. 162:152-159.

Citron, M., Westaway, D., Xia, W., Carlson, G., et al. (1997) Mutant presenilins of Alzheimer's disease increase production of 42-residue amyloid- $\beta$ -protein in both transfected cells and transgenic mice. Nature Med. **3(1)**:67-72.

Citron, M., Olterdorf, T., Haas, C., McConlogue, L., Hung, A. Y., Seubert, P., Vigo-Pelfrey, C., Lieberburg, I., and Selkoe, D. J. (1992) Mutation of the  $\beta$ -amyloid precursor protein in familial Alzheimer's disease increase  $\beta$ -protein production. Nature **360**:672-674.

Corder, EH et al. (1993) Gene dosage of apolipoprotein E type 4 allele and the risk of Alzheimer's disease in late-onset families. Science 261:921-923.

Cork, L. C., Masters, C., Beyreuther, K., and Price, D. L. (1990) Development of senile plaques. Relationships of neuronal abnormalities and amyloid deposits. Am. J. Pathol. 137:1383-1392.

Cotman, C. W., Whttemore, E. R., Watt, J. A., Anderson, A. J., and Loo, D. T. (1994) Possible role of apoptosis in Alzheimer's disease. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 747:36-47.

Cowburn, R. F., Wiehager, B., and Sundsrom, E. (1995)  $\beta$ -amyloid peptides enhance binding of the calcium mobilizing second messengers, inosito(1,4,5) triphosphate and inosito-(1,3,4,5) tetrakisphosphate to their receptor sites in rat cortical membranes. Neurosci. Lett. 191:31-34.

Cruts, M., Hendriks, L., and Van Broeckhoven, C. (1996) The presentiin genes: a new gene family involved in Alzheimer disease pathology. Human Molec. Gen. 5:1449-1455.

Davies, P. and Maloney, A. (1976) Selective loss of central cholinergic neurons in Alzheimer's disease. Lancet 2:1403.

Deckwerth, T. L., and Johnson, E. M., Jr. (1993) Temporal analysis of events associated with programmed cell death (apoptosis) of sympathetic neurons deprived of nerve growth factor. J. Cell Biol. **123**: 1207-1222.

Dell'Anna, ME et al. (1995) Transient changes in Fos and GFAP immunoreactivity precede neuronal loss in the rat hippocampus following neonatal anoxia. Exp. Neurol. 131:144-156.

Dragunow, M., and Robertson, H. A., (1988) Brain injury induces c-fos protein(s) in nerve and glial cells in adult mammalian brain. Brain Res. 455: 295-299.

Dragunow, M., Young, D., Hughes, G., MacGibbon, P., Lawlor, K., et al. (1993) Is *c-jun* involved in nerve cell death following status epilepticus and hypoxic-ischaemic brain injury? Molec. Brain Res. 18:347-352.

Dragunow, M., and Preston, K. (1995) The role of inducible transcription factors in apoptotic nerve cell death. Brain Res. Rev. 21:1-28

Duan, H., Chinnaiyan, A. M., Hudson, P. L., Wing, J. P. He, W. W., and Dixit, V. M. (1996) ICE-Lap3, a novel mammalian homologue of the *Caenorhabitis elegans* cell death protein ced-3 is activated during Fas- and tumour necrosis factor-induced death. J. Biol. Chem. 271(3): 1621-1625.

Duff, K., Eckman, C., Zehr, C., Yu, X., et al. (1996) Increased amyloid-β42(43) in brains of mice expressing mutant presentiin 1. Nature **383**:710-713.

Dure, LS et al. (1995) DNA fragmentation and immediate early gene expression in rat striatum following quinolinic acid administration. Exp. Neurol. 133:207-214.

Edwards, S. N., and Tolkovsky, A. M. (1994) Characterization of apoptosis in cultured rat sympathetic neurons after nerve growth factor withdrawal. J. Cell. Biol. 124:537-546.

Estus, S., Golde, T. E., Kunishita, T., Blades, D., Lowery, D., Eisen, M. et al. (1992) Potentially amyloidogenic, carboxy-terminal derivatives of the amyloid protein precursor. Science 255:726-728.

Estus, S., Zaks, W. J., Freeman, R. S., Gruda, M., Bravo, R., and Johnson, E. M. Jr. (1994) Altered gene expression in neurons during programmed cell death: Identification of *c-jun* as necessary for neuronal apoptosis. J. Cell Biol. 127: 1717-1727.

Fairbairn, D. W., Carnahan, K. G., Thwaits, R. N. et al. (1994) Detection of apoptosis induced DNA cleavage in scrapie-infected sheep brain. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 115:341-346.

Farrow, S. N., White, J. H., Martinou, I., Raven, T., Pun, K. T., Grinham, C. J., Martinou, J. -C., and Brown, R. (1995) Cloning of a bcl-2 homologue by interaction with adenovirus E1B 19K. Nature **374**:731-733.

Fernandes-Alnemri, T., Litwack, G., and Alnmeri, E. S. (1995a) CPP32, a novel human apoptotic protein with homology to *Caenorhabditis elegans* cell death protein Ced-3 and mammalian Interleukin-1 $\beta$ -converting enzyme. J. Biol. Chem. **269**:30761-30764.

Fernandes-Alnemri, T., Takahashi, A., Armstrong, R., Krebs, J., Fritz, L., et al. (1995b) Mch3, a novel human apoptotic cysteine protease highly related to CPP32. Cancer Res. **55**:6045-6052.

Fernandes-Alnemri, T., Armstrong, R., Krebs, J., Srinivasula, S. M., Wang, L., Bullrich, F., et al. (1996). *In vitro* activation of CPP32 and Mch3 by Mch4, a novel human apoptotic cysteine protease containing two FADD-like domains. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93:7464-7469

Forloni, G., Chiesa, R., Smiroldo, S., Verga, L., Salmona, M., Tagliavini, F., and Angeretti, N. (1993) Apoptosis mediated neurotoxicity induced by chronic application of  $\beta$ -amyloid fragment 25-35. NeuroReport 4: 523-526.

Frautschy, S. A., Baird, A. and Cole, G. M. (1991) Effects of injected Alzheimer's ßamyloid cores in the rat brain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88: 8362-8366. Freeman, R. S., Estus, S., and Johnson, E. M. (1994) Analysis of cell cycle-related gene expression in postmitotic neurons: selective induction of cyclin D1 during programmed cell death. Neuron 12:343-355.

Games, D., et al. (1995) Alzheimer-type neuropathology in transgenic mice overexpressing V717F B-amyloid precursor protein. Nature 373:523-527.

Gang, A et al. (1993) Expression of *c-fos* and *c-jun* family genes after focal cerebral ischemia. Ann Neurol. 33:457-464.

Gavrieli, Y., Sherman, Y., and Ben-Sasson, S. A. (1992) Identification of programmed cell death in situ via specific labeling of nuclear DNA fragmentation. J. Cell. Biol. 119:493-501.

Geddes, J. W., Anderson, K. J., and Cotman, C. W. (1986) Senile plaques as aberrant sprout stimulating structures. Exp. Neurol. 94:767-776.

Gillardon, F., Skutella, T., Uhlmann, E., Holsboer, F., Zimmermann, M., and Behl, C. (1996) Activation of c-Fos contributes to amyloid  $\beta$ -peptide-induced neurotoxicity. Br. Res. **706**:169-172.

Giovannelli, L., Casamenti, F., Scali, C., Bartolini, L., and Pepeu, G. (1995) Differential effects of amyloid peptides  $\beta$ -(1-40) and  $\beta$ -(25-35) injections into the rat nucleus basalis. Neuroscience 66:781-792.

Glenner, G. G. and Wong, C. (1984) Alzheimer's Disease: Initial report of the purification and characterization of a novel cerebrovascular amyloid protein. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm. **120**:885-890.

Glenner, G.G. (1988) Alzheimer's Disease: Its Proteins and Genes. Cell 52: 307-308.

Goate, A., Chartier-Harlin, M., Mullan, M., Brown, J., Crawford, F., Fidani, L. et al. (1991) Segregation of a missense mutation in the amyloid precursor protein gene with familial Alzheimer's disease. Nature **349**: 704-706.

Goedert, M., Spillantini, M. G., Jakes, R., Rutherford, D., and Crowther, R. A. (1989) Multiple isoforms of human microtubule-associated protein tau: Sequences and localization in neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer's disease. Neuron 3:519-526.

Goedert, M. (1993) Tau protein and the neurofibrillary pathology of Alzheimer's disease. TINS 16(11):460-465.

Goedert, M., Spillantini, M. G., Jakes, R., Crowther, R. A., Vanmechelen, E., Probst, A., Gotz, J., Burki, K., and Cohen, P. (1995) Molecular dissection of the paired helical filament. Neurobiol. Aging 16(3):325-334.

Goedert, M., Jakes, R., Spillantini, M. G., Hasegawa, M., Smith, M. J. and Crowther, R. A. (1996) Assembly of microtubule-associated protein tau into Alzheimer-like filaments induced by sulphated glycosaminoglycans. Nature **383**:550-553.

Golde, T. E., Estus, S., Usiak, M., Younkin, L. H., and Younkin, S. G. (1990) Expression of B-amyloid protein precursor mRNAs: Recognition of a novel alternatively spliced form and quantitation in Alzheimer's disease using PCR. Neuron 4:253-267.

Golde, T. E., Estus, S., Younkin, L., Selkoe, D., and Younkin, S. (1992) Processing of the amyloid protein precursor to potentially amyloidogenic derivatives. Science 255:728-730.

Goldberg, Y. P., Nicholson, D. W., Rasper, D. M., Kalchman, M. A., Koide, H., B., Graham, R. K., Bromm, M., Kazemiesfarjani, P., Thornberry, N. A., Vaillancourt, J. P., and Hayden, M. R. (1996) Cleavage of huntingtin by apopain, a proapoptotic cysteine protease, is modulated by the polyglutamine tract. Nature Gen. 13(4):442-449.

Goode, B. L., Feinstein, S. C. (1994) Identification of a novel microtubule binding and assembly domain in the developmentally regulated inter-repeat region of tau. J. Cell Biol. 124:769-782.

Gorman, A. M., Scott, M. P., Rumsby, P. C., Meredith, C., and Griffths, R. (1995) Excitatory amino acid-induced cytotoxicity in primary cultures of mouse cerebellar granule cells correlates with elevated, sustained *c-fos* proto-oncogene expression. Neurosci. Letters 191:116-120.

Gotz, J., Probst, A., Spillantini, G. M., Shefer, T., Jakes, R., Burki, K., and Goedert, M. (1995) Somatodendritic localization and hyperphosphorylation of tau protein in transgenic mice expression the longest human brain tau isoform. EMBO J. 14:1304-1313.

Gravina, S. A., Ho, L., Eckman, C. B., Long., K. E., Otvos, L. Jr., Younkin, L. H., Suzuki, N., and Younkin, S. G. (1995) Amyloid  $\beta$  protein (A $\beta$ )in Alzheimer's disease brain. J. Biol. Chem. **270**:7013-7016.

Greenlund, L. J. S., Deckworth, T. L. and Johnson, E. M. (1995) Superoxide dismutase delays neuronal apoptosis: a role for reactive oxygen species in programmed cell death. Neuron 14:303-315.

Haas, C., Schlossmacher, M., Hung, A., Vigo-Pelfrey, C., Mellon, A., Ostaszewski, B., et al. (1992) Amyloid β-peptide is produced by cultured cells during normal metabolism. Nature **359**: 322-325.

Haas, C., Hung, A., Schlossmacher, M., Teplow, D. and Selkoe, D. (1993) B-amyloid peptide and a 3-kDa fragment are derived distinct cellular mechanisms. Nature **357**: 500-503.

Haass, C., & Selkoe, D. J. (1993) Cellular Processing of  $\beta$ -Amyloid Precursor Protein and the Genesis of Amyloid  $\beta$ -Peptide. Cell **75**: 1039-1042.

Ham, J., Babij, C., Whitfield, J., Pfarr, C. M., Lallemand, D., Yaniv, M., and Rubin, L. L. (1995) A c-Jun dominant negative mutant protects sympathetic neurons against programmed cell death. Neuron 14:927-939.

Hardy, J. A., & Higgins, G. A. (1992) The Amyloid Cascade Hypothesis. Science 256: 184-185.

Hartley, A., Stone, J. M. Heron, C. et al. (1994) Complex I inhibitors induce dosedependent apoptosis in PC12 cells: relevance to Parkinson's disease. J. Neurochem. 63:1987-1990.

Hattori, K., Angel, P., Le Beau, M. M, and Karin, M. (1988) Structure and chromosome localization of the functional intronless human *jun* protooncogene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 85: 9148-9152.

Heintz N. (1993) Cell Death and the Cell Cycle: A Relationship Between Transformation and Neurodegeneration. TIBS 18: 157-159.

Heinonen, O., Soininen, H., Sorvari, H., Kosunen, O., Paljarvi, L., Koivisto, E., and Riekkinen, P. J. Sr. (1995) Loss of synaptophysin-like immunoreactivity in the hippocampal formation is an early phenomenon in Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci. 64(2):375-84.

Henderson, C. E., Phillips, H. S., Pollock, R. A., Davies, A. M., Lemeulle, C., Armanini, M., Simpson, L. C., Moffet, B., Vandlen, R. A., Koliatsos, V. E., and Rosenthal, A. (1994) GNDF: A potent survival factor for motor neurons present in peripheral nerve and muscle. Science **266**: 1062-1064.

Hill, IE. et al. (1995) DNA fragmentation indicative of apoptosis following unilateral cerebral hypoxia-ischemia in the neonatal rat. Brain Res. 676:398-403/

Honer, W. G., Dickson, D. W., Gleeson, J. and Davies, P. (1992) Regional synaptic pathology in Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol. Aging 13:375-382.

Howlett, D. R., Jennings, K. H., Lee, D. C., Clark, M. S. G., Brown, F., Wetzel, R., Wood, S. J., Camilleri, and Roberts, G. W. (1995) Aggregation state and neurotoxic properties of Alzheimer  $\beta$ -amyloid peptide. Neurodegeneration 4:23-32.

Hsiao, K. K., Borchelt, D. R., Olson, K., J., Johannsdottir, R., et al. (1995) Age-related CNS disorder and early death in transgenic FVB/N mice overexpressing Alzheimer amyloid precursor proteins. Neuron 15:1203-1218.

Hung, A. Y., Koo, E. H., Haas, C., and Selkoe, D. J. (1992) Increased expression of  $\beta$ -amyloid precursor during neuronal differentiation is not accompanied by secretory cleavage. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89:9439-9443.

Hunt, S., P., Pini, A., and Evan, G. (1987) Induction of c-fos-like protein in spinal cord neurons following sensory stimulation. Nature 328: 632-634.

Iwatsubo, T., Odaka, A., Suzuki, N., Mizusawa, H., Nukina, N., and Ihara, Y. (1994) Visualization of  $A\beta42(43)$  and  $A\beta40$  in senile plaques with end-specific  $A\beta$  monoclonals: evidence that an initially deposited species is  $A\beta42(43)$ . Neuron 13:45-53.

Jacobson, M. D., Burne, J. F., and Raff, M. C. (1994) Programmed cell death and *bcl-2* protection in the absence of a nucleus. EMBO J. **13(8)**:1899-1910.

Johnson, E. M., Jr. (1994) Possible role of neuronal apoptosis in Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol. Aging **suppl. 2**: s187-s189.

Jarrett, J. T., and Lansbury, P. T. Jr. (1993) Seeding one-dimensional crystallization of amyloid: a pathogenic mechanism in Alzheimer's disease and scrapie? Cell 73:1055-1058.

Jarrett, J. T., Berger, E. P., and Lansbury, P. T. Jr. (1993) The carboxy terminus of the  $\beta$  amyloid protein is critical for the seeding of amyloid formation: implications for the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. Biochem. **32**:4693-4697.

Jenkins. R., and Hunt, S. P. (1991) Long-term increase in the levels of *c-jun* mRNA and jun-like immunoreactivity in motor and sensory neurons following axon damage. Neurosci. Lett. **129**:107-110.

Jenkins, R., McMahon, S. B., Bond, A. B., and Hunt, S. P. (1993) Expression of *c-jun* as a response to dorsal root and peripheral nerve section in damaged and adjacent intact primary sensory neurons in the rat. Eur. J. Neurosci. 5:751-759.

Kamens, J., Paskind, M. Hugunin, M., Talanian, R. V., Allen, H. Banach, D., Bump, N., Hackett, M., Johnston, C. G., Li, P. et al. (1995) Identification and characterization of ICH-2, a novel member of the inerleukin-1 $\beta$ - converting enzyme family of cysteine proteases. J. Biol. Chem. **270**:15250-15256.

Kandel, E. R., Schwartz, J. H., & Jessell, T. M. Principles of Neural Science, Third edition. Appleton and Lange. c1991.

Kang, J., Lemaire, H., Unterbeck, A., Salbaum, J., Masters, C., Grzeschik, K. et al. (1987) The precursor of Alzheimer's disease amyloid protein resembles a cell surface receptor. Nature **325**: 733-736.

Karin, M. (1994) signal transduction from the cell surface to the nucleus through the phosphorylation of transcription factors. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 6:415-424.

Katzman, R. (1986) Alzheimer's disease. New Eng. J. Med. 314(15):964-973.

Kaufmann, S. H., Desnoyers, S., Ottaviano, YU., Davison, N. E., Poirier, G. G. (1993) Specific proteolytic cleavage of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase: An early marker of chemotherapy-induced apoptosis. Cancer Res. **53**:3976-3985.

Kerr, J. F. R., Wyllie, A. H., & Durrie, A. R. (1972) Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomena with wide ranging implications in tissue kinetics. Br J Cancer 26:239-257.

Kesseler, J. A., Ludlam, W. H., Freidin, M. M., Hall, D. H., Michaelson, D. C., Dougherty, M. & Batter, D. K. (1993) Cytokine-induced programmed cell death of cultured sympathetic neurons. Neuron 11:1123-1132.

Kidd, M. (1963) Paired helical filaments in electron microscopy of Alzheimer's disease. Nature 197:192-193.

Kiefer, M. C., Brauer, M. J., Powers, V. C., Wu, J. J., Umansky, S. R., Tomei, L. D., Barr, P. J. (1995) Modulation of apoptosis by the widely distributed Bcl-2 homologue Bak. Nature 374:736-739.

Kitaguchi, N., Takahashi, Y., Tokushima, Y. Shiojiri, S., and Ito, H. (1988) Novel precursor of Alzheimer's disease. Nature Med. 1:143-148.

Koh, J. Y., Yang, L. L., and Cotman, C. W. (199.  $\beta$ -amyloid protein increases the vulnerability of cultured cortical neurons to excitotoxic damage. Brain Res. **533**:315-320.

Koo, E. H., Sisodia, S. S., Archer, D. R. et al. (1990) Precursor of amyloid protein in Alzheimer disease undergoes fast anterograde axonal transport Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87:1561-1565.

Kosik, K. S., Crandall, J. E., Mufson, E., and Neuer, L, (1989) Tau in situ hybridization in normal and Alzheimer brain: localization in the somatodendritic compartment. Ann. Neurol. 26:352-361.

Kowall, N. W., Beal, M. F., Busciglio, J., Duffy, L. K. & Yankner, B. A. (1991) An in vivo model for the neurodegenerative effects of β-amyloid and protection by substance P. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88: 7247-7251.

Kowall, N. W., McKee, A. C., Yankner, B. A., & Beal, M. F. (1992) In vivo toxicity of B-amyloid (1-40) and the (25-35) fragment. Neurobiol. Aging 13: 537-542. Kumar, S., Kinoshita, M., Noka, M., Copeland, N. G., and Jenkins, M. A. (1994) Induction of apoptosis by the mouse Nedd-2 gene, which encodes a protein similar to the product of *Caenorhabditis elegans* cell death gene *ced-3* and the mammalian IL-1 $\beta$ converting enzyme. Genes Dev. 8:1613-1626.

Kyriakis, J. M., Banerjee, P., Nikolakaki, E., Bai, T., Rubie, E. A., Ahamad, M. F., Avruch, J., and Woodgett, J. R. (1994) Nature 369:156-160.

Laferla, F.M., Tinkle, B.T., Bieberich, C.J., Haudenschild, C.C., & Jay, G. (1995) The Alzheimer's Ab peptide induces neurodegeneration and apoptotic cell death in transgenic mice. Nature Genetics 9:21-29.

Laferla, F.M., Hall, C. K., Ngo, L., and Jay, G., (1996) Extracellular Deposition of  $\beta$ amyloid upon p53-dependent neuronal cell death in transgenic mice. J. Clin. Invest. 98(7):1626-1632.

Lassmann, H., Fischer, P., and Jellinger, K. (1993) Synaptic Pathology of Alzheimer's disease. Annals N. Y. Acad. Sci. 695:59-64.

Lassmann, H., Bancher, C., Breitschopf, H., Wegiel, J., Bobinski, M., Jellinger, K., and Wisniewski, H. M. (1995) Cell death in Alzheimer's disease evaluated by DNA fragmentation *in situ*. Acta Neuropathol. **89**:35-41.

Lazebnik, Y. A., Kaufmann, S. H., Desnoyers, S., Ottaviano, Y., Davidson, N. E., and Poirer, G. G. (1994) Cleavage of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase by a protease with properties like ICE. Nature 371:346-347.

Lazebnik, Y. A., Takahashi, A., Moir, R., Goldman, R., Poirier, G. G., Kaufamnn, S. H., Earnshaw, W. C. (1995) Studies of the lamin proteinase reveal multiple parallel biochemical pathways during apoptotic execution. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92:9042-9046.

LeBlanc, A. (1994) The role of  $\beta$ -amyloid peptide in Alzheimer's disease. Metab. Brain Disease 9: 3-31.

LeBlanc, A. (1995) Increased production of 4 kDa amyloid  $\beta$  peptide in serum deprived human primary neuron cultures: possible involvement of apoptosis. J. Neurosci. **15(12)**:7837-7846.

LeBlanc, A. (1996) Amyloid  $\beta$ -peptide of Alzheimer's disease downregulates Bcl-2 in upregulates Bax expression in human neurons. J. Neurosci. 16(23):7533-7539.

LeBlanc, A. Apoptosis and Alzheimer's disease. (1997) In: Molecular Mechanisms of Dementia. (eds.) Wasco, W., and Tanzi, R. E. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press, p.57-71.

Lee, V. M.-Y., Balin, B. J., Otvos, L., and Trojanowski, J. Q. (1991) A68: A major subunit of paired helical filaments and derivatized forms of normal tau. Science 251:675-678.

Lemere, C. A., Blusztajn, J. K., Yamaguchi, H., Wisniewski, T., Saido, T. C., and Selkoe, D. J. (1996) Sequence of deposition of heterogeneous amyloid  $\beta$ -peptides and APO E in Downs syndrome: implications for initial events in amyloid plaque formation. Neurobiol. Dis. **3:**16-32.

Levy, F., Carman, M., Fernandez-Madrid, I., Power, M., Lieberburg, I., Van Duinen, S. et al. (1990) Mutation of the Alzheimer's disease amyloid gene in hereditary cerebral hemorrhage, Dutch Type. Science 248: 1124-1126.

Levy-Lehad, E (1995a) A familial Alzheimer's disease locus on chromosome 1. Science 269(5226):970-973.

Levy-Lehad, E (1995b) Candidate gene for the chromosome 1 familial Alzheimer's disease locus. Science 269(5226):973-977.

Lindsay, R. M. (1995) Neuron Saving Schemes. Nature 373:289-290.

Link, W et al. (1995) Somatodendritic expression of an immediate early gene is regulated by synaptic activity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92:5734-5738.

Linnik, M. D., Zobrist, R. H. & Hatfield, M. D. (1993) Evidence supporting a role for programmed cell death in focal ischemia in rats. Stroke 24:2002-2009.

Lipton, S and Rosenberg, PA (1994) Excitatory amino acids as a final common pathway for neurological disorders. N. Eng. J. Med. **330(9)**:613-622.

Lockhart, B. P., Benicourt, C., Junien, J. -L., and Privat, A. (1994) Inhibitors of free radical formation fail to attenuate direct  $\beta$ -amyloid25-35 peptide-mediated neurotoxicity in rat hippocampal cultures. J. Neurosci. Res. **39**:494-505.

Loffler, J., and Huber, G. (1992)  $\beta$ -amyloid precursor protein isoforms in various rat brain regions and during brain development. J. Neurochem. **59**:1316-1324.

Loo, D.T., Copani, A., Pike, C.J., Whittemore, E.R., Walencewicz, A.J., & Cotman, C.W. (1993) Apoptosis is induced by  $\beta$ -amyloid in cultured central nervous system Neurons. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **90**: 7951-7955.

Lorenzo, A., and Yankner, B. A. (1994)  $\beta$ -amyloid neurotoxicity requires fibril formation and is inhibited by Congo red. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91:12243-12247.

MacManus, J. P., Buchan, A. M., Hill, I. E., Rasquinha, I. & Preston, E. (1993) Global ischemia can cause DNA fragmentation indicative of apoptosis in rat brain. Neurosci. Lett. 164:89-92.

MacManus, J. P., Hill, I. E., Huang, Z. G., Rasquinha, I., Xue, D., & Buchan, A. M. (1994) DNA damage consistent with apoptosis in transient ischemic neocortex. NeuroReport 5:493-496.

Mannherz, H. G., Peitsch, M., C., Zanotti, S., Paddenberg, R., and Polzar, B. (1995) A new function for an old enzyme: the role of DNase I in apoptosis. In: Pathways for Cytolysis. Griffths, G. M. and Tschopp, J. (eds.), Springer-Verlag, Berlin, p. 161.

Mark, R. J., Hensley, K., Butterfield, D. A., and Mattson, M. P. (1995) Amyloid  $\beta$ -peptide impairs ion-motive ATPase activities: evidence for a role in loss of neuronal Ca2+ homeostasis and cell death. J. Neurosci. **15(9)**:6239-6249.

Martin, D. P., Wallace, T. L., & Johnson E. M. (1990) Cytosine Arabinoside kills postmitotic neurons in a fashion resembling trophic factor deprivation: Evidence that a deoxycytidine-dependent process may be required for nerve growth factor signal transduction. J. Neurosci. 10:184-193.

Martin, D., et al. (1992) Biochemical characterization of programmed cell death in NGF-deprived sympathetic neurons. J. Neurobiol. 23: 1205-1220.

Martin, S. J. and Green, D. R. (1995) Protease activation during apoptosis: death by a thousand cuts? Cell 82:349-352.

Masliah, E., Terry, R. D., Alford, M., DeTeresea, R. M., Hansen, L. A. (1991a) Cortical and subcortical patterns of synaptophysin-like immunoreactivity in Alzheimer's disease. Am. J. Pathol. 138:235-239.

Masliah, E., Mallory, M., Hansen, L. et al. (1991b) Patterns of aberrant sprouting in Alzheimer disease. Neuron 6:729-739.

Masliah, E., Cole, G. M., Hansen, L. A., Mallory, M., Albright, T., Terry, R. D., and Saitoh, T. (1991c) Protein kinase C alteration is an early biochemical marker in Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurosci. 11(9):2759-2757.

Masliah, E., Mallory, M., Hansen, L. et al. (1992a) Localization of amyloid precursor protein in GAP-43-immunoreactive aberrant sprouting neurites in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res. 574:312-316.

Masliah, E., Mallory, M., Ge, N., and Saitoh, T. (1992b) Protein kinases and growth associated proteins in plaque formation in Alzheimer's disease. Rev. Neurosci. 3:99-107.

Masliah, E., Mallory, M., Ge, N., and Saitoh, T. (1992c) Amyloid precursor protein is localized in growing neurites of neonatal rat brain. Brain Res. 593:323-328.

Masliah, E., and Terry, R. D. (1993) The role of synaptic proteins in the pathogenesis of disorders of the central nervous system. Brain Path. 3:77-85.

Masliah, E., Miller, A., and Terry, R. D. (1993) The synaptic organization of the neocortex in Alzheimer's disease. Med. Hypotheses 41:334-340.

Masliah, E., Mallory, M., Hansen, L., DeTersea, R., Alford, M., and Terry, R. (1994a) Synaptic and neuritic alterations during the progression of Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci. Lett. 174:67-72.

Mattson, M. P., Cheng, B., Davis, D., Bryant, K., Lieberburg, I., and Rydel, R. E. (1992)  $\beta$ -amyloid peptides destabilize calcium homeostasis and render human cortical neurons vulnerable to excitotoxicity. J. Neurosci. 12:376-389.

Meiri, K. F., Pfenninger, K. H., and Willard, M. B. (1986) Growth-associated protein, GAP-43, a polypeptide that is induced when neurons extend axons, is a component of growth cones and corresponds to pp46, a major polypeptide of a subcellular fraction enriched in growth cones. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 83:3537-3541.

Meiri, K. F., Willard, M., and Johnson, M. I. (1988) Distribution and phosphorylation of the growth-associated protein GAP-43 in regenerating sympathetic neurons in culture. J. Neurosci. 8(7):2571-2581.

Mellstrom, B., Achaval, M., Montero, D., Naranjo, J. R., and Sosaone-Corsi, P. (1991) Differential expression of the jun family members in rat brain. Oncogene 6:1959-1964.

Messina, A., Jaworowski, A., and Bell, C. (1996) Detection of Jun but not Fos protein during developmental cell death in sympathetic neurons. J. Comp. Neurol. **372**:544-550.

Miller, J. C. (1990) Induction of c-fos mRNA expression in rat striatum by neuroleptic drugs. J. Neurochem. 54: 1453-1454.

Miura, M., Zhu, H., Rotello, R., Hartwieg, E. A., and Yuan, J. (1993) Induction of apoptosis in fibroblasts by IL-1 $\beta$ -converting enzyme, a mammalian homolog of the *C*. *elegans* cell death gene *ced-3*. Cell **75**: 653-660.

Morgan, J. I., Cohen, D. R., Hempstead, J. L., & Curran, T. (1987) Mapping patterns of c-fos expression in the central nervous system after seizure. Science 237: 192-197.

Morgan, J. I., & Curran, T. (1991) Stimulus-transcription coupling in the nervous system: involvement of the inducible proto-oncogenes fos and jun. Ann. Rev. Neurosci. 14: 421-451.

Mori, H., Kondo, J., and Ihara, Y. (1987) Ubiquitin is a component of paired helical filaments in Alzheimer's disease. Science 235:1641-1644.

Morishima-Kawashima, M., Hasegawa, M., Takio, K., Suzuki, M., Titani, K., and Ihara, Y. (1993) Ubiquitin is conjugated with amino-terminally processed tau in paired helical filaments. Neuron 10:1151-1160.

Mullan, N., Crawford, F., Axelman, K., Houlden, H., Lilius, L., and Wilblad, B. (1992) A pathogenic mutation for the probable Alzheimer's disease in the APP gene at the Nterminus of  $\beta$ -amyloid peptide. Nature Gen. 1: 345-347.

Muller, R., Slamon, D. J., Tremblay, J. M., Cline, M. J., and Verma, I. M. (1982) Differential expression of cellular oncogenes during pre- and postnatal development of mouse. Nature 299: 640-644.

Munday, N. A., Vaillancourt, J. P., Ali, A., Casano, F. J., Miller, D. K., Molineaux, S. M., Yamin, T-T, Yu, V. L., and Nicholson, D. W. (1995) Molecular cloning and proapoptotic activity of ICErelII and ICErelIII members of the ICE/CED-3 family of cysteine proteases. J. Biol. Chem. 270:15870-15876.

Murrell, J., Farlow, M., Ghetti, B., and Benson, M. D. (1991) A mutation in the amyloid precursor protein. associated with hereditary Alzheimer's disease. Science 254:97-99.

Muzio, M., Chinnaiyan, A. M., Kischkel, F. C., O'Rouke, K., Shevchenko, A. et al. (1996) FLICE, a novel FADD-homologous ICE/CED-3-like protease, is recruited to the CD95 (Fas/Apo-1) death-inducing signaling complex Cell 85:817-827.

Nicholson, D. W., Ali, A., Thornberry, N. A., Vaillancourt, J. P., Ding, C. K., et al. (1995) Identification and inhibition of the ICE/CED-3 protease necessary for mammalian apoptosis. Nature **376**:37-43.

O'Barr, S., Schultz, J., and Rogers, J. (1996) Expression of the protooncogene bcl-2 in Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol. Aging 17(1):131-136.

Oltvai, Z. N., Milliman, C. L., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1993) Bcl-2 heterodimerizes in vivo with a conserved homolog, Bax, that accelerates programmed cell death. Cell 74:609-619.

Oppenheim, RW et al. (1995) Developing motor neurons rescued from programmed cell death and axotomy-induced cell death by GDNF. Nature 373:344-346.

Oppenheim, R. W., (1991) Cell death during development of the nervous system. Ann. Rev. Neurosci. 14:453-501.

Patterson, D., Gardineer, K., Kao, F.-T., Tanzi, R., Watkins, P., and Gusella, J. (1988) Mapping of the gene encoding the  $\beta$ -amyloid precursor protein and its relationship to the Down syndrome region of chromosome 21. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **85**:8266-8270.

Perrone-Bizzozero, N. I., Cansino, V. V., and Kohn, D. T. (1993) Posttranscriptional regulation of GAP-43 gene expression in PC12 cells through protein kinase C-dependent stabilization of the mRNA. J. Cell Biol. **120(5)**:1263-1270.

Pike, C. J., Walencewicz, A. J., Glabe, C. G., and Cotman, C. W. (1991) *In vitro* aging of  $\beta$ -amyloid protein causes peptide aggregation and neurotoxicity. Brain Res. **563**:311-314.

Pike, C. J., Burdick, D., Walencewicz, A. J., Glabe, C. G., and Cotman, C. W. (1993) Neurodegeneration induced by  $\beta$ -amyloid peptides *in vitro*: the role of the peptide assembly state. J. Neurosci. 13:1676-1687.

Pinol-Roma, S., Choi, Y. D., Matunis, M. J., and Dreyfuss, G. (1988) Immunopurification of heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein particles reveals an assortment of RNAbinding proteins. Genes and Develop. 2:215-227.

Pittman, R. N., Wang, S., DiBenedetto, A. J., and Mills, J. C. (1993) A system for characterizing cellular and molecular events in programmed neuronal cell death. J. Neurosci. 13(9):3669-3680.

Ponte, P., Gonzalez-DeWhitt, P., Schilling, J., Miller, J. et al. (1988) A new A4 amyloid mRNA contains a domain homologous to serine proteinase inhibitors. Nature 331:525-527.

Portera-Cailliau, C., Hedreen, J. C., Price, D. L., and Koliatsos, V. E., (1995) Evidence for apoptotic cell death in Huntington disease and excitotoxic animal models. J. Neurosci. 15(5):3775-3787.

Price, D. L., Whitehouse, P.J., Struble, R.G., Clark, A.W., Coyle, J. T., Delong, M.R., and Hedreen, J. C. (1982) Basal forebrain cholinergic systems in Alzheimer's disease and related dementia. Neurosci. Comment. 1(2): 84-92.

Pulverer, B. J., Kyriakis, J. M., Avruch, J., Nikolakaki, E., and Woodgett, J. R. (1991) Phosphorylation of *c-jun* mediated by MAP kinases. Nature **353**:670-674.

Purves, D. (1986) The trophic theory of neural connections. TINS 9:486-492. Quefurth, H. W., Wijsman, E. M., St. George-Hyslop, P. H., and Selkoe, D. J. (1995)  $\beta$ APP mRNA transcription is increased in cultured fibroblasts from the familial Alzheimer's disease-1 family. Molec. Brain. Res. 28:319-337. Rabizadeh, S., Bitler, C. M., Butcher, L. L., and Bredesen, D. (1994) Expression of the low-affinity nerve growth factor receptor enhances  $\beta$ -amyloid peptide toxicity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91:10703-10706.

Rabizadeh, S., Gralla, E. B., and Borchelt, D. R. (1995) Mutations associated with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis convert superoxide dismutase from an antiapoptotic gene to a proapoptotic gene: studies in yeast and neural cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92:3024-3028.

Raff, M. C. (1992) Social controls on cell survival and cell death. Nature **356**:397-400. Raff, M. C., Barres, B. A., Burne, J. F., Coles, H. S., Ishizaki, Y., and Jacobson, M. D. (1993) Programmed cell death and the control of cell survival: lessons from the nervous system. Science **262**:695-700.

Rogaev, E. I., Sherrington, R., Rogaeva, E. A. et al. (1995) Familial Alzheimer's disease in kindred with missense mutations in a gene on chromosome 1 related to the Alzheimer's disease type 3 gene. Nature 376:775-778.

Roher, A., Lowenson, J., Clarke, S., Woods, S., Cotter, R., Gowing, E., and Ball, M. (1993)  $\beta$ -amyloid -(1-42) is major component of cerebrovascular amyloid deposits: implications for the pathology o Alzheimer's disease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90:10836-10840.

Rubin, L. L., Philpott, K. L., and Brook, S. F. (1993) The cell cycle and cell death. Curr. Biol. 3(6):391-394.

Ruppert, C., and Wille, W. (1987) Proto-oncogene c-fos is highly induced by disruption of neonatal but not of mature brain tissue. Mol. Br. Res. 2: 51-56.

Sadot, E., Heicklen-Klein, A., Barg, J. Lazarovici, P., and Ginzburg, I. (1996) Identification of a tau promoter region mediating tissue-specific-regulated expression in PC12 cells. J. Mol. Biol. **256**:805-812.

Sagar, S. M., Sharp, F. R., and Curran, T. (1988) Expression of c-fos protein in brain: metabolic mapping at the cellular level. Science 240: 1328-1331.

Sambrook, J., Fritsch, E.F., and Maniatis, T. (1989) Molecular Cloning - A Laboratory Manual, second edition. (Cold Spring Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbour, NY).

Satou, T., Cummings, B. J., and Cotman, C. W. (1995) Immunoreactivity for bcl-2 protein within neurons in the Alzheimer's disease brain increases with disease severity. Br. Res. 697(1-2):35-43.

Scheuner, D., Eckman, C., Jensen, M., Song, X., et al. (1996) Secreted amyloid  $\beta$ -protein similar to that in the senile plaques of Alzheimer's disease is increased in vivo by the presenilin 1 and 2 and APP mutations linked to familial Alzheimer's disease. Nature Med. 2:864-870.

Schubert, W., Prior, R., Weidemann, A., Dircksen, H., Multhaup, G., Masters, C. L., and Beyreuther, K. (1991) Localization of Alzheimer beta A4 amyloid precursor protein at central and peripheral synaptic sites. Brain P.es. 563:184-194.

Schutte, J., Viallet, J., Nau, M., Segal, S., Fedorko, J., and Minna, J. (1989) *jun-B* inhibits and *c-fos* stimulates the transforming and trans-activating activities of *c-jun*. Cell **59**:987-997.

Sedlak, T. W., Oltvai, Z. N., Yang, E., Wang, K., Boise, L. H., Thompson, C. B., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1995) Multiple Bcl-2 family members demonstrate selective dimerizations with Bax. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92:7834-7838.

Selkoe, D.J. (1991) The molecular pathology of Alzheimer's disease. Neuron 6: 487-498.

Selkoe, D.J. (1993) Physiological production of the  $\beta$ -amyloid protein and the mechanism of Alzheimer's disease. TIBS 16: 403-408.

Seubert, P., Vigo-Pelfrey, C., Esch, F., Lee, M., Dovey, H., Davis, D. et al. (1992) Isolation and quantification of soluble Alzheimer's B-peptide from biological fluids. Nature 359: 325-327.

Sheng, H. Z., Lin, P. X. and Nelson, P. G. (1995) Combinatorial expression of immediate early genes in single neurons. Molec. Brain. Res. 30:196-202.

Sheng, M., and Greenberg, M. E. (1990) The regulation and function of c-fos and other immediate early genes in the nervous system. Neuron 4:447-485.

Sherrington, R et al. (1995) Cloning of a gene bearing missense mutations in early-onset familial Alzheimer's disease. Nature **375**:754-760.

Shoji, M., Hirai, S., Yamaguchi, H., Harigaya, Y., Kawarabayashi, T. (1990) Amyloid beta-protein precursor accumulates in dystrophic neurites of senile plaques in Alzheimer-type dementia. Brain Res. **512**:164-168.

Shoji, M., Golde, T., Ghiso, J., Cheung, T., Estus, S., Shaffer, L. et al. (1992) Production of the Alzheimer amyloid  $\beta$ -amyloid protein by normal proteolytic processing. Science **258**: 126-129.

Silos-Santiago, I., Greenlund, L. J. S., Johnson, E. M. Jr., & Snider, W. D. (1995) Molecular Genetics of Neuronal Survival. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 5: 42-49. Smale, G., Nichols, N. R., Brady, D. R., Finch, C. E., and Horton, W. E. Jr. (1995) Evidence for apoptotic cell death in Alzheimer's disease. Exptl. Neurol. 133:225-230.

Smeal, T., Binetruy, B., Mercola, d. A., Birrer, M., and Karin, M. (1991) Oncogenic and transcriptional cooperation with Ha-Ras requires phosphorylation of c-Jun on serines 63 and 73. Nature **354:**494-496.

Smeyne, R. J., Vendrell, M., Hayward, M., Baker, S.J., Miao, G.G., Schilling, K., Robertson, L.M., Curran, T., & Morgan, J. I. (1993) Continuous c-fos expression precedes programmed cell death *in vivo*. Nature **363**:166-169.

Soares, H. D., Curran, T., & Morgan, J. I. (1994) Transcription factors as molecular mediators in cell death. Ann. New York Acad. Sci. 747: 36-49.

St. George-Hyslop, P. H. et al. (1990) Genetic linkage studies suggest that Alzheimer's disease is not a homogenous disease. Nature 347:194-197.

Stellar, H. (1995) Mechanisms and genes of cellular suicide. Science 267:1445-1449.

Strittmatter, S. M., Valenzuela, D., Vartanian, T., Sudo, Y., Zuber, M. X., and Fishman, M. C. (1991) Growth cone transduction: G<sub>o</sub> and GAP-43. J. Cell Sci. Suppl. 15:27-33.

Strittmatter, WJ et al. (1993) Apolipoprotein E: high-avidity binding to B-amyloid and increased frequency of type 4 allele in late-onset familial Alzheimer's disease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90:1977-1981.

Su, J.H., Anderson, A.J., Cummings, B.J., & Cotman, C.W. (1994) Immunohistochemical evidence for apoptosis in Alzheimer's Disease. NeuroReport 5: 2529-2533.

Suzuki, , N., Cheung, T. T., Cai, X., Odaka, A., Otvos, L., Jr. Eckman, C., Golde, T.E., and Younkin, S. G. (1994) An increased percentage of long amyloid b protein secreted by familial amyloid  $\beta$  protein precursor ( $\beta$ APP717) mutants. Science **264**:1336-1340.

Takahashi, A., & Earnshaw, W.C. (1996) ICE-related proteases in apoptosis. Curr. Opin. Gen. Develop. 6:50-55.

Tanzi, R. E., McClatchey, A. I., Lampertic, E. D., Villa-Komaroff, L. T., Gusella, J. F., and Neve, R. L. (1988) Nature 331:528-530.

Terry, R. D., Hansen, L. A., DeTeresa, R. et al. (1987) Senile dementia of the Alzheimer type without neocortical neurofibrillary tangles. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 146:262-268.

Terry, R. D., Masliah, E., Salmon, D. P. et al. (1991) Physical basis of cognitive alterations in Alzheimer's disease: Synapse loss is the major correlate of cognitive impairment. Ann. Neurol. 30:572-580.

Terry, R. D. (1994) Neuropathological changes in Alzheimer's disease. Progress Brain Res. 101:383-390.

Tewari, M., Quan, L. T., O'Rouke, K., Desnoyers, S., Zeng., Z., Beidler, D. R., Poirier, C. G., Salvesen, G. S., and Dixit, V. M. (1995) Yama/CPP32β, a mammalian homolog of CED-3, is a CrmA-inhibitable protease that cleaves the death substrate poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase. Cell 81:801-809.

Thompson, C. B. (1995) Apoptosis in the pathogenesis and treatment of disease. Science 267:1456-1462.

Tomei, L. D., Cope, F. O., & Barr, P. J. (1994) Apoptosis: Aging and Phenotypic Fidelity in Apoptosis II: The Molecular Basis of Cell Death. (Cold Spring Harbour Lab., Cold Spring Harbour NY).

Tomei L. D., & Cope, F. O. (1991) Apoptosis I: The Molecular Basis of Cell Death. (Cold Spring Harbour Lab., Cold Spring Harbour NY).

Trejo, J., Massamiri, T., Deng, T., Dewji, N.N., Bayney, R.M., & Brown, J.H. (1994) A direct role for protein kinase C and the transcription factor Jun/Ap-1in the regulation of the Alzheimer's  $\beta$ - amyloid precursor protein gene. J. Biol. Chem. 34: 21682-21690.

Trojanoski, J. Q., Shin, R.-W., Schmidt, M. L., and Lee, V. M.-Y., (1995) Relationship between plaques, tangles, and dystrophic processes in Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol. Aging 16(3):335-345.

Vito, P., Lacana, E., and D'Adamio, L. (1996) Interfering with apoptosis:  $Ca^{2+}$ -binding protein ALG-2 and Alzheimer's disease gene ALG-3. Science 271:521-525.

Wang, A. M., Doyle, M.V. and Mark, D.F. (1989) Quantitation of mRNA by the polymerase chain reaction. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 86:9717-9721.

Wang, J. Z, Grundke-Iqbal, I., and Iqbal, K. (1996) Glycosylation of microtubuleassociated protein tau: abnormal posttranslational modification in Alzheimer's disease. Nature Med. 2(8):871-875.

Wang, L., Miura, M., Bergeron, L., Zhu, H., and Yuan, J. (1994) Ich-1, and ICE/ced-3 related gene encodes both positive and negative regulators of programmed cell death. Cell 78:739-750.

Wasco, W et al. (1995) Familial Alzheimer's chromosome 14 mutations. Nature Med. 1(9):848.

Watt, J.A., Pike, C.J., Walencewicz-Wasserman, A.J., and Cotman, C.W. (1994) Ultrastructure analysis of  $\beta$ -amyloid-induced apoptosis in Cultured Hippocampal Neurons. Brain Res. 661: 147-156.

White, E. (1996) Life, death, and the pursuit of apoptosis. Genes and Develop. 10:1-15.

Whitehouse, P., Price, D., Struble, R., Clarke, A., Coyle, J., and DeLong, M. (1982) Alzheimer's disease and senile dementia: loss of neurons in the basal forebrain. Science **215**:1237-1239.

Wisdom, R., and Verma, I. M. (1993) Transformation by fos proteins requires a C-terminal transactivation domain. Mol. Cell. Biol. 13:7429-7438.

Wisniewski, K., Wisniewski, H., and Wen, G. (1985) Occurrence of neuropathological changes and dementia of Alzheimer's disease in Down's syndrome. Ann. Neurol. 17: 278.

Wolozin, B., Iwasaki, K., Vito, P., Ganjei, J. K., et al. (1996) Participation of presenilin 2 in apoptosis: enchanced basal activity conferred by an Alzheimer mutation. Science 274:1710-1713.

Wyllie, A. H., Kerr, J. F. R., and Currie, A. R. (1980) Cell death: The significance of apoptosis. Int. Rev. Cytol. 68:251-311.

Yamatsuji, T., Okamoto, T., Takeda, S., Murayama, Y., Tanaka, N., and Nishimoto, I. (1996a) Expression of V642 APP mutant causes cellular phenotype apoptosis as Alzheimer trait-linked phenotype. EMBO J. 15(3):498-509.

Yamatsuji, T., Matsui, T., Okamoto, T., Komatsuzaki, K., et al. (1996b) G proteinmediated neuronal DNA fragmentation induced by familial Alzheimer's diseaseassociated mutants of APP. Science 272:1349-1352.

Yan, Q et al. (1995) In vivo neurotrophic effects of GDNF on neonatal and adult facial motor neurons. Nature 373: 341-344.

Yang, E., Zha, J., Jockel, J., Boise, L. H., and Thompson, C. B. (1995) Bad, a heterodimeric partner for  $Bcl-x_L$  Bcl-2, displaces Bax and promotes cell death. Cell 80:285-291.

Yankner, B. A., Duffy, L. K., and Kirschner, D. A. (1990) Neurotrophic and neurotoxic effects of amyloid  $\beta$ -protein: reversal by tachykinin neuropeptides. Science 250: 279-286.

Yin, X. M., Oltvai, Z. N., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1994) BH1 and BH2 domains of Bcl-2 are required for inhibition of apoptosis and heterodimerization with Bax. Nature **369**:321-323.

Yoshikai, S., Sasaki, h., Doh-ura, K., Furuya, H., and Sakaki, Y. (1990) Genomic organization of the human amyloid beta-protein precursor gene. Gene 887: 257-263.

Yuan, J., Shaham, S., Ledoux, S., Ellis, H., and Horvitz, R. H. (1993) The C. elegans cell death gene ced-3 encodes a protein similar to mammalian interleukin-1 $\beta$ -converting enzyme. Cell 75:641-652.

Zhan, S.-S., Kamphorst, W., Van Nostrand, W. E., and Eikelenboom, P. (1995) Distribution of neuronal growth-promoting factors and cytoskeletal proteins in altered neurites in Alzheimer's disease and non-demented elderly. Acta Neuropathol. **89**:356-362.

Zhang, P., Hirsch, E.C., Damier, P., Duyckaerts, C., and Javoy-Agid, F. (1992) *c-fos* protein-like immunoreactivity: Distribution in the human brain and over-expression in the hippocampus of patients with Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci. **46**: 9-21.